CHARACTERISATION OF INDIGENOUS ZULU (NGUNI) SHEEP FOR UTILISATION, IMPROVEMENT AND CONSERVATION

By

NOKUTHULA WINFRED KUNENE

Submitted in fulfilment of the academic requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Agriculture in the discipline of Animal and Poultry Science, School of Agricultural Sciences and Agribusiness, University of KwaZulu-Natal

> Pietermaritzburg March 2010

SUPERVISOR:Prof. I.V. NsahlaiDiscipline of Animal and Poultry ScienceSchool of Agricultural Sciences and AgribusinessUniversity of KwaZulu – NatalPrivate Bag X01Scottville3200

CO-SUPERVISOR: Prof. C.C. Bezuidenhout School of Environmental Science and Development North-West University (Potchefstroom Campus) Private Bag X6001 Potchefstroom 2520

CO-SUPERVISOR: Prof. A.E. Nesamvuni Limpopo Department of Agriculture Research and Training Services Branch Private Bag X9487 Polokwane 0700

ABSTRACT

The Nguni sheep of Zululand, South Africa, are called the Zulu sheep. They are a source of food and cash for the rural farmers of KwaZulu-Natal. There is insufficient information available about the characteristics of this breed and accordingly the breed is classified as "insecure". Documentation of characteristics of a breed is important for its utilisation, improvement or conservation. This study was undertaken to document (i) the utilization of the Zulu sheep, (ii) some morphological characteristics, (iii) establishing a cost effective body measurement recording means and (iv) the intra- and inter-population genetic variation of the breed using random amplified polymorphic DNA markers.

A survey was conducted to investigate the socio-economic and cultural values of the farmers attached to livestock including the Zulu sheep. A total of 76 rural farmers were interviewed in the areas of the Mhlathuze district in northern KwaZulu-Natal. Constraints and the indigenous knowledge of the farmers on livestock production were also recorded. The results confirmed that the Zulu sheep in the rural areas are indeed used as a source of protein and cash when necessary. Farmers reported that the Zulu sheep are tolerant to ticks and able to withstand the hot and humid conditions of northern KwaZulu-Natal. Goats and cattle as well as the Zulu sheep are also used for payment of dues in the tribal courts. Even so, Zulu sheep are not used for any cultural purposes. The system of management is fairly extensive. Some farmers apply indigenous knowledge as part of management practices. For instance, they use indigenous plants as nutrient supplements and for increasing the reproduction rate of these animals. Lack of modern animal husbandry skills was declared by the farmers as one of the main challenges. A perception among the farmers was that the Government could assist in addressing this challenge.

Three populations of Zulu sheep reared extensively in three localities were used for the morphometric and genetic studies. The areas were the community of KwaMthethwa (Enqutshini), University of Zululand (UNIZULU) and Makhathini Research Station. Makhathini and KwaMthethwa are 260 and 40 km, respectively, away from UNIZULU. The morphometric study was undertaken to determine the extent of phenotypic diversity between Zulu sheep populations using six morphological characteristics. Effects of some factors (location, age, sex and season) on some of these traits were estimated. Results showed that the size of the body measurements, wither height (WH), heart girth (HG), live weight (LW) and scrotal circumference (SC) were significantly different between the populations. Variation in these body measurements was influenced significantly by the location, season, the sex and the age of sheep. Mature ewes weighed up to 32 kg whereas the rams weighed up to 38 kg. The differences in LW, HG and WH between the seasons were small. The SC increased with the age of the ram up to 28 cm for mature rams. Other traits observed were the colour and the ear length of Zulu sheep. Ear size ranged from ear buds to the most common large ears (9 to 14 cm). The dominating colours observed were brown and a combination of brown and white. Live weight prediction equations were estimated employing HG, WH and SC data. The LW prediction equations showed that the regression of HG and WH produce the best estimate equations of LW; however the HG alone also showed reliable LW estimates. Scrotal circumference was more precise for estimating the LW of younger rams below 22 months of age ($R^2 = 0.64 - 0.78$).

Fifty-two Zulu sheep from the three locations were used to assess the genetic variation within the Zulu sheep breed. A total of 2744 RAPD bands were generated ranging from 0.2 to 2 kb; ~46% of these bands were polymorphic. The genetic diversity was the lowest (5.17%) within the UNIZULU population, 8.62% within the KwaMthethwa population and highest (11.04%) within the Makhathini population. The genetic diversity between all populations was estimated at 21.91 %. Phenotypic diversity was relatively similar for the UNIZULU and Makhathini populations (41.25% and 45.63%, respectively). The phenotypic diversity between the three populations was 48.26%. Genetic and phenotypic diversity was lower for Makhathini and UNIZULU populations than for the KwaMthethwa population.

It was concluded that the Zulu sheep is a smaller sized breed compared to the other South African indigenous sheep breeds like the Dorper which has been reported to have some similar characteristics to the Nguni sheep. The results confirmed that the Zulu breed has the capacity to survive without dipping and supplements during the dry season. This adaptation is of value to the communities of KwaZulu-Natal. Such characteristics warrant conserving the breed to prevent genetic erosion. The phenotypic and genetic diversity between the three populations of Zulu sheep may indicate that there is an opportunity of genetic exploitation by selecting animals based on phenotypic as well as genetic characteristics.

In order to promote the conservation and sustainable use of the Zulu sheep, it was recommended that an open nucleus breeding scheme from lower-tier flocks (of the farmers) for pure breeding to nucleus flocks (in Government ranches) could be appropriate. The scheme would also address the challenges of animal husbandry as well as contribute to the improvement of the livelihood of the farmers. Farmers could use a tape measure to estimate the LW of sheep when they cannot afford scales. The morphological characteristics and the genetic diversity data generated from this study could be combined into a single data base for this sheep breed. More extensive studies, using the same or some additional phenotypic characters such as reproductive performance, need to be done. Genetic characteristics of Zulu sheep using microsatellites and mitochondrial DNA should be done to complement the present study.

PREFACE

The research work described in this study was carried out in the areas of northern KwaZulu-Natal and in the University of Zululand under the supervision of Professors Annabel E. Fossey, Ignatius V. Nsahlai, Carlos C. Bezuidenhout and Edward E. Nesamvuni.

These studies represent original work by the author and have not been submitted in any form for any degree or diploma to any university. Where use has been made of the work of others it is duly acknowledged in the text.

DECLARATION 1- PLAGIARISM

I, Nokuthula W. Kunene declare that:

- 1. The research reported in this thesis, except where otherwise indicated, is my original research.
- 2. This thesis has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other university.
- This thesis does not contain other persons' data, picture, graphs or other information, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other persons.
- 4. This thesis does not contain other persons' writing, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other researchers. Where other written sources have been quoted:
 - a. Their words have been re-written but the general information attributed to them has been referenced
 - b. Where their exact words have been used, their writing has been placed in italics and inside quotation marks, and referenced.
- 5. This thesis does not contain text, graphics or tables copied and pasted from the internet, unless specifically acknowledged, and the source being detailed in the thesis and in the References sections.

Signed......Date.....

DECLARATION 2 – PUBLICATIONS

DETAILS OF CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS that form part of research presented in this thesis:

- Kunene, N., Fossey, A., 2006. A Survey on Livestock Production in Some Traditional Areas of Northern Kwazulu -Natal. Livestock Research for Rural Development (18) 06. <u>http://www.utafoundation.org/lrrd1808/cont1.808 .htm</u> Contributions: Kunene N., did research work, analysis and writing of the article; Prof A. Fossey involved in planning of research and revision of the article.
- Kunene, N.W., Nesamvuni, E.A., Fossey, A. 2007. Characterisation of Zulu (Nguni) sheep using linear body measurements and some environmental factors affecting these measurements. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 37 (1), 11-20.
 Contributions: Kunene N.W., involved in planning of research, carrying the research experiment, analysis and the writing of the article; Prof. A. Fossey and Prof. E.A. Nesamvuni involved in the planning of research and revision of the article.
- Kunene, N.W., Nesamvuni, A.E., Nsahlai, I.V., 2009. Determination of prediction equation for estimating body weight of Zulu (Nguni) sheep. Small ruminant Res. 84, 41-46
 Contributions: Kunene N.W., involved in data collection, analysis and writing of

article; Prof. I.V. Nsahlai advised on analysis and revision of the article; Prof. E.A. Nesamvuni involved in the planning of the research and revision of the article.

 Kunene, N.W., Bezuidenhout, C.C., Nsahlai, I.V., 2009. Genetic and phenotypic diversity in Zulu sheep populations: Implications for exploitation and conservation. Small Ruminant Res: 84, 100 -107.

Contributions: Kunene N.W. did the research experiment, analysis and writing of article. Prof. C.C. Bezuidenhout involved in planning of the research, supervision of

research experiment, assistance in writing of article. Prof. I.V. Nsahlai involved in revision of the article.

Conference proceedings are presented in Appendix A

Signed.....

Permission was granted by the auditors to use these publications in this thesis (Appendix B).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
PREFACE	vi
DECLARATI	DN 1- PLAGIARISMvii
DECLARATI	DN 2 - PUBLICATIONSviii
TABLE OF CO	DNTENTSx
LIST OF FIGU	JRESxiii
LIST OF TABLESxiv	
ABBREVIAT	ONSxvi
ACKNOWLE	DGEMENTSxvii
CHAPTER 1	1
GENERAL IN	TRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW1
1.1	General Introduction1
1.2	The structure of the thesis4
1.3	Domestic animal diversity5
1.4	Distribution of sheep including the Zulu breed in areas of South
	Africa (SA)6
1.5	General characteristics of the indigenous Zulu sheep7
1.6	Small ruminant production systems
1.7	Socio-economic and cultural values
1.8	Agricultural policy and Market10
1.9	Breeding objectives
1.10	Breeding strategies
1.11	Improvement strategy and lessons learnt from other case studies
1.12	Infrastructure and recording schemes
1.13	Monitoring and evaluating of the genetic progress
1.14	Conservation of Animal Genetic Resources (AnGR)18
1.15	Genetic characterisation of livestock 19
1.16	Summary of the literature
CHAPTER 2	

A SURVEY ON LIVESTOCK PRODUCTION IN SOME TRADITIONAL AREAS OF		
NORTHERN KWAZULU- NATAL		
2.1	Abstract	
2.2	Keywords	
2.3	Introduction	
2.4	Materials and Methods	
2.5	Results and discussion	
2.6	Conclusion	
CHAPTER 3		40
CHARACTERIS	SATION OF ZULU (NGUNI) SHEEP USING LINI	EAR BODY
MEASUREMEN	NTS AND SOME ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS AFFECT	FING THESE
MEASUREMEN	NTS	40
3.1	Abstract	40
3.2	Keywords	40
3.3	Introduction	41
3.4	Materials and Methods	
3.5	Results and Discussions	
3.6	Conclusion	53
CHAPTER 4		54
DETERMINAT	ION OF PREDICTION EQUATIONS FOR ESTIMAT	TING BODY
WEIGHT OF ZU	ULU (NGUNI) SHEEP	54
4.1	Abstract	54
4.2	Keywords	
4.3	Introduction	55
4.4	Materials and Methods	56
4.5	Results and discussion	57
4.6	Conclusion	
CHAPTER 5		
GENETIC AND PHENOTYPIC DIVERSITY IN ZULU SHEEP POPULATIONS:		
IMPLICATION	S FOR EXPLOITATION AND CONSERVATION	68
5.1	Abstract	68
5.2	Keywords	68

5.3	Introduction	69
5.4	Materials and Methods	71
5.4	.1 Blood samples and location of populations	71
5.4	.2 DNA isolation and RAPD-PCR analysis	72
5.4	.3 Statistical analysis	72
5.4	.4 Phenotypic measurements	73
5.5	Results	73
5.5	Discussion	80
CHAPTER 6		85
GENERAL DIS	CUSSION CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	85
6.1	General Discussion	84
6.2	Conclusions and Recommendations	89
REFERENCES		92
APPENDIX A		110
APPENDIX B		112

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	Income distribution for the farmers	
Figure 2.2	Proportions of source of income for traditional farmers	
Figure 2.3	Main reasons given for selling livestock	
Figure 5.1	.1 Geographical locations of the sampled sheep and goat populations in	
	areas of Kwazulu-Natal (South Africa)	
Figure 5.2	RAPD profiles generated from Zulu sheep DNA using primers OPA 10 (A)	
	and OPA 16 (B)	
Figure 5.3	RAPD fingerprints generated from Zulu sheep DNA using primers OPA 01,	
	OPA18, OPB 01 and OPB 17 76	
Figure 5.4	Dendrograms showing relationship of Zulu sheep populations77	
Figure 5.5	Dendrogram showing clusters based on linear body measurements of Zulu	
	sheep in the three populations	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	The background of the farmers at Enseleni district	
Table 2.2	Livestock types owned by the farmers at Enseleni in rural KwaZulu-Natal	
Table 2.3	Proportions of livestock types and combinations owned by farmers at Enselen	
Table 2.4	Some functions of livestock in traditional farming	
Table 2.5	Some traditional supplements and veterinary use of plants reported by	
	farmers	
Table 2.6	Herd health control practised by the farmers	
Table 2.7	Breeds owned and those preferred by the farmers	
Table 2.8	Selection strategies practiced by farmers	
Table 2.9	Farmers' observations on some season of birth effects	
Table 2.10	Relationships between traits of livestock identified by farmers37	
Table 2.11	Constraints on livestock production experienced by of farmers and proposed	
	solutions	
Table 3.1	Geographical location and conditions at the sites of data collection43	
Table 3.2	Analysis of variance for live weight, heart girth and wither height of Zulu	
	sheep45	
Table 3.3	Least-square means and standard errors for live weight, heart girth and wither	
	height of Zulu sheep47	
Table 3.4	Least-square means and standard errors showing effect of area-sex and area-age	
	interactions on live weight, heart girth and wither height of Zulu	
	sheep	
Table 3.5	Least-square means and standard errors showing effect of sex-age and age-	
	horn interactions on live weight, heart girth and wither height of Zulu	
	sheep49	
Table 3.6	Analysis of variance for scrotum circumference of Zulu sheep50	
Table 3.7	Least-square means and standard errors for scrotum circumference of Zulu	
	sheep51	

Table 4.1	Analysis of variance for LW of Nguni sheep for various age groups	
Table 4.2	Phenotypic correlations between live weight, heart girth, wither height and	
	scrotal circumference of Zulu (Nguni) sheep in different age groups 60	
Table 4.3	Regression equations for predicting live weight of Zulu sheep with milk set o	
	teeth using heart girth and wither height	
Table 4.4	Regression equations for predicting live weight of Zulu sheep with one pair o	
	incisors based on heart girth, wither height	
Table 4.5	Regression equations predicting live weight of Zulu sheep with two pairs of	
	incisors based on heart girth, wither height	
Table 4.6	Regression equations predicting live weight of Zulu sheep with three and four	
	pairs of incisors based on heart girth, wither height	
Table 4.7	Regression equations predicting live weight of Zulu rams based on scrotum	
	circumference	
Table 4.8	Observed and Estimated LW for Zulu sheep	
Table 5.1	List of RAPD primers used in determining genetic similarity within and among	
	three Zulu sheep populations	

ABBREVIATIONS

AD	Anno Domini
AFLP	Amplified fragment length polymorphism
ANGR	Animal genetic resources
BC	Before Christ
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
GLM	General linear Model
HG	Heart girth
ILRI	International Livestock research institute
ILRI	International Livestock Research Institute
LBM	Linear body measurements
LW	Live weight
MRS	Makhathini Research Station
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA
NDA	National Department of Agriculture
NRF	National research Foundation
OSCA	Owen Sithole College of Agriculture
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PNSO	Programme National de Sélection Ovine
RAPD	Random Amplification of Polymorphic DNA
RFLP	Restriction fragment length polymorphism
SC	Scrotal circumference
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
UNIZULU	University of Zululand
UPGMA	Unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean
VIF	Variance inflation factor
WH	Wither height

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to extend my sincerest appreciation to the following people for their contribution to this thesis:

Prof. Annabel E. Fossey for her initial contribution to the structure of this thesis.

Prof. Carlos C. Bezuidenhout for teaching, supervision, guidance and constructive criticism in the preparation of the genetic data of this thesis as well as technical aspects of the thesis.

Prof. Edward E. Nesamvuni for supervision and guidance in preparation of the morphology part of this thesis.

Prof I.V. Nsahlai for assistance in analysis, comments and guidance for the whole thesis.

Dr. John Boughey for editing this document

I wish to acknowledge the University of Zululand, Makhathini Research Station and the KwaMthethwa community at Enqutshini and the North-West University for allowing us to use the sheep and the equipment for this work.

Special thanks to NRF and University of Zululand for sponsoring this research.

Finally I wish to extend my gratitude to my siblings, Ramona, Princess and Busizwe and to my late parents, Mr P.F. Kunene and Mrs A.D. Kunene, for their encouragement.

CHAPTER 1

GENERAL INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 General Introduction

Sheep are hollow-horned, even-toed ruminants. Domesticated sheep belong to the species Ovis aries (Hiendleder et al., 1998). This species is classified under the family Bovidae and subfamily Caprinae (Reybold and Herren, 1994). The origin of the modern sheep remains uncertain (Hiendleder et al., 1998). Several Eurasian wild sheep of the highly polymorphic Ovis have been proposed as the ancestors of domestic sheep (Reed, 1960; Zeuner, 1963). Three major groups of Eurasian wild sheep, mouflon (O. musimon or O. orientalis), urial (O. vignei) and argali (O. ammon), have been proposed as ancestors of domestic sheep (Ryder, 1984). Using the archeological evidence the O. orientalis was suggested by Reed (1960) to be the ancestor of the domestic sheep. Zeuner (1963) suggested that the O. vignei was the first domesticated sheep in the Aralo-Caspian basin and that the domestic forms subsequently spread throughout the Middle East and into Europe. According to Zeuner (1963), the domestic sheep of south east Asia was derived from urial (O. vignei), but argali (O. ammon) alleles are supposed to have been introduced repeatedly into these lines. Another species of wild sheep that is believed to have been involved in the origin of domestic sheep is the bighorn sheep (O. canadensis) (Ryder, 1984). However, mitochondrial data by Hiendleder et al. (1998; 2002) revealed that there was no contribution of the urial and argali species to domestic sheep. The authors concluded that the mouflon (O. musimon or O. orientalis) contributed to the genetic pool of domestic sheep (O. aries) and their data suggested an additional wild ovine ancestor different from the proposed argali and the urial sheep.

According to the International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI) (2007), the ancestral wild stock of both the thin-tailed and fat-tailed sheep is identical. From an Asian origin, sheep spread westwards to beyond the Mediterranean, including Europe and Africa (Devendra and Mcleroy, 1982). The process of domestication resulted in some morphological and physiological modifications in sheep. For

instance, wool replaced the hair coat in colder climates, the tail was lengthened and in some cases became a place of excess fat storage (Devendra and Mcleroy, 1982). Fat-tailed sheep were first realized in Egypt at the beginning of the second millennium. The assumption is that they entered Africa (Egypt) on various occasions through both Suez and Babel Mandeb. It is believed that from Egypt the population spread westwards into Lybia, Tunisia and eastern Algeria (ILRI, 2007). The group that entered through Babel Mandeb extended from Ethiopia into the Great Lake region of Uganda, Kenya and Tanzania but did not enter into Congo (Ryder, 1984). Archeologists have reported that a further southward migration from here may have arrived in South Africa (SA) as early as 400 BC (Bester, 2009). However, by 200 AD, the Khoi-Khoi pasturalists arrived at the northern borders with early sheep breeds. A second wave of migrators between the third and second centuries brought early Iron Age communities into the eastern parts of the country (Bester, 2009). One group of the Iron Age people came down the east coast to Natal and dispersed further south. This dispersal was limited by growing conditions of crops. These people brought sheep and cattle with them. These sheep are suspected to be the ancestors of the Nguni breeds (Ramsay et al., 2000). The Nguni sheep of Zululand are called Zulu sheep and the Nguni sheep of Swaziland, Swazi sheep.

Philipsson (2000) suggested that in order to increase food production in developing countries, diversity within and between indigenous breeds should be efficiently exploited. The most productive and adapted animals for each environment must be selected for breeding purposes. Philipsson (2000) concluded that only then will it be possible to increase food production without further expansion of animal numbers and subsequent land degradation. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) (2000) and Hall (2004), for many decades indigenous genetic resources have been perceived as unproductive and inherently inferior to high performance or improved breeds. As a consequence these were subjected to cross-breeding or even replacement with exotic breeds. The number of indigenous breeds has thus declined rapidly during the twentieth century. About one third of the more than 7000 livestock breeds (including poultry) registered in the FAO global database are regarded as threatened by extinction. Of the 1409 sheep breeds registered, 180 are extinct, 98 are endangered and 40 are critically endangered

(FAO, 2007). It has been reported by Kruger (2009) that Namaqua Afrikaners is already an endangered sheep breed in South Africa. The impact of these losses on the global or local diversity is not documented (Hanotte and Jianlin, 2005). There is therefore a need to document livestock genetic and phenotypic resources and to design and implement strategies for their sustainable conservation.

Livestock populations have evolved unique adaptation to agricultural production systems and agro-ecological environments. The genetic diversity represents a unique resource to respond to the present and future needs of livestock production both in developed and developing countries (Hanotte and Jianlin, 2005). Maintaining diversity in breeds and especially breeds of small population sizes requires understanding of both phenotypic and genetic relationships among animals within a breed.

According to Köhler-Rollefson (2000), traditional farmers in developing countries manage their livestock according to their indigenous knowledge. They take their local ecological constraints into account. The maintenance of the remaining livestock diversity in communal farming would require activities that can be carried out within the framework of technical cooperation. These would include support for research on indigenous knowledge and capacity building at grassroots level and at national level. Le Viet Ly (1994) suggested that the goal for conservation of biodiversity should focus on the diversity between and within indigenous populations of farm animals. The phenotypic and genetic characterisation of local breeds is a prerequisite for the establishment of a breed improvement programme. The aim of the improvement schemes is to increase production, product quality, cost efficiency, maintain genetic diversity and support the conservation and use of specific breeds. According to Philipsson et al. (2006), the general framework for the development of a breeding programme include: implication of agricultural policies, socio-economic and cultural values, characterizing populations, infrastructure, farmer involvement and genetic analysis. Some of these aspects will be discussed in this literature review.

There is a wide range of database information about the production characteristics of various South African sheep. Production characteristics of several sheep breeds such as Karakul, Merino, Black head Persian, Dormer, Dorper and Damara have been described by Bactawa (2003) and Schoeman (2007). There is, however, no mention of the Nguni breed in that database. Although certain characteristics of the Zulu breed have been mentioned by Ramsay *et al.* (2000) and Kruger (2001), the information is scanty and there is no evidence of studies done to quantify these characteristics. Genetic and phenotypic parameters of the Dorper have been documented by Inyangala *et al.* (1990). The molecular genetic work on Zulu sheep documented to date is that of Buduram (2004) where the author was concerned with the genetic relationships between 20 selected breeds of South Africa.

The objectives of the present study were:

(i) to obtain information on socio- economic and cultural values by the farmers using the breed;

(ii) to characterise and estimate variation within the Zulu sheep breed using six morphological characteristics;

(iii) to estimate the live weight prediction equations of the Zulu sheep breed using some linear body measurements and

(iv) to assess the genetic variation within this breed.

The aim was to characterise this indigenous sheep breed for utilization, improvement and conservation.

1.2 The structure of the thesis

Chapter One of this thesis presents the general introduction and a literature review which include the requirements for a successful improvement programme for communal farmers in the subtropics. This chapter highlights the importance of characterisation and the tools required for a successful communal improvement programme. Chapter Two is a report on a field survey undertaken to determine the livestock production system and the socio-economic and cultural values of communal farmers who keep the Nguni (Zulu) sheep. Constraints and the indigenous knowledge of the farmers which have an impact on the livestock farming are also reported. This work was published in the Livestock Research for Rural Development Journal. Chapter Three is a report on the characteristics (live weight, wither height, heart girth, scrotum circumference, colour and ear length) of Zulu sheep that were quantified during this research as a means of characterising the breed. The effects of some environmental factors on the above features are also reported. A paper on this chapter was published in the South African Journal for Animal Science. Chapter Four presents the regression formulas that were obtained for the weight of Zulu sheep using linear body measurements. The importance of this chapter is that farmers might estimate the weight of their sheep using a tape measure when they cannot afford scales as is the case in most rural community farming. Results were published in the journal, Small Ruminant Research. Chapter Five presents an article that was also published in the latter journal. It deals with the genetic diversity between three Zulu sheep populations using random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD). The aim was to evaluate RAPDs for estimating the genetic variability within and between these three Zulu sheep populations. Chapter Six presents the discussion, conclusion and recommendations which emanated from this research.

1.3 Domestic animal diversity

Köhler-Rollefson (2001) mentioned the origin of domestic animal diversity as coming from the introduction of domestic species into new habitats. The author indicated that by taking animals into new environments and ecological niches, humans subjected animals to selection for adaptability to new sets of ecological factors and created new ecotypes. In addition, subjection of animals to different socio-cultural breeding regimes and economic utilization patterns as well as artificial selection depending on cultural preferences and needs has also led to manipulation of the genes of these animals (Rege, 2001).

Domestic animal diversity is a neglected aspect of biodiversity (Köhler-Rollefson, 2001). Some of the factors that have led to breed homogenization in the developing countries arose from Governments and extension personnel promoting the adoption of high performance breeds for intensive production systems (Cardellino, 2003). Such breeds are rated from the perspective of their performance and their productivity with regard to a particular product (often meat and milk) in the prevailing animal production paradigm. There is, therefore, little appreciation of the adaptability traits of indigenous breeds (Köhler-Rollefson, 2001). Breeds selected in more developed countries will tend to replace those in less developed countries. Other factors such as changes in tastes and demands have been reported to have

contributed to diversity loss. For instance, preference of leaner meat is resulting in the demise of pig breeds that have fatter meat (Tisdell, 2003).

Locally adapted or indigenous breeds are usually owned by rural farmers and although they may not yield as much in production as the exotic breeds they represent the lifeline of rural farmers. Such breeds produce a wider range of products, thrive on low forage and require lower levels of health care. Their management is ecologically more sustainable, especially in marginal environments (Kohler-Röllefson, 2000). Mwacharo and Drucker (2005) reported that because of their adaptation characteristics, the indigenous breeds have been shown to outperform crossbreeds under harsh climatic, nutritional and management conditions typically associated with resource-poor livestock farmers. According to the World Watch list for domestic animal diversity prepared by the FAO (2000), breeds that utilize low-value feeds or survive harsh environments or have tolerance to or resistance against specific diseases, could be beneficial in future. This is because they are often genetically adapted to their environment. Their unique characteristics could be a source of genes needed for improving the health and performance of the commercial breeds (FAO, 2000). Many indigenous communities have been forced to abandon their traditional patterns of livestock production because of lack of resources resulting from the encroachment of agriculture, wildlife reserves, or population pressure (Adebambo, 1994). Abandoning of traditional rituals, customs and livelihoods inevitability also results in the loss of distinct breeds. For example, a Muturu cattle breed of Nigeria that was once distributed across Africa's Sahelian zone has survived total replacement by Zebu cattle because these animals are sacred and their milk is used for medicinal purposes (Rege et al., 1994). Furthermore, since local communities utilize local breeds for survival, the disappearance or reduction of locally adapted breeds forces individuals from rural communities to migrate to already overcrowded urban areas (Cardellino, 2003).

1.4 Distribution of sheep including the Zulu breed in areas of South Africa

According to the National Industry Strategy and Implementation Framework for South Africa prepared by the National Department of Agriculture (NDA) (2004), out of the 80% of agricultural land in South Africa suitable for extensive livestock farming, 50% is occupied by sheep and goat farming. Although sheep are found in all the provinces, the largest numbers are found in the Eastern Cape (29%), Northern Cape (28%) and Free State (20%) (NDA, 2003). KwaZulu-Natal is one of the provinces with low numbers (3%). In 2003, the total number of sheep in South Africa was estimated at 29 million whereas in 2002 they were estimated at 29.03 million (NDA, 2004). This figure was even lower (25.1 million) by 2006 (Free State, Department of Transport, 2007). The number of sheep in KwaZulu-Natal was estimated at 863 000 in 2003, 776 123 in 2004 and 775 000 in 2005 (KwaZulu-Natal, Department of Transport, 2006). Records indicate that these numbers had been declining from 970 000 at the end of August 1999 to 775000 by the end of November, 2005 (NDA, 2004; KwaZulu-Natal, Department of Transport, 2006). The rural areas contribute 12.1 % to the total number of sheep in the country (NDA, 2004; KwaZulu-Natal, Department of Transport, 2006). Zulu sheep are found in the communal areas of KwaZulu-Natal, such as Jozini, Matubatuba, Msinga, Nkandla. However, the numbers are not currently known. Research flocks were established at the Makhathini Research Station below the Pongolo river dam and at the University of Zululand (UNIZULU) (Ramsay et al., 2000). These flocks were established in 1989 and 1995 at Makhathini and University of Zululand, respectively. Sheep were bought from the local farmers around Jozini and Matubatuba to establish the research flocks. The farmers were interviewed extensively on the history of their sheep before the animals were bought. These flocks have never been bred with other sheep breeds (Mr. Du Toit, former farm manager, UNIZULU, and one of the organizers for the establishment of the flock at Makhathini Research Station, personal communication, 2003). These flocks were used for this study.

1.5 General characteristics of the indigenous Zulu sheep

The Zulu sheep breed is one of the indigenous breeds of South Africa (Ramsay *et al.*, 2000; Buduram, 2004). It is characterised by either thin or fat tails, is multicoloured and has a coat of either wool or hair (Kruger, 2001). There is variation of ear length, from ear buds and short prick ears to long pendulous ears. The breed has the genes necessary for the animals' adaptation to different and sometimes

challenging conditions. This may imply that the breed can survive and flourish where other sheep breeds perish (Kruger, 2001).

Ramsay *et al.* (2000) reported that Zulu sheep are tolerant to tick-born diseases, internal parasites and have good walking and foraging ability. Such characteristics make them suitable for providing sustainable benefits to livelihood for rural farmers in Southern Africa. However, research is necessary to quantify characteristics such as the live weights of the Zulu sheep within different age groups and how they are affected by some environmental factors. Chapter Three of this thesis presents findings on some of the characteristics of Zulu sheep using live weight and some body linear measurements. The utilization of the Nguni sheep by the farmers who keep them is presented in Chapter Two.

1.6 Small ruminant production systems

The climate and other aspects of the environment have been the main factors contributing to the various livestock production systems that are found today. There are two major types of sheep production systems. These are:

- (i) modern types in the commercial sector and
- (ii) traditional systems in the communal sector.

A modern system involves ranching and finishing whereas the traditional type includes smallholder and migratory systems (Devendra and Mcleroy, 1982). Indigenous Zulu sheep are mainly kept under a traditional type of production system. The most common type of communal indigenous small stock production is that of the smallholder, where there is low-input (subsistence). Animals graze communally in a free range system and are brought back to the homestead in the evenings. In such areas, during the dry season, the forage value of the vegetation decreases. Digestibility, protein content, mineral content and the energy content become low (Devendra and Mcleroy, 1982). The animals graze on crop residues in winter. Farmers base their indigenous knowledge on the type of supplements, whether in the form of shrubs or tree leaves, to give to their livestock. Another common form of a small scale system is that of intensive "cut and carry" feeding of tethered or confined

animals, found in densely populated areas, where most of the available land is dedicated to cultivation (Smith, 2004)

According to the training manual from ILRI (1995), pastoralism and agropastoralism are the two main production systems found in small-scale farming in Africa. In pastoralism, the numbers of livestock vary in size, poor families can have few sheep and goats only and wealthier families can own several hundreds of cattle and other livestock (ILRI, 1995). Pastoralists depend on the sale of livestock and livestock products to buy necessities. The size of herd/flock determines the share of feed resources obtained in the pastures grazed communally under the open access of common property tenure system. This system may be characterised by nomadism and transhumance as survival strategies. Agro-pastoralism is practiced by pastoral families or their descendants who have also taken up cropping to varying degrees (ILRI, 1995; Negi, 1998). Normally, animals of all ages and sex are left to run together at all times and mating is random within the flock.

Chapter Two of this thesis presents the type of livestock production systems used by farmers who keep Zulu sheep, their indigenous knowledge and potential impacts of these on the livestock production management practices. In this chapter, the contribution of livestock to the economy of the farmers in some areas of northern KwaZulu-Natal is also presented. It has been recommended by several authors (Kosgey *et al.*, 2006; Philipsson, *et al.*, 2006; Tibbo *et al.*, 2006) that when designing a breeding programme in communal areas, incorporation of the type of production system is necessary for success.

1.7 Socio-economic and cultural values

Socio-economic and cultural values largely determine the driving forces in society and thus development trends, policies, strategies, plans and interventions in the livestock sector. An initial step in designing a sustainable community-based breeding programme in developing countries in the tropics is to understand the socio-economic factors that influence small ruminants (Kosgey, 2004). Among the reasons for the failure of breeding programmes designed by development agencies, is not understanding the needs and aspirations of the farmers (Verbeek *et al.*, 2007). When farmers are not sufficiently involved in the design and implementation of a breeding

programme and its breeding objectives are not in line with those of the farmers, the breeding programme will often not be successful (Kosgey *et al.*, 2006).

Keeping of livestock by rural communities, in many cases, provides food, economic opportunities and security. Livestock is a form of security because the capital invested in the herd forms a guarantee for meeting future unexpected financial needs. Sheep and goat manure are habitually applied to the soil and serve a vital input function to subsistence vegetable farmers. Social and cultural values attached to livestock and livestock products vary from society to society. Owning livestock can give social status and can be used in settling local disputes which require the payment of fines (Ayalew *et al.*, 2001). The socio-economic and cultural values of keeping livestock, including the Zulu sheep, by the farmers in some communities of KwaZulu-Natal are reported in Chapter Two of this document.

1.8 Agricultural policy and Market

Livestock breeding programmes should form an important part of national agricultural policies, aiming at improving the food and income of a country, region or locality (Philipsson *et al.*, 2006). Animal breeding programmes should be seen in the context of long-term development programmes. Such programmes contribute to both more food and other livestock commodities produced as well as improve resource utilization and livelihood of the livestock owners (Philipsson *et al.*, 2006).

In the Draft Animal Improvement Policy for South Africa prepared by the NDA (2003), it was stated that since the veld and pastures depend on the country's soil and water resources, optimal and sustainable use of these natural resources will largely determine South Africa's capacity for sustainable food security. In the Draft, the use of adapted and genetically sound animals was encouraged as a key component of animal improvement.

The South African Animal Improvement Act (Act No. 62 of 1998) as cited in the Draft Animal Improvement Policy for South Africa (NDA, 2003), also takes into account provision for the protection of South Africa's indigenous and locally adapted breeds. Included is the provision for the establishment of schemes to contribute to the national database to support accurate statistics, animal identification, animal recording and evaluation. Among the proposed considerations to be included in the South African policy on animal improvement (NDA, 2003) is indigenous knowledge systems. In the same draft policy, it is proposed that a national animal recording and improvement scheme for emergent farmers should be started. The scheme has to be based on sound animal husbandry principles and should concentrate on effective identification of animals and the recording of basic information on births, birth weights, weaning and post weaning weights (NDA, 2003). Superior animals within indigenous livestock should be identified from the data. Breeding and improvement schemes could then be established to benefit both large and small scale farmers. Also stated in the draft is that the establishment of animal schemes in rural communities could serve as a platform for economic and community development. Therefore, introduction of a Nguni sheep improvement scheme for rural farmers would not only contribute to the protection of one of South Africa's indigenous breeds but also to the livelihood of rural farmers.

It was specified by NDA (2004) in the National Livestock Strategy and Implementation Framework for South Africa that the NDA should be responsible for financing the Livestock Improvement Schemes that provide the pivot for optimal utilization. In addition, the NDA must conserve gene pools vital to adaptability and production. The NDA should also put preventative measures in place to limit the export of comparatively advantageous genetic material. Boer goat, Nguni cattle, Bonsmara and ostriches were examples listed but not Nguni sheep. It is thus important that Nguni sheep be characterised before decisions about exports or hybridization are made.

According to Philipsson *et al.* (2006), a breeding programme must be marketorientated to be sustainable. This is true for both small-scale farmers or large-scale farming systems to be sustainable. However, the change from small to medium-scale commercial animal production provides opportunities for farmers to move from subsistence production to market-oriented production. Characterising the farming scenario of the farmers keeping Zulu sheep would provide evidence of the current situation regarding this sheep breed.

1.9 Breeding objectives

At macro-level, the agricultural development policy, market and production system direct the ultimate breeding goals of a breed. At this level the resources available in a country or region should be taken into consideration. However, at micro-level, the definition of breeding objectives implies that for a given production situation, the relative importance of improvement of different traits of the breed must be determined (Philipsson *et al.*, 2006). In a subsistence production system, livestock contribute to a variety of benefits; therefore breeding objectives need to take into account diversity of traits. Breeding goals must be set at national, regional or at local level to truly reflect the needs of the area (Kosgey *et al.*, 2006). Long-term goals, expressed at national or organizational level, and the interest of the farmers could be solved by regulations or incentives for participating in a co-operative breeding programme (Philipsson *et al.*, 2006). Consideration of the short term benefits for farmers is important when selecting a method for weighting traits. This will have an impact on the participation of farmers (Philipsson *et al.*, 2006).

Tibbo et al. (2006) recommended that traits used for within breedimprovement must have a high heritability and be of a desirable economic value. Thompson and Freeman (1983) found that the heritability values of traits of linear body measurements are higher than subjectively scored traits. Janssens and Vandepitte (2004) reported heritability value ranges of 0.49 - 0.54, 0.40 - 0.57 and 0.40 - 0.45 for live weight, wither height and heart girth respectively for three different sheep breeds. Gizaw et al. (2008) reported the heritability estimates of 0.46, 0.36 and 0.31 for the live weight, wither height and heart girth respectively for the Menzi sheep in Ethiopia. Heritability values from 0.2 to 0.5 and above 0.5 depict a medium and high strength, respectively, of inheritance of a character (Microbiology procedure, undated). Pozono (1992) and Philipsson et al. (2006) recommended selection for growth, survival and reproduction rate. Net reproduction rate per ewe can be increased by improving some or all of its components. Selection for total weight of lamb weaned would also keep reproductive rate within optimum bounds (Olivier, 2002). The most important point raised by Köhler-Rollefson (2000), Mhlanga (2002) and Kosgey (2004) is the participation of the farmers in setting the

breeding objectives. This is important because breeding goals in the communities do not consist of high productivity alone. Other goals that may be considered include aesthetic preferences, the ability of livestock to survive adverse conditions. In this thesis the variation in weight, heart-girth, wither height were studied in three Zulu sheep populations at different age groups in three geographically separated areas. These results are reported in Chapter 3.

1.10 Breeding strategies

When deciding on a breeding strategy it may be necessary to take into account the level of performance and the potential of genetic improvement through selection within the indigenous breed. Similarly, the long term costs and benefits of crossbreeding compared to within-breed selection aimed at improving the same set of traits may need to be considered (Philipsson *et al.*, 2006)

In the tropics, breed substitution of exotic animals for indigenous breeds or crossbreeding with breeds from temperate regions have been widely used. Many of these have invariably been unsuccessful or unsustainable in the long-term (Hall, 2004). This has been due to incompatibility of the genotypes with the breeding objectives and the management approaches of the prevailing low-input traditional production systems in these areas (Rewe *et al.*, 2002; Ayelew *et al.*, 2003). According to Kosgey (2004), crossing of indigenous with exotic germplasm may have led to improvement of some production traits but could have been at the expense of fitness traits.

According to Bosso *et al.* (2007), within-breed selection of adapted indigenous breeds is a viable alternative. There is little information available on the results of within-breed selection programmes utilizing indigenous breeds in the tropics. However, within breed selection is a strategy for genetic improvement usually carried out in individual populations. Selection within breeds or strains is intended to increase the average level of genetic merit of the population. Within-breed selection usually involves measuring and selecting on productivity parameters, such as litter size, growth rate of young and mature size. It includes:

(i) defining the overall development objectives,

(ii) characterizing the production system,

- (iii) identifying the breed to be improved by selection,
- (iv) identifying a list of breeding goal traits and
- (v) deriving the goal values for each of the breeding goal traits.

The goal traits must be easily measurable, or have a high genetic correlation with a measurable trait if they are not easily measurable (Tibbo *et al.*, 2006). Difficulty in measuring and evaluation of the intangible benefits such as savings, insurance, ceremonial and prestige derived from the animals also presents more complications (Roeleveld, 1996). Strategies for genetic improvement that overcome such problems need to be considered.

1.11 Improvement strategy and lessons learnt from other case studies

Due to variation in performance among indigenous breeds and their unique characteristics, the strategy for improvement should be different for different indigenous sheep breeds (Tibbo *et al.*, 2006). According to Kosgey *et al.* (2006), small ruminant breeding programmes found in the tropics differ in design. Some are three-tiered with a nucleus, prenucleus (multiplier) and a base population. Others are two-tiered involving only a central performance evaluation station and farmer flocks. Some do not operate a nucleus at all. A breeding programme should be designed according to the ecological region and the production system at which it is aimed (Van der Waaij, 2001).

Breeding programmes recommended by Tibbo *et al.* (2006) and Mueller (2006) for traditional farming systems are those based on open-based nucleus flocks utilizing government ranches at the top of a three-tier system of flocks. Such a scheme is recommended for the tropics because of the limited scope for recording. It also stimulates discussion on breeding objectives and selection procedures involving all stakeholders. Views, goals and knowledge of the livestock owner should determine the level and intensity of a breeding scheme programme.

It was reported by Yapi-Gnaoré *et al.* (2001) that in West Africa an opennucleus scheme worked for a communal improvement programme. In this case the breeding strategy is based on the individual performance of the indigenous Djallonké rams in West Africa. The structure was composed of one central performance evaluation station for rams (the nucleus) and the flocks of only the breeding ewes (the base population). The selection scheme included three phases: an on-farm preselection phase, an on-station first selection phase, and an on-station final selection phase followed by distribution of selected rams to farmers for mating. Selection criteria were based on the 180 day and 365 day weights. Yapi-Gnaore et al. (2001) reported that benefits to the farmers from the scheme included using the selected rams from the nucleus for mating. Ram lambs were sold by farmers to the nucleus for evaluation and the price offered for the ram lambs constituted reasonable revenue for the farmers. Farmers were responsible for keeping records, building shelters and enclosures and castrating unwanted rams. Genetic analysis of the programme indicated that the genetic values of the animals had been maintained or slightly increased during the process of selection. Limitations included a decline in the number of farms and breeding ewes caused by the change in the organization and coordination of the Programme National de Sélection Ovine (PNSO) programme. Flock sizes changed when farmers were required to deposit the recording sheets with the extension offices and were required to pay for the use of rams. It was concluded that farmers were less motivated when they were required to be involved financially. Financial involvement of the government at the beginning of the programme encouraged the farmers to believe that they should always be assisted. However, Iniguez (1998) argued that the cause of collapse of funded breeding programmes after subsidy collapses is most likely caused by inadequate involvement of the community at the beginning of the programme.

Tibbo *et al.* (2006) presented a plan for the indigenous Horro sheep opennucleus breeding scheme in Ethiopia. In this case, the three-tier system consisted of nucleus, sub-nucleus and village flocks. The plan was to have 10 nucleus flocks each with 4000 breeding ewes and 160 fertile breeding rams. The nucleus flocks were established within the governmental ranches. In each year, about 4 % of the best rams would be selected at nucleus flock level. From the remaining rams in the nucleus, 30% would be selected for the sub-nucleus flock. The sub-nucleus flocks would be those owned by the participating owners. Sheep owners in this tier would be selected based on ease of access to a farm, availability of enough grazing and water, size of flock, and ability to follow prophylactic programmes, supplement their flocks and castrate unselected rams. About 11% of the best rams would be selected from the sub-nucleus to the village flocks. The village flocks were owned by people who were rarely accessed for monitoring and detailed evaluations (Tibbo *et al.*, 2006).

Yapi-Gnaorè (2001) advised that the extension officers have to be very closely involved in all aspects of a breeding programme. Another condition was that financial support should be available from the beginning. Additionally a veterinary health service should be available. Nutrition could be supported by the availability of agro-industrial crops to produce by-products required for feed. Yapi-Gnoarè (2000) recommended that when involving farmers, the breeding programme should be backed up with an effective extension service for maximum effect. The selection programme should be preceded by several years of extension work to boost the experience and skills of the farmers. It was noted by Kosgey et al. (2006) that in developing countries in the tropics the genetic improvement programme is affected by the extent to which breeding schemes involving farmers at the village are organized. Recording the activity and monitoring the progress of such flocks are additional factors. The constraints of implementing an improvement programme would depend on careful monitoring of measurements and possible conflict among participating and non- participating farmers. Moioli et al. (2002) suggested that the farmers should be made aware of benefits derived from the recording activity.

According to several authors (Turner, 1977; Kiwuwa, 1990; Jaitner *et al.*, 2001; Wollny *et al.*, 2002), the effective small ruminant breeding methods in smallholder production systems in the tropics are constrained by small animal populations. Further constraints are: lack of systematic animal identification, inadequate animal performance, data collection, inadequate pedigree recording, low levels of literacy and organizational shortcomings. These are thus issues to address in Zulu sheep research for the purposes of the establishment of effective improvement and breeding methods.

1.12 Infrastructure and recording schemes

Night enclosures, shelters, collecting yards, sorting pens and footbaths are some of the necessary structures required for an improved breeding programme (Philipsson et al., 2006). For a communal improvement programme, farmers can be taught to build such structures also taking into account their indigenous knowledge. They need to castrate unwanted rams, identify lambs at birth and record the required information for the programme (Mhlanga, 2002; Philipsson et al., 2006). Other necessary requirements are communication, transport and computation facilities. Management structures at local level should include women who are normally marginalized even though they may have a wealth of knowledge and experience in the management of animal genetic resources (Mhlanga, 2002; Sobha, 2007). The youth should be included as well so they can gain skills and employment (Mhlanga, 2002). The type of recording scheme to be implemented is determined by the available infrastructure, including physical and human resources (Philipsson et al., 2006). A weighing scale is the main tool required for recording the various weights of the animals. They are expensive and cannot be affordable to the traditional farmers (Slippers et al., 2000). Linear measurements of livestock can be used to estimate the live weights and tables are constructed for use by the farmers. In Chapter Four the live weight prediction equations computed from the heart girth, wither height and scrotum circumferences of Zulu sheep are presented.

1.13 Monitoring and evaluating of the genetic progress

A regular analysis of the outcome of a programme is necessary to demonstrate the genetic improvements obtained in all important traits and also the effect of total output of products per unit of measurement. Research should be done at certain intervals if regular monitoring of the programme can not be conducted (FAO, 1981; Philipsson *et al.*, 2006). However, data to be collected should be agreed upon by the farmers and the experts assisting the farmers before the programme begins. The monitoring should be done by both the experts and the farmers (Mhlanga, 2002). A recommendation by Mhlanga (2002) was that a group consisting of farmers, livestock personnel, researchers, government officials and development agencies could be established. They would carry out statistical comparisons, weigh the realized economic benefits and assess the genetic status of the improvement programme. It would be fitting for the South African government, some institutions and the communities to work together for the monitoring of the genetic progress in the improvement programme of Zulu sheep.

1.14 Conservation of Animal Genetic Resources (AnGR)

According to Windig *et al.* (2007) the conservation of farm animal resources involves the protection of the rare breeds. However, conservation in the developing countries can be defined as the rational use of existing local genotypes and protection of these (Rege and Liper, 1992). The main objective of farm AnGR conservation is to conserve breeds, including management for better utilization (breeding programmes) and conserving those at risk with the aim of minimizing the loss of diversity among breeds (Barker, 2001). It has become necessary to document the diversity of livestock genetic resources and to design strategies for their sustainable conservation. Mwacharo and Drucker (2005) suggested that the success of any conservation or improvement programme depends upon the actions of livestock keepers who own, utilize and adopt breeds and adapt them to their needs.

Two methods are used for conserving farm animal genetic resources (AnGR), namely *ex situ* and *in situ*. The *ex situ* method involves conservation of animals in a situation removed from their habitat. It is the storage of genetic resources not yet required by the farmer and it includes cryogenic preservation. The *in situ* method is the conservation of live animals within their production system, in the area where the breed developed its characteristics. It can also be referred to as "on-farm conservation." Such conservation consists of entire agro-ecosystems including immediately useful species of crops, forages, agroforestry species, and other animal species that form part of the system (Rege, 2001). Under the *in situ* conditions, breeds continue to develop and adapt to changing environmental pressures, enabling research to determine their genetic uniqueness.

According to the World Watch List for Domestic Animal Diversity prepared by the FAO (2000), the requirements for effective management for conservation needs at the country level for each species include identifying and listing the breeds. Furthermore, their description and characterisation is important to understand their unique qualities and potential contributions. Some factors which need to be considered for conservation include the current use of the breed, climatic, social and political stability of the area in which the breed is located, and the number of animals in the existing breed population.

1.15 Genetic characterisation of livestock

Genetic characterisation entails describing and classifying of livestock breeds and species at molecular level using techniques for DNA analysis (Appa Rao et al., 1996). Tools of genetic characterisation using DNA include microsatellite markers, single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), sequence and restriction of mitochondrial and nuclear DNA markers, restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) and random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) (Bowcock et al., 1994; Appa Rao et al., 1996). The microsatellite loci are sufficiently variable and are potentially powerful enough for distinguishing between closely related groups (Bowcock et al., 1994; McGugh et al., 1998; Buduram, 2004; Gizaw, 2008). A number of studies have used microsatellite markers to describe the relationship between various domestic animals. These include cattle and sheep breeds (Ciampolini et al., 1995; Moazami-Goudarzi et al., 1997; Tomasco et al., 2002; Rendo et al., 2004; Paiva et al., 2005; Calvo et al., 2006). Microsatellites were used by Buduram (2004) to compare the genetic similarity between various breeds in South Africa. Results from this study showed that the Zulu sheep breed is genetically similar to the Swazi sheep and this was attributed to the close geographic proximity of the populations. However, Karakul and Ronderib Afrikaner were included in the Nguni sheep cluster. This observation by Buduram (2004) needs further investigation.

Polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphisms (PCR-RFLPs) have been used to differentiate between the *Theileria annulata* and *Babesia bigemina* tick-borne infections (Ravindran *et al.* (2007) and have been used by Humpoličeka *et al.* (2007) in determining the effect of the myogenine gene on the reproductive traits of pigs. Negrini *et al.* (2007) used the AFLP method in differentiating between European cattle breeds. Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) polymorphisms have been used to investigate the structure of populations, interspecies variability and evolutionary relationships between populations or species (Avise *et al.*, 1987; Hiendler *et al.*, 1998: 2002). Mitochondrial DNA have also been
used to identify remains of endangered animals (Hsieh *et al.*, 2001). SNP markerderived relationship matrices have been used by Hayes and Goddard (2008) to predict breeding values of Angus cattle. Sanchez (2007) developed an identity test that can be used to confirm the breed and origion of meat in pigs using the SNP markers.

Random amplified polymorphic DNA amplification products can be classified as either variable (polymorphic) or constant (non-polymorphic). In a RAPD analysis both types of products can be exploited for establishing relationships (Gwakisa *et al.*, 1994). Random amplified polymorphic DNA fragments that are polymorphic among individuals of one breed or belonging to one pedigree or one sex have also been obtained when different primers are used (Kemp and Teale 1994; Gwakisa *et al.*, 1994). The RAPD technique has been successfully used in genetic studies of sheep breeds (Ali, 2003; Kumar *et al.*, 2003, Elmaci *et al.*, 2007), Tilapia fish (Baradakci and Skibinski, 1994), and identifying bulls with early reproductive maturation onset (Alves *et al.*, 2005). RAPD markers have also been used in the establishment of genetic linkage maps (Crawford *et al.*, 1994) and identifying sex-specific markers (Cushwa and Medrano, 1994). Genetic diversity in Bangladeshi chicken was analysed by Mollah *et al.* (2009) using the RAPD markers. The RAPD technique is an attractive method because:

- It is a quick and technically uncomplicated. There is no requirement for sequence information for the design of primers or probes. Different primers produce different banding patterns because the polymorphisms generated by any primer are due to differences in spacing between primer binding sites and point mutations (Appa Rao *et al.*, 1996; Zulu, 2008);
- RAPD-PCR is cost effective and allows rapid screening of DNA pools for average population specific fingerprints (Mburu and Hanotte, 2005);
- iii) It is easy to screen hundreds of arbitrary 10-bp primers for fingerprint patterns that are favourable and moderately easy to score and use in the population under study (Williams *et al*, 1990; Welsh and McClelland, 1990);

iv) Importantly, the RAPD markers can be used for identification of desirable genotypes without previous knowledge of the genes determining a particular trait (Williams *et al.*, 1990; Bowditch *et al.*, 1993; Thu *et al.*, 2002).

Shortcomings of the RAPD technique is that the markers are dominant and therefore heterozygotes cannot be detected (Ovilo *et al.*, 2000; Gwakisa, 2002). The RAPD technique is sensitive to reaction conditions, DNA quality and PCR temperature profiles. It is important to maintain strictly constant PCR reaction conditions to achieve reproducible results. When any change is introduced, it is worth analysing all samples again under new conditions since changes in the technique affect all the samples. However, it has been shown that reproducibility can be controlled with good quality DNA and by ensuring that adequate and optimal quantities of DNA and amplification reagents are used each time (Gwakisa, 2002). In RAPDs studies, relatively high annealing temperatures assist in the increase in reproducibility and to avoid the spurious formation of amplification product (Atienzer *et al.*, 2000).

In the report by Simianer (2007) it is stated that the International Society of Animal Genetics (ISAG)/FAO advisory group on animal genetic diversity have recommended the microsatellites markers to be used molecular genetic studies of animals. The FAO has recommended a list of microsatellites for genetic studies which are now available (http://dad.fao.org/). However, because of the ease of use, relatively low technical requirement and unavailability of appropriate infrastructure at the moment at the University of Zululand, where the study was conducted, RAPD markers were used to preliminarily estimate the genetic diversity of this breed. Results are presented in Chapter Five.

1.16 Summary of the literature

The review above was compiled from various journals, internet sources, conference proceedings and books ranging from as early as 1955 to as recently as 2009. The authors articulated that at least the Eurasian wild sheep, the mouflon (*O. musimon* or *O. orientalis*), was the ancestor of the domesticated sheep (*O aries*). From their Asian origin the sheep spread westwards to Europe and Africa. It is

believed the fat-tailed sheep reached South Africa around 400BC. Ancestors of Nguni sheep came with the Iron Age people who came down the east coast to Natal and dispersed further south. Nguni sheep of Zululand are called the Zulu sheep and they are found in the areas of KwaZulu-Natal.

Furthermore, the literature review demonstrated that indigenous breeds are usually owned by the rural farmers and are genetically adapted to their environment. They utilize feeds with low nutrient values, and have tolerance or resistance to specific diseases. Hence they require minimal inputs. Nguni sheep have been described as being tolerant to tick-borne diseases and internal parasites.

The literature review also showed that the most widely used indigenous small stock production systems in rural farming are the smallholder systems. Animals are grazed communally under open access of a common property tenure system. Although livestock provide food, economic opportunities and security to the rural farmers, there may be social and cultural values attached to the ownership of livestock and these may differ between communities.

It was also revealed in the review that provision for protection of indigenous and locally adapted breeds by the establishment of the schemes has been included in the animal improvement policies of South Africa. The National Department of Agriculture is the designated funder of any livestock improvement scheme. However, characteristics of the animals, including the traits of aesthetic value, should be known prior to the establishment of the breeding goals. Participation of farmers has been widely recommended during this phase by several authors. Genetic characterisation of the breed can be linked to the phenotypic characteristics. Various genetic markers can be used for genetic characterisation. Although the RAPD markers technique has some shortcomings, it is cost effective and has been widely used to estimate genetic variation between various animal breeds.

CHAPTER 2

A SURVEY ON LIVESTOCK PRODUCTION IN SOME TRADITIONAL AREAS OF NORTHERN KWAZULU- NATAL¹

2.1 Abstract

A survey on livestock production was conducted through questionnaires among 76 rural farmers in the three wards of Enseleni district in northen Kwa-Zulu, Natal. The study showed that the livestock owned comprised chickens, cattle, sheep and ducks. Cattle and goats were the main livestock used for cultural purposes. Livestock were sold for cash to get other household needs and contributed 20.2% to farmers' total income. Production was extensive, groundnuts were used as a traditional supplement to increase production and some medicinal plants were used to increase reproductive rates. Dosing, vaccination and injections were used to control health. No breeding season or system was reported. Farmers kept indigenous Nguni cattle, sheep, goats and chickens. Sickly and deformed animals were castrated or culled. Main constraints included lack of extension, theft and parasites.

2.2 Keywords

cattle, goats, traditional farming

¹Kunene, N., Fossey, A., 2006. A Survey on Livestock Production in Some Traditional Areas of Northern Kwazulu -Natal. Livestock Research for Rural Development (18) 06. http://www.utafoundation.org/lrrd1808/cont1808.htm

2.3 Introduction

Livestock and crop farming are the major source of food production and income in rural farming. Livestock are also kept as a source of investment, insurance against disaster and also for cultural purposes (Sibisi, 1981). The South African government has, through extension programmes, supported rural livestock farming by introducing modern farming practices. However, it seems more effort is required to improve livestock production for food security in these areas. The indigenous knowledge, socio-economics and attitudes of the rural farmers should be taken into consideration when planning strategies for rural livestock improvement. The purpose of this study was to investigate the traditional livestock farming methods practiced by rural farmers, the impact of livestock on the cash economy of the farmers, the nature of problems encountered and the solutions farmers preferred.

2.4 Materials and Methods

The investigation was undertaken in three wards (Somopho, Mhlana, Yanguye) in the Enseleni district, situated South of the Umfolozi Game Reserve, North of Empangeni, in northern Kwa-Zulu Natal. These areas are located at $28^0 30$ 'S - $28^0 43$ ' S, $31^0 33$ 'E - $31^0 50$ ' E, the altitude range from 80 to 1900 meters above sea level, with a mean annual rainfall that ranges from 600 mm in the drier valley to over 1 400 mm near the coast. All the farms in the three communities were visited. A total of 76 farmers were available for questioning. Data were obtained by interviewing these farmers at their homesteads using structured questionnaires. Traditionally, the agricultural practices of the people in these wards consist of planting field crops, vegetables and raising livestock (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, 1997). Observations of the daily management practices of the livestock and the grazing areas were also recorded. The community income data were analysed using Statistica (1999).

The collected data were grouped as follows:

- I. Farm and farmer information included, age of the farmer, sex of the head of the family, level of education of the farmer, sources of income and the size of the farmer's land.
- II. Number and type of livestock owned, slaughtered, sold and other uses.

- III. Management practices (grazing pattern, supplements and general husbandry).
- IV. Breeding practices (selection, breeding systems and traits).
- V. Problems.

Summary statistics were calculated to obtain a better understanding of the types of farms, farming methods and economical status of these rural communities.

2.5 Results and discussion

The characteristics of the farmers are provided in Table 2.1. A large percentage of heads of households were male (89,5%), while only a 10.5% were female, 75% women that headed households were widowed and the 25% had husbands that were migrant workers. There were few household headed by females in northern KwaZulu-Natal compared to the 60% households headed by widows or wives of migrant workers, reported by Bembridge (1984), for Transkei. A larger component of farmers (38%) were between the ages 41 and 50, 26% were between the ages 51 and 60 and 4 % were less than 30 years old, only one farmer was above 70 years old. More than half of the respondents (52,6%) did not go to school. Of the 47,4 % farmers, that had acquired some level of education, 21.1% had a high school qualification, 13,2% had higher primary education and 11.8% went as far as lower primary and only one farmer had a tertiary qualification. The level of the academic standard in this region was substantially lower to that of the Transkei, where 67.8% of the farmers had done some level in the lower primary and 4.3% had vocational qualifications (Bembridge, 1984).

Land ownership in these areas was reported by the livestock extension officer to be under tribal authority, the majority of the farmers (72,4%) estimated their land to be between four and five hectares in size, while 4 % estimated their land to be less than four hectares.

The main source of income was a combination of sales (agricultural produce and cold drinks) and work (36, 8%) (Table 2.1). Types of work reported were temporal jobs of cutting timber trees for Mondi, working for Richards Bay Minerals and Alusaf (Aluminum Company at Richards Bay). A pension was the sole income of 11, 8% of the farmers, while 10,5% of the farmers received an income from pension and from the sales.

Farmer Particulars	Number of Farmers	Percentage
Age		<u>_</u>
Not sure	1	1.30
20 - 30	1	1.30
31 - 40	14	18.40
41 – 50	29	38.20
51 - 60	20	26.30
61 - 70	10	13.20
71 - 80	1	1.30
Head of household		
Male	68	89.50
Female	8	10.50
Academic qualification		
None	40	52.60
Lower Primary	9	11.80
Higher Primary	10	13.20
High School	16	21.10
Tertiary	1	1.30
Reported estimate of		
size of land in hectares		
<1-1	1	1.30
2 - 3	2	2.60
4 - 5	55	72.40
6 - 7	10	13.20
Did not know	8	10.50
Source of income		
Pension	9	11.80
Work	23	30.30
Sales	2	2.60
Pension and Sales	8	10.50
Sales and Work	28	36.80
Pension and Work	5	6.60
Pension, Work and Sales	1	1.30

Table 2.1 The background of the farmers at Enseleni district

The livestock types kept in the community were cattle, goats, sheep, chickens and ducks (Table 2.2). The majority (43.4%) of the cattle owners had between 11 and 20 cattle, similarly the common range in goat ownership was between 11 and 20. Most chicken owners (32.9%) had a range between 1 and 20 chickens, a considerable number of farmers (13.2%) had between 21 and 40 chickens. The results presented on Table 2.3, reflected that chickens were the highest percentage (36.9%) of the

livestock in the community, followed by cattle (31.4%), goats (29.2%), however, the sheep were only 2 % of the total livestock. All the farmers were livestock owners. The composition of livestock type owned by farmers varied, the most common found was that of cattle, goats and chickens owned by 34.2% of the farmers followed by that of cattle and goats owned by 22.4% of the farmers (Table 2.3). The combination of livestock owned in these rural farms was similar to other investigations conducted in other rural areas of southern Africa; Swaziland (Sibisi, 1979) and Transkei (Bembridge, 1984).

	Livestock	Number of	Percentage of
		farmers	total farmers
Cattle	1 -10	23	30.30
	11 -20	33	43.40
	21 - 30	5	6.60
	31 -40	1	1.30
	41 -50	1	1.30
	51 -60	1	1.30
		n = 64	
Goats	1 -10	18	23.70
	11 -20	29	38.20
	12 - 30	3	4.00
	31 -40	1	1.30
	41 - 50	1	1.30
	51 -60	1	1.30
		n = 53	
Sheep	1 -5	2	2.60
	6 -10	8	10.50
		n = 10	
Chickens	1 - 20	25	32.90
	21 - 40	10	13.20
	41 -60	2	2.60
	61 -80	2	2.60
		n =44	
Ducks	1 -14	1	1.30
		n =14	

Table 2.2 Livestock types owned by the farmers at Enseleni in rural northern

 KwaZulu-Natal

The data gathered about the utilisation of livestock in 1998 and 1999 is provided in (Table 2.4). Cattle and goats were reported to be used for similar functions (consumption, sale and cultural use), the sheep were not reported to be used for any cultural purpose. More cattle (101) and goats (119) were slaughtered and consumed during cultural ceremonies than for paying dues. The rural farmers in Transkei and in Swaziland were also reported to use cattle and goats for similar purposes, (Sibisi, 1979; Bembridge, 1984). The chickens were regularly slaughtered (69) than the other livestock. These results support those of Ogle (1990) that versatile use of chickens to provide meat and eggs for households could be an attraction option. Though most of the animals used (56.3 %) were used for home consumption, a considerable number were sold (22.1%), goats, cattle and chickens seemed to have been sold equally.

	τ 1	D (D (
Livestock	Livestock	Percentage	Combinations of	Percentage
Туре	Number	of total	livestock	of total
		livestock		farmers
Cattle	871	31.40	Cattle,goat,chickens	34.20
Goats	810	29.20	Cattle, goats	22.40
Sheep	51	2.00	Cattle,goats,sheep	4.00
Chickens	1025	36.90	Cattle, sheep	9.20
Ducks	14	0.50	Cattle, chickens	11.80
			Cattle	2.60
			Goats, chickens	10.60
			Goats, chickens, ducks	1.300
			Goats	4.00
Total	2771	100		100

Table 2.3 Proportions of livestock types and combinations owned by farmers at Enseleni

Farmers reported to obtain their income from sales, pension, work or from any combination of these (Table 2.1). Figure 2.1, reflects the income distribution from all sources of income reported by farmers for the years 1998 and 1999. Of the total households that sold livestock, 76.3% earned less than R3999 and 3.9% earned over R16000. The majority (96.1%) of the farmers that sold crops, vegetables or cold drinks (other sales) got less or up to R3999. Fixed amounts were those obtained from work and pension, and 39.5% earned over R16000. The grand totals reflect that most of the income earners (47.4%) got over R16000 and the least (6.6%) got between R12000 and R15999.

Figure 2.2 demonstrate that, the largest contributor to the income of the homesteads was obtained through employment (55,9%), however, the income from

livestock showed a substantial contribution (20.2%) of the total income. These results support those of Moorosi (1999) who reported that livestock provide income for South African small-scale farmers. It was reported by 79% of the farmers that livestock were sold when there was a need for cash e.g. for school fees. Very few farmers (1%) reported to sell when cattle were over 25, other farmers (20%) reported to sell because of draught and need for cash (Figure 2.3)

All the farmers reported an extensive rearing system. The livestock were reported to graze on communal grazing areas during the daytime and were brought back into kraals, which are within the homesteads at night. Similarly, all chicken farmers reported a free-range system.

The data collected from this investigation indicated that the farmers used various traditional supplements to enhance various reproductive and productive performances. Medicinal plants such as *Sarcostemma viminale (igotsha), Crinum macowanii (umduze), Rhoicissus tredentata (isinwazi)* and *Tetradenia riparia (ibozane)* were reported to be given to livestock anytime during the year to increase the milk production by stimulating the letdown process.

	Percent of	total farmers	who sold	the livestock	type		31.60	1.30	22.40	7.90	0.00	63.20	
	Number	of	livestock	sold			67	7	67	98	0	294	22.1
	Penalty						12	7	4	0	0	108	1.4
	Number paid	for	Lobola				40	0	6	0	0	49	3.7
farming	Number	slaughtered	/consumed	for	ancestral	ceremonies	101	0	119	0	0	220	16.5
tock in traditional	Number	Slaughtered	Only for	home	consumption		6	20	10	69	15	749	56.3
me functions of lives	Species						Cattle	Sheep	Goats	Chickens	Duck	Totals	Percentage of livestock used
Table 2.4 Sc	Total	livestock used					259	24	239	793	15	1330	100



Figure 2.1 Income distribution for the farmers



Figure 2.2 Proportion of sources of income for traditional farmers



Figure 2.3 Main reasons given for selling livestock

Potassium permanganate dissolved in the drinking water was used to increase reproductive rate by increasing fertility and twinning. Ground peanuts and *Crinum macowanni* were given to cattle at anytime during the year to improve the reproductive rate (Table 2.5).

	~ 1				-	
farmers						
Table 2.5	Traditional	l supplements and	l veterinary use	of plants rep	ported b	y the

Plant	Use	Percentage of
		Livestock farmers
Sarcostemma viminale (igotsha)	Increase the milk production	13.2
Crinum macowanii (umduze)	Increase the milk production	13.2
	Improve rate of reproduction	2.60
Rhoicissus tredentata (isinwazi)	Increase the milk production	10.6
Tetradenia riparia (ibozane)	Increase milk production	2.60
Potassium permanganate	Increase reproductive rate	15.8
Ground peanuts	Improve reproductive rate	6.60

Table 2.6 presents various methods of disease control. The cattle were taken by 92.2% of the cattle farmers to a communal dip where they were dipped to control ticks, 7.80% of the cattle owners used a spray dip. None of the farmers reported to dip sheep and goats. Dosing, vaccination and injections were reported by 85.5% of all the farmers to be main methods of improving health condition of livestock. Tail

docking of sheep was done by 30% of sheep owners to prevent attacks by parasites as well as to improve growth rate and meat production.

. 11 .1 0

I able 2.6 Herd health control	of practised by	the farmers
Health Practice	Number of	Percentage of livestock
	farmers	type owners
Communal dipping of cattle	59	92.20
Cattle spray dip	5	7.80
Communal dip of sheep and	0	0.00
goats		
Spray dip of sheep and goats	0	0.00
Tail docking	3	30.00
Dosing, vaccination and	65	85.50
injections of livestock when		
necessary		

. 1

T 11 A C TT 11 14

There were three types of cattle breeds owned in these areas, most of the cattle farmers (76.6%) kept the Nguni breed because they are well adapted to the local environment and were resistant to many diseases. Other farmers (21.9%) who owned Brahman and Nguni reported to keep the Brahman for increased meat production due to its large body size. Only a few farmers (1.6%) farmed Jersey for high milk yields and tolerance of the local environment. The small stockowners kept indigenous sheep and/or goats. The farmers reported to prefer the indigenous breeds to exotics because they are better adapted to the local hot climate, reasonable meat production and resistant to various diseases (Table 2.7). No particular breeding system could be identified. Mating occurred amongst animals of neighbouring homesteads, thus, all the animals of the farmers within an area could be considered as a single breeding population.

It seems that some of the farmers believed that castration had an effect on the weight gain of an animal. The selection procedures practiced were that of castration, slaughtering of animals and sales. Some farmers (15.8%) castrated cattle that were, too thin, had presence of abnormalities such as small testicles and cryptorchids, but often some male calves were castrated for weight gain purposes. However, 1.3% castrated all the male calves, while others (3.9%) castrated all male calves of cows calving for the first time, mainly to increase weight. A number of the farmers (14.5%) castrated their goats at the age of six months, in order to gain weight and

decrease the smell of the goat meat. Cattle, goats and sheep that suffered severe injuries, sterile, had reproductive disorders or were sick with contagious diseases were slaughtered by 67.1% of the farmers for home consumption. About 17% of the farmers mentioned that over two year old, fit, usually castrated, calm male cattle were chosen to draught (Table 2.8).

1 abic 2.7	Diccus own	lu anu mose p	felence by the familiers	
Breed/s	Number	Percentage	Advantages	Percentage of breed
Owned	of	of	mentioned by the	type owner
	farmers	livestock	breed type owner	mentioning the
		owners		advantage
Brahman and Nguni	14	21.90	Both adapt well to local climate	78.10
Jersey	1	1.60	High milk yield and tolerate local conditions	1.60
Nguni cattle	49	76.60	Adapt to local conditions and have good disease resistance	76.60
Nguni (Zulu) sheep	10	100.00	Adapt well to hot climate, are resistant to diseases	90.00
			Meat quality	10.00
Nguni (Zulu) goats	53	100.00	Adapt well to hot climate have resistance to diseases	94.00
Zulu chickens	44	100.00	Can survive (by scavenging) even when maize is not available	68.20
			Do not need high inputs	22.70
			Nice meat	9.10

Table 2.7 Breeds owned and those preferred by the farmers

The farmers' observation of season of birth effect on their livestock is presented on Table 2.9. Their observations were, slow grow rates for livestock born in winter and good weaners were realised from livestock born in summer. However, animals born in spring or summer were more prone to get diseases. The lambs born in summer months experienced stress but also too much rain during the lambing season resulted in a high incidence of diseases and reduced production. This was reported by 80% of the sheep owners, however, 34% of the goat owners noted good weaning weight of goats when kidding took place in summer. Similarly, good weaning weight in calves born in summer and high growth rates in spring and summer born calves were observed by 31.3% and 43.8% of the cattle owners, respectively.

Form of selection	Number of	Percentage of
	livestock owners	livestock owners
Castration of calves with small or	12	15.80
abnormal testicles		
Castration of thin calves	12	15.80
Castration of all male calves	1	1.30
Castration of male calves from first	3	3.90
calvers		
Castration of goats at six months	11	14.50
Sale of cows which are sterile and	17	22.40
have poor reproduction rates		
Slaughter of unreproductive	51	67.10
livestock		
Cattle over two years old, fit calm,	13	17.10
castrated and used for draught		

 Table 2.8
 Selection strategies practiced by farmers

Diarrhea or death of calves was reported to occur after spring calving. Some of these reports confirm the findings of Carles (1983) in Zimbabwe, when he reported fast growth and higher weaning weights of lambs born in summer because of the abundance of browse and forage. Although sheep lambing during the winter produced lambs with good birth weights, because the ewes were well fed during the previous summer pregnancy, the slower growth rate of these lambs resulted in high mortalities.

Season	Effect on livestock type	Number of	Percentage of
of birth		Farmers	Livestock
			type owners
Summer	Stress and diseases in	8	80.00
	lambs mostly due to rains		
Summer	Good weaning weights of	18	34.00
	goats		
Summer	High weaning weight of	20	31.30
	calves		
Spring	Diarrhea or death of	3	4.70
	calves		
Spring or	High growth rate in calves	28	43.80
Summer			
Winter	Slow growth rates in kids	11	20.80

 Table 2.9
 Farmers observations on some season of birth effects

The farmers reported how they use some physical traits as indicators of traits of economic importance (Table 2.10).

Some of these relationships were similar to some of the relationships written by Dalton (1980) who found that traditional breeders believed that:

- I. A flat bone denotes good meat potential.
- II. Thin skin (when pinched between finger and thumb) denoted good milk potential in a dairy cow.
- III. A kind eye (friendly look) in most stock denotes good temperament and hence good performance.

The farmers encountered various problems, ranging from, animal related problems such as low fertility and disease, to theft and a lack of extension services (Table 2. 11).

	bisinps between traits of investoek ide	intified by	
Livestock trait	Related trait	Number	Percentage
		of	of livestock
		farmers	type
			owners
High milk yield	Small head, thin slender neck in	6	9.40
in cattle	cows		
	Big udder	5	7.80
	Good milk veins on cow belly	6	9.40
	Large, hollow body cavity	5	7.80
	Big calf at birth will also be big at	2	4.70
	weaning		
	Thin skin denotes high milk yields	5	7.80
	Fine tail of a cow	5	7.80
	A friendly look denotes good		
	temperament, hence good	2	3.10
	lactation and fertility in cows		
High fertility or	Udder like projections under the	3	4.70
improved	neck denote good fertility and		
reproductive	reproductive performance and thus		
performance in	a capacity to twin.		
cattle	Long penis and big neck are	3	4.70
	related to good fertility in bulls.		
	A hump and big neck denotes	5	7.80
	good fertility in bulls.		
	Large scrotum/testicles denotes	32	50.00
	good fertility		
	Large voice in bulls denotes good	4	6.30
	fertility		
Improved meat	A flat backbone, fit and straight	15	23.4
production in	legs denote good meat production		
cattle			
Improved milk	Big udder and good reproductive	25	40.6
yield in goat and	performance		
sheep			
т	· · ·	.	
Improved	Long penis and large	24	54.5
reproduction in	scrotum/testicles denote good		
goats and sheep	tertility	17	20.6
	Udder like projections under the	17	38.6
	neck denoted good fertility		

Table 2.10 Relationships between traits of livestock identified by farmers

Problem	Number of	Proposed Solution
Tioolom	farmers	rioposed Solution
	Mentioning	
	wientioning	
	problem	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Low fertility in	31	- injection and medication
animals		- vaccination
		- no solution except slaughtering
Miscorriage	40	injection and medication
wiiseamage	40	- injection and inculcation
		- vaccination
		- dosing
Livestock theft	69	- education of community
		- thieves should be disciplined
		(arrested)
		- construction of fences
Incidences of	57	- irrigation
drought	0,	
arouBitt		
Parasite and	58	- injection and medication
predators		-dipping to combat external parasites
F		- dosing vaccination to combat
		internal parasites
		internal parasites
Lack of grazing	41	- no solution
land		-relocation
iuna		Terocution
Lack of	71	- provision of extension support
extension		(especially education in livestock
services		management)
		- farmers visit extension office at the
		office
		011100

Table 2.11 Constraints on livestock production experienced by of farmers and proposed solutions

2.6 Conclusion

The farms in the rural communities investigated were approximately five hectares, in most cases, under the control of male farmers, of which more than half had no education. Farming was mixed in nature with a variety of livestock. Livestock farming consisted of communal grazing during the day, and kraaling at night at individual homesteads. Livestock on most of the farms were cattle, goats, chickens, ducks and a few sheep. Most farmers had cattle, but chickens occurred in

greater numbers. More than 50% of the farms' yearly income was between R12 000 - R16 000 generated mostly from non agricultural resources such as employment and pensions. However, 21% of farmers' income was about R4 000, generated on these farms mostly from agricultural practices.

From these results it can be concluded that interventions could contribute to more effective farming and increased income. However, assistance to these farmers could contribute positively to their household and food security, if prior knowledge is obtained and through collaboration with the farmers and suitable assistance is provided according to the needs of the different communities.

CHAPTER 3

CHARACTERISATION OF ZULU (NGUNI) SHEEP USING LINEAR BODY MEASUREMENTS AND SOME ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS AFFECTING THESE MEASUREMENTS²

3.1 Abstract

Data on linear body measurements (LBM) of ca. 100 Zulu sheep raised under extensive management systems at four sites in northern Kwazulu-Natal, were collected over a period of 2.5 years (October 2000 to May 2003). Data were used to quantify the live weight (LW), heart girth (HG), wither height (WH) and scrotum circumference (SC) of sheep at different age groups as well as some environmental factors affecting the LBM. Teeth numbers were used to estimate the age of sheep. Mature rams that have three and four pairs of incisors had a LW of 37 and 38 kg, and HG of 79 and 80 cm and WH of 65 and 64 cm, respectively. Mature ewes had a LW of 30 and 32 kg, HG of 76 cm and WH of 62 and 63 cm. Differences of 15 kg, 18 kg and 22 kg in LW among sheep with full sets of milk teeth and 28 kg, 35 kg and 40 kg among mature sheep were found between populations. The SC increased with age, for mature rams (three and four pairs of incisors) it was 27 cm as compared to 18 cm for younger rams. The ear size ranged from ear buds to large ear length of 9-14 cm. However, the type of ear-length was found not to have any particular influence on the variation in LBM of Zulu sheep. It was concluded that an investigation on genetic variation between the populations is necessary to develop an effective conservation and utilization programmes and strategies for the breed.

3.2 Keywords

Indigenous sheep, body measurements; scrotum circumference, extensive management.

² Kunene, N.W., Nesamvuni, E.A., Fossey, A. 2007. Characterisation of Zulu (Nguni) sheep using linear body measurements and some environmental factors affecting these measurements. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 37 (1) 11-20.

3.3 Introduction

Between 200 and 400 AD the original Nguni type of sheep migrated with Nguni people down the east coast of Africa southwards to the areas where they are presently located (Ramsay, *et al.*, 2000). They are divided into three groups according to their distribution, namely Pedi in Sekukunniland, the Swazi sheep in Swaziland and the Zulu sheep in KwaZulu-Natal (Kruger, 2001). Documented populations of the Zulu sheep are flocks that have been established at the Makhathini Research Station (MRS) below Pongolo river dam and at the University of Zululand (UNIZULU) near Empangeni in Northern KwaZulu -Natal. The numbers of this indigenous Nguni breed are reported to be declining rapidly due to replacement by imported breeds (Kruger, 2001).

The indigenous breeds are an important part of livestock agriculture, especially in some rural areas of South Africa. They are kept as a source of investment and also to some extend as a source of food production. The Zulu sheep are known to have qualities of excellent mothering ability, tolerant to external and internal parasites and to tick borne diseases. They adapt well in hot humid to hot dry bushveld environment (Ramsay, *et al.*, 2000). They are reported to have thin or fat tails and have a coat of either wool or hair (Kruger, 2001). Not much work has been done to quantify the performance of the Nguni breed. Accurate description of Nguni sheep under the extensive areas would enable accurate comparison of this breed to other sheep breeds. Conservation and improvement programmes can be developed using such information.

Linear body measurements (LBM) can be used in assessing growth rate, feed utilisation and carcass characteristics in farm animals (Brown *et al.*, 1973). LBM are divided into skeletal and tissue measurements (Essien and Adesope, 2003). The height at withers is part of skeletal measurements, whereas the heart girth is part of tissue measurement (Blackmore *et al.*, 1958). Several authors have indicated that males with larger testes have either greater sperm production or higher daily sperm output and that testicular size is a good indicator of ram fertility (Schoeman and Combrink, 1987; Duguma *et al.*, 2002). Venter *et al.* (1984), proposed that minimum scrotal circumference standards at certain age should be known for individual breeds. The objective of this study was to phenotypically characterise Zulu sheep under

extensive management using LBM and to quantify some environmental factors affecting these LBM.

3.4 Materials and Methods

Data was collected monthly from *ca*. 100 sheep in three populations of Nguni sheep and consisted of 2640 records. The sheep were in were from four locations in KwaZulu –Natal and were kept under natural pastures. The parameters recorded were live weight (LW), heart girth (HG), wither height (WH) and scrotal circumference (SC). The geographical location, time of data collection, number of sheep, number of records per traits and dominating grass species is shown in Table 3.1. The altitudes in these areas range from 60 m to 120 m above sea level with an annual rainfall ranging from 400 mm to above 1000 mm. From May, 2002 until November, 2002, the herd at MRS was reared at Owen Sithole College of Agriculture (OSCA) because of increased theft of the sheep at the station.

The LBM were taken *ca.* every 28 days using a measuring tape method as described by Fourie *et al.* (2002). The SC was measured as described by Schoeman and Combrink (1987). Since no records were available at Enqutshini at the beginning of the study, age of the sheep in all three populations was estimated from incisor teeth as described by Gatenby (1991). Pregnancy status data were obtained through observation of body part changes as described by Carles (1983). Least -square analysis of variance was done using the general linear model (GLM) procedure of minitab (Minitab, 1998).

	University of	Makhathini	Enqutshini	Owen Sithole
	Zululand	Research	-	College of
	(UNIZULU)	station		Agriculture
		$(MRS)^*$		(OSCA)
Geographical	28 ⁰ 51'S:51 ⁰ 51'E	25°27'S:32°10'	28°37'S:31°55"E	27 [°] 38'S: 31 [°] 56'E
location		Ε		
Time of data	October, 2000	October, 2000	October, 2000	May 2002 (26) –
collection	(30) – May,	(31)– April,	(27)-May, 2003	November, 2002
(number of	2003 (37)	2002 (26)	(43)	(37)
sheep)		December, 2002		
		(37) -May, 2003		
Number of		(45)		
record per				
trait				
(LW/HG/WH)	843		874	271
SC	156	652	186	58
		181		
Demination	II 1 · 1· ,		Sporobolus	Cynodon
Dominating	Hyperrnenia nirta	Pennisetum	Species	nlemfuensis
grass species		<i>clanaestinum</i>	1	U
		and Panicum maximum		
Common			Drongood	Storgroop
names	Thatch grass	Kikuyu and	Dropseed	Stargrass
	-	Guinea -orass		

Table 3.1 Geographical location and conditions at the sites of data collection

^{*}Flocks kept at OSCA from May 2002 to November 2002

LW- live weight; HG- heart girth; WH- wither height; SC-scrotal circumference

Non- significant factors on the preliminary models such as year of data collection and some two-factor interactions of year with other fixed effects were removed from the final models. Not all possible interactions were obtained because of spaces created by unequal subclasses. Tukey's simultaneous test was used to separate significance of least-square means. Three models were used:

Model I:

$$\begin{split} Y_{ijklmnopq} &= \mu + E_i + V_j + S_k + A_l + P_m + R_n + H_o + C_p + (VS)_{jk} + (VA)_{jl} + (SA)_{kl} \\ &+ (AH)_{lo} + e_{ijklmnopq} \end{split}$$

Where:

Y _{ijklmnopq} is the qth record of LW and HG

 μ = effect common to all sheep

 E_i = effect of ith season (1= summer, 2 = autumn, 3= winter, 4=spring)

 V_j = effect of jth area (1 =UNIZULU, 2 = Enqutshini ,3= Makhathini and 4= Owen Sithole College)

 S_k = effect of kth sex (1= male and 2 = female)

 A_1 = effect of 1th age (1= milk set (<15 months), 2= 1 pair of permanent incisors (15 to 22 months), 3 = 2 pairs of permanent incisors (22 to 28 months), 4 = 3 pairs of permanent incisors (28 to 36 months) and 5= 4 pairs of permanent incisors (> 36 months)

 P_m = effect of mth status of pregnancy (1= pregnant and 2 = non pregnant)

 R_n = effect of nth ear length class (1= ear-buds, 2= small (3-6 cm),3= medium (> 6 -9 cm), 4=large (> 9 -14 cm))

 $H_o = effect of the oth horn status (1= horned and 2= polled)$

 C_p = effect of pth colour (1=brown, 2= black and white, 3= brown and white, 4 = brown, black and white patched, 5 = black, 6= dark brown, 7 = black and brown, 8=tan and 9 = tan and white)

 $e_{ijkmnopq}$ = random error.

Model II:

 $Y_{ijklmnop} = \mu + E_i + V_j + S_k + A_l + R_m + H_n + C_o + (VS)_{jk} + (VA)_{il} + (SA)_{kl} + (AH)_{ln} + e_{iiklmnop}$

Where Y $_{ijklmnop}$ is the pth record of WH, with all terms defined as in MODEL I except for the subscript notation.

Model III:

 $Y_{ijklmn} = \mu + E_i + A_j + H_k + C_l + G_m + (AH)_{jk} + e_{ijklmn}$

Where Y_{ijklmn} is the nth record of SC, with all terms defined as in MODEL I except for G_m = effect of mth year (1=2000, 2= 2001, 3= 2002 and 4= 2003) and for the subscript notation.

3.5 **Results and Discussions**

The analysis of variance for LW, HG and WH of sheep are presented in Table 3.2. The least- square means and standard errors are presented in Tables 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5. The models used to describe Zulu sheep accounted for 60%, 57% and 50 % of the variation in LW, HG and WH, respectively.

<u></u>				
Sources	DF	LW (MS)	HG (MS)	WH (MS)
Season	3	891.60***	1849.10***	292.20***
Area	3	8306.10***	2979.20***	2753.10***
Sex	1	2287.70***	588.40**	267.00**
Age	4	11318.40***	11277.90***	4586.00***
Status	1	1996.30***	2716.10***	
Ear	3	419.80***	623.10***	707.80***
Horn	1	104.30 ^{ns}	504.80**	349.30**
Colour	8	309.50***	800.70***	474.10***
Area*sex	3	1200.30***	998.20***	836.60***
Area*age	12	144.10***	103.40*	72.00*
Sex*age	4	798.90***	542.40***	224.10***
Age*horn	4	448.00***	1192.20***	520.10***
\mathbf{R}^2		60.40 %	56.70%	50.00 %

Table 3.2 Analysis of variance for live weight (LW), heart girth (HG) and wither height (WH) of Zulu sheep

DF- degrees of freedom; MS-mean squares

*P< 0.05; **P<0.01; ***P<0.001; ^{ns} non-significant

Age, location and pregnancy status seemed to have been the highest contributing (P < 0.001) factors to the variation in LBM of Zulu sheep (Table 3.2). The LBM of the Zulu sheep increased with the age (Table 3.3). These results are in line with the conclusion made by Otte et al. (1992) and Benyi (1997) that, the HG, WH and LW are measurements that can be used to evaluate growth in ruminants. The LBM of the sheep with three pairs and those with four pairs of incisors, were found to be similar (Table 3.3). The LW for sheep with milk set of teeth (< 15) months) at Engutshini (Table 3.4) was found to be 4.03 kg and 2.81 kg lower when compared to LW of animals of similar age group at MRS and at OSCA, respectively. The young sheep (< 15 months) at UNIZULU were even lower by 3.92 kg, 7.95 kg and 6.73 kg in LW than young sheep at Enqutshini, Makhathini and OSCA, respectively. The highest LW for the mature Zulu sheep (three and four pairs of incisors) was 39.76 kg and 40.26 kg at MRS with a HG of 79.95cm and 81.28 cm and WHs of 67.36 and 68.02 cm, respectively. The lowest LW for the mature sheep were 26.76 and 28.05 kg at UNIZULU with a HG of 73 cm and WH of 61.27 and 61.76 cm for sheep with three and four pairs of teeth, respectively. In addition, the least- square means of the location x age interaction (Table 3.4), indicate that moving of sheep from MRS to OSCA, resulted to reduced LW of sheep with 1-4 pairs of incisors. When at MRS, the LW of sheep with 1,2, 3 and 4 pairs of incisors were heavier by 4.40 kg, 3.87 kg, 4.42 kg and 4.56 kg, respectively than the sheep of similar ages at OSCA. These differences could imply that the animals might have

been undergoing a process of adaptation to the different environment. Provenza (2003), reported that during time of adaptation, animal performance declines before it improves and that the degree and time of the decline depends on the magnitude of change in environments. However, it seems the change of area did not affect the sheep aged below 15 months because the least -square means of their LBM at MRS was found to be similar (P> 0.05) to that of the same age group at OSCA.

Sex of animal and the interaction between sex and area where it was raised was found to have an effect (P<0.001) on the variation of the LBM of the Zulu sheep (Table 3.2). The least- square means of the interaction between area and sex of animal (Table 3.4) reflect higher differences in LBM between males and females on sheep reared at MRS. At MRS, the males were heavier by 8.72 kg, larger by 6.27 cm and higher by 5.40 cm in LW, HG and WH, respectively than the females in the same herd. Such differences were smaller or not significant between males and females in other study areas. It was remarkable to note that the difference in LBM between males and females was found to be non-significant when the herd from MRS was raised at OSCA. The change of environment from MRS to OSCA had a higher impact on males than on females. The rams at OSCA had lower LW, HG and WH by 7.64 kg, 4.84cm and 7.64 cm, respectively, than the rams at MRS. However, the LBM of the females were found to be similar (P>0.05) in these two locations. The fact that the LBM of dams were not affected by change of location could explain why the young sheep (milk set of teeth) at OSCA performed similar (P>0.05) in terms of LBM to those of the same age group at the MRS.

Source of variation	No	IW (kg)	<u>رم</u>	HG (cm)	6.0	WИ	
Source of variation	INU	Lw (Kg)	3.5.	I cm	5.0.	(om)	C A
		LSIII		1.5111		Lem	s.c.
Season						LSIII	
Summer	537	29.25	0.47^{a}	73 72	0.54^{a}	61 10	0.38^{a}
Autumn	719	30.62	0.47 0.41 ^a	74.21	0.34 0.47 ^a	61.24	0.30^{a}
Winter	719	28.25	0.41^{b}	77.48	0.47 ^b	60.69	0.34
Spring	650	28.23	0.41 0.43^{b}	70.31	0.47 0.40 ^c	59.72	0.32 0.34 ^b
Area	039	20.04	0.43	70.51	0.49	39.12	0.54
	8/13	22.76	0.44^{a}	68 67	0.50^{a}	58.04	0.34^{a}
Encutshini	874	22.70	0.44 0.50 ^b	72 58	0.50 0.57 ^b	50.84	0.34 0.42^{b}
MDS	652	20.54	0.30	72.38	0.57 0.51°	64.58	0.42
	271	34.28	0.44 0.75 ^d	73.48	0.51 0.85 ^b	60.72	0.50 0.63 ^b
USCA	271	30.38	0.75	/4.01	0.85	00.72	0.03
Males	581	30.88	0.51^{a}	73.62	0.58^{a}	61.30	0.40^{a}
Females	2059	27 20	0.37 ^b	71 75	0.42^{b}	60.07	0.31^{b}
i enhareb	2007	27.20	0.27	/1./0	0.12	00.07	0.51
Milk set teeth	913	19.14	0.42^{a}	62.13	0.48^{a}	54.03	0.32 ^a
One pair of incisors	361	27.25	0.57^{b}	72.23	0.65 ^b	60.32	0.47^{b}
Two pairs of incisors	302	30.62	0.86 ^c	74.18	0.98 ^b	61.92	0.73 ^b
Three pairs of incisors	260	33.46	0.82^{d}	77.65	0.94°	63.51	0.70°
Four pairs of incisors	804	34 72	0.45^{d}	77 22	0.51°	63 66	0.36°
	001	0	00	,,	0.01	00.00	0.00
Pregnant	242	30.38	0.48^{a}	74.25	0.55 ^a		
Non-pregnant	562	27.70	0.32 ^b	71.12	0.37 ^b		
Horned	435					61.41	0.42^{a}_{1}
Polled	2205					59.96	0.28 ^b
E - n la na dhatanna							
Ear length type	107	20.20	0 (18	72.25	0.708	50.72	0 5 1 8
Ear buds	18/	28.26	0.61	72.35	0.70	59.73	0.51
Short ears	338	29.25	0.47°	/2.64	0.53°	60.55	0.38
Medium ear length	/93	28.55	0.40^{-1}	/1.8/	0.46°	60.30	0.32^{-1}
Long ear length	1302	30.09	0.38°	/3.8/	0.43*	62.18	0.30*
Colour							
Brown	501	29.10	0.45^{a}	72 42	0.51^{a}	60.14	0.36^{a}
Black and white	258	29.10	0.45 0.56 ^a	72.42	0.51 0.64 ^a	50.14	0.30 0.47 ^a
Brown and white	258 465	28.93	0.30	72.40	0.04	61.03	0.47
Brown block and	403	20.94	0.44	72.49	0.50 0.75 ^a	61.05	0.55^{a}
white patched	139	20.90	0.00	/3.04	0.73	01.14	0.33
Plook	76	26 50	0.62 ^b	68 56	0.72 ^b	57 12	0.52b
Diack	/0 00	20.30	0.03	00.30	0.72	57.45 61.47	0.33 0.71 ^a
Darkorown Diack and brown	02 126	20.20	0.75 0.44°	13.14	0.90 0.51 ^a	01.4/ 62.01	0.71
	420	20.04	0.44	/4.2/ 7/ 71	0.51	02.01	0.30
1 an Tan and white	440	20.04	0.4/	/4./1 74.41	0.34	01.88	0.39 0.50 ^a
I an and white	133	30.06	0.70°	/4.41	0.80	01./0	0.39

 Table 3.3
 Least- square means and standard errors for live weight (LW), heart girth (HG) and wither height (WH) of Zulu sheep

"a,b,c,d column means with common superscripts do not differ (P < 0.05)"

Source of variation	No	LW (kg)	s.e	HG (cm)	s.e.	WH (cm)	s.e
Area* sex							
11	156	23.90	0.65^{a}	68.59	0.74^{a}	57.98	0.52^{a}
12	687	21.62	0.43 ^b	68.74	0.50^{a}	58.09	0.35 ^a
21	186	29.98	0.79°	73.49	0.90 ^c	60.31	0.66^{b}
22	688	27.09	0.44^{d}	71.66	0.50°	59.38	0.38^{a}
31	181	38.64	0.63^{e}	78.61	0.72^{d}	67.28	0.51°
32	471	29.92	0.50°	72.34	0.57 ^c	61.88	0.42^{b}
41	58	31.00	1.14 ^c	73.77	1.30 ^c	59.64	0.97^{b}
42	213	30.17	0.70°	74.25	0.80°	60.94	0.60^{b}
Area * age							
11	186	14.49	0.66^{a}	59.08	0.75 ^a	51.84	0.54^{a}
12	140	20.16	0.83^{b}	67.12	0.95^{b}	55.98	0.69^{b}
13	181	24.32	0.90°	71.01	1.03 ^c	59.35	0.76°
14	115	26.76	0.93 ^d	73.37	1.06 ^c	61.27	0.79 ^c
15	221	28.05	0.64^{d}	72.76	0.73 ^c	61.76	0.53 ^c
21	354	18.41	0.49^{e}	61.34	0.56 ^d	52.74	0.38^{a}
22	81	27.74	0.90^{d}	73.53	1.02 ^c	60.71	0.76^{b}
23	54	29.69	0.99^{d}	73.72	1.37 ^c	60.49	1.03 ^b
24	71	31.97	0.87^{d}	76.85	1.26 ^e	62.36	0.95 ^c
25	314	34.87	0.59^{f}	77.44	0.68 ^e	62.92	0.51 ^c
31	259	22.44	0.58^{b}	64.41	0.66^{f}	57.52	0.47^{b}
32	90	32.76	0.81 ^d	74.37	0.92 ^c	64.47	0.68^{d}
33	48	36.16	1.01^{f}	77.37	1.27 ^e	65.53	0.95 ^d
34	62	39.76	0.99 ^g	79.95	1.13 ^e	67.36	0.85^{e}
35	193	40.26	0.63 ^g	81.28	0.72 ^e	68.02	0.53 ^e
41	114	21.22	0.75 ^b	63.68	0.86^{f}	54.01	0.63 ^b
42	50	28.36	0.87^{c}	73.91	1.33 ^c	60.13	1.00°
43	19	32.29	1.86 ^d	74.62	2.12 ^c	62.30	1.59 ^c
44	12	35.34	2.09^{f}	80.42	2.38 ^e	63.05	1.80 ^c
45	76	35.70	0.92^{f}	77.41	1.05 ^e	61.95	0.78°

Table 3.4 Least- square means and standard errors showing effect of area-sex and area-age interactions on live weight (LW), heart girth (HG) and wither height (WH) of Zulu sheep

"a,b,c,d,e,f column means with common superscripts do not differ (P < 0.05)"

The least-square means of LBM resulting from the interaction between sex and age (P < 0.001) in Table 3.5, showed that there were no difference in LBM between males and females at the milk teeth stage. The differences in LW between males and females increased with the age of the animals to 3.19 kg, 3.41 kg and 6.90 kg between rams and ewes with one pair of teeth, two pairs and three pairs of teeth, respectively. Hassen *et al.* (2002) found that male and female lambs had similar weights between 30 and 90 days of age, but differed in later stages. They reported that the significance level of sex of animal on weight of indigenous Ethiopian sheep

increased with age. Similar findings were reported by Blackburn and Field (1990) on Somali Blackhead sheep.

of Zulu she	eep						
Source of	No	LW (kg)	s.e	HG (cm)	s.e.	WH (cm)	s.e
variation							
Sex * age							
11	303	18.69	0.52^{a}	61.15	0.59 ^a	53.34	0.41^{a}
12	75	28.85	0.90 ^b	73.32	1.03 ^b	60.72	0.75^{b}
13	40	32.32	0.87°	74.78	1.45 ^b	62.69	1.08^{b}
14	49	36.91	1.16 ^d	79.84	1.33 ^c	65.34	0.99 ^c
15	114	37.64	0.72^{d}	78.99	0.82°	64.42	0.59 ^c
21	610	19.60	$0.48^{\rm a}$	63.10	0.55^{a}	54.71	0.39 ^a
22	286	25.66	0.66^{e}	70.15	0.55^{d}	57.92	0.56^{d}
23	262	28.91	0.93 ^b	73.58	1.06 ^b	61.14	0.79^{b}
24	211	30.01	0.64^{b}	75.46	1.08 ^b	61.68	0.81 ^b
25	690	31.80	0.43 ^b	75.45	0.49 ^b	62.91	0.37 ^b
Age * horn							
11	153	21.74	0.66^{a}	66.58	0.76^{a}	57.10	0.55^{a}
12	760	16.55	0.39 ^b	57.68	0.44^{b}	50.96	0.28 ^b
21	62	27.18	0.94°	71.90	1.07^{c}	60.99	0.80°
22	299	27.33	0.66 ^c	72.57	0.76°	59.66	0.55 ^c
31	28	30.69	1.42 ^d	74.26	1.62°	61.97	1.22 ^c
32	274	30.54	0.85^{d}	74.09	0.97 ^c	61.87	0.72°
41	31	32.69	1.34 ^e	77.36	1.53 ^d	63.03	1.15 ^d
42	229	34.23	0.82^{f}	77.94	0.93 ^d	63.99	0.70^{d}
51	161	34.88	0.62^{f}	77.67	0.71^{d}	63.98	0.53^{d}
52	642	34.56	0.50^{f}	76.77	0.57^{d}	63.34	0.41 ^d

Table 3.5 Least-square means and standard errors showing effect of sex-age and age-horn interactions on live weight (LW), heart girth (HG) and wither height (WH) of Zulu sheep

", ", b, c, d column means with common superscripts do not differ (P < 0.05)"

Season was found to have an influence on the variation of LBM (P<0.001) (Table 3.2). Nguni were found to have larger LW and HG in summer and autumn than in winter and spring (Table 3.3). However, these differences were small (1-3 kg and 1-4 cm). Hassen *et al.* (2002) reported a less important seasonal influence on sheep aged above 150 days compared to sheep aged below 150 days. However, in this study, it was not possible to determine the interaction between season and age of sheep because of unequal subclasses.

The least-squares means for the age-horn interaction (Table 3.5) showed that the LBM of young horned sheep (with milk set of teeth) were higher by 5.19 kg, 8.90cm and 6.14 cm in LW, HG and WH, respectively, than those of the polled sheep. However, as the age of sheep increased, no differences (P> 0.05) in LBM were realized between horned and polled sheep. It is possible that there is a period of rapid growth of horns at this stage. Horn production takes energy from the animal that might be used for meat production (Carlson, 2001). Colour was found to have a significant effect on the LBM of Zulu sheep (P < 0.001). The sheep that had black colour were found to have lower LBM compared to sheep with other colours. During the collection of data, it was observed that as the black lambs grew, they gradually changed from black to a brown or dark brown colour. These results are in line with the report on *deerrunssheepfarm.com* website by Sponeburg (undated) where a mechanism called "dark brown" was explained. It was reported that sheep carrying the dark -brown gene are born nearly black. As they grow older their colour fades to a distinctive dark-brown. The dominating colour was brown (19%), combination of brown and white (18%) and black and brown (16%). Ramsay *et al.* (2000), documented that with the Nguni sheep of Zululand and Swaziland, the most common colour combination was brown and black but could include white.

In the present study a large percentage (44 %) of sheep had large ears and only 7% had ear buds (Table 3.3). However, the ear length had no influence on LBM of the Zulu sheep (Table 3.3). Among males, 41% were horned while 10% of the females had horns.

The analysis of variance for SC is presented in Table 3.6. The least- square means and standard errors for SC are shown in Table 3.7.

Source of variation	DF	MS
Season	3	265.36***
Area	3	633.95***
Age	4	1909.99***
Horn	1	103.69*
Colour	8	133.20***
Year	3	155.43**
Age*horn	4	163.30***

Table 3.6 Analysis of variance for scrotum circumference of Zulu sheep

MS : mean square ; *P < 0.05 ; **P< 0.01 ; ***P< 0.001 ; "^s Non-significant

Larger SC were observed in autumn and in summer (25 and 26 cm) compared to winter and spring (23 cm). Probably, the seasonal fluctuation of fodder quality and quantity did have an influence on the SC. Dana *et al.* (2000) reported a reduced SC by 10 % on low quality diet in comparison to animals on a good quality diet. They explained that this could have been caused by loss of fat from scrotal tissue of rams maintained on poor quality diet. This is based on a report by Coulter and Kozub (1984) that a reduction in testicular size of Hereford and Angus bulls was caused by loss of fat in scrotal tissue. The rams at MRS had the highest SC (27 cm) and the rams at UNIZULU and Enqutshini had the lowest (22 and 23 cm) values. Scrotal circumference increased with age. The youngest rams with full set of milk teeth (< 15 months) had the smallest SC of 18 cm. The mature rams (three and four pairs of incisors) had the highest SC of 27 cm, whereas the rams in age groups of one and two pairs of incisors (P > .05) had an SC of 24 cm. The least-square means for interaction between age of sheep and the presence or absence of horns (Table 3.7) reflected that the difference on the SC between the horned and polled rams only occurred among young rams with full set of milk teeth (<15 months). Black rams had the lowest SC compared to rams with other colours (Table 3.7).

Source of variation	No	Lsm (cm)	s.e.
Summer	109	25.16	0.73 ^a
Autumn	83	26.10	0.60^{a}
Winter	153	23.12	0.57^{b}
Spring	136	22.76	0.56^{b}
r b			
UNIZULU	156	22.11	0.54^{b}
Engutshini	186	23.32	0.59^{a}
Makhathini	181	27.35	0.58^{a}
Owen Sithole	58	25.37	0.99^{b}
Milk set	284	18.00	0.49^{a}
One pair of Permanent incisor	84	24.32	0.67^{a}
Two pairs of permanent incisors	45	24.26	0.89^{b}
Three pairs of permanent incisors	54	27.34	0.80°
Four pairs of permanent incisors	114	27.58	0.59°
1 1			
Horned	236	24.85	0.55^{a}
Polled	345	23.72	0.51 ^b
Colour			
Brown	90	24.78	0.69^{a}
Black and white	58	22.36	0.82^{a}
Brown and white	158	24.33	0.53 ^a
Brown, black and white	31	25.39	1.04 ^a
Black	37	20.49	0.96 ^b
Dark brown	31	24.87	1.00^{a}
Black and brown	94	26.11	0.62^{a}
Tan	54	24.53	0.79^{a}
Tan and white	28	25.69	1.10^{a}
Year			
2000	41	27.32	1.32 ^a
2001	239	24.65	0.51 ^b
2002	161	23.17	0.57^{b}
2003	145	22.62	0.65 ^b
Age*horn			
11	92	20.33	0.68^{a}
12	192	15.67	0.49^{b}
21	43	24.54	0.87°
22	41	23.96	0.90°
31	25	24.64	1.18^{c}
32	23	23.89	1.18 ^c
41	25	27.43	0.99 ^d
42	60	27.25	0.87^{d}
51	54	27.33	0.79^{d}
52	60	27.82	0.75 ^d

Table 3.7 Least-square means and standard errors for scrotum circumference

 of Zulu sheep

3.6 Conclusion

Zulu sheep are a multi-coloured breed. The LBM of the males are higher than those of females, the difference in LBM between males and females increase with age of sheep. The rams are more affected in terms LW by change of their usual environment than the ewes. The highest LW and HG for mature Zulu rams was 38 kg and 80 cm, respectively whilst the ewes were 32 kg and 76cm. A difference of up to 12 kg can be observed between Zulu sheep of the same age in different populations. A study on genetic variation between and within the populations would be necessary to make conclusive statements on the findings from this study. Scientific research on how the change of environment affects the rams and the ewes would enlighten some of the observations made on this research. Observations on effect of dehorning Zulu sheep on LW performance may also explain some of the findings in this study. It can also be concluded from this study that although the Zulu sheep have varied ear length type, this character is not correlated to the LBM of Zulu sheep. The results of this study will be used as a benchmark for further studied to predict live weight using LBM as a tool for efficient measurements in rural areas. It is also envisaged that the results of this work could be used to support genetic analyses to determine genetic variation between and within these small populations to develop an effective conservation and utilization programme.

CHAPTER 4

DETERMINATION OF PREDICTION EQUATIONS FOR ESTIMATING BODY WEIGHT OF ZULU (NGUNI) SHEEP³

4.1 Abstract

Data on linear body measurements (LBM) of 403 sheep collected in three areas of KwaZulu-Natal were utilized to develop a prediction equation for live body weight of Zulu sheep. Data were collected on live weight (LW), heart girth (HG), wither height (WH) and scrotum circumference (SC) on sheep of all ages. The age of sheep was estimated by dentition. The analysis of variance showed that age and sex were important factors contributing to variation in LW of Zulu sheep. Phenotypic correlation coefficients and regression equations of LW on HG, WH and SC were computed within different age groups (milk set of teeth, one pair, two pairs and the three and four pairs of incisors). Low correlation coefficients (r = 0.21 - 0.48) between LW, HG and WH were found among the pregnant ewes. The relationship between LBM and LW was stronger (r = 0.66-0.86) for males than among females (r = 0.42-0.75). The cubic polynomial of HG was the best fit ($R^2 = 0.76$) for the live weight prediction of young sheep with milk set of teeth. The combination of HG and WH produced the best fit for the two tooth and above males and non-pregnant females. The LW prediction equations for pregnant females were not reliable ($R^2 =$ 0.05 -0.26). The SC was more precise ($R^2 = 0.61$ - 0.79) when estimating the live weight of young males (<15 - 22 month old) than of the older rams ($R^2 = 0$.23-0.56). It was concluded that LW of Zulu sheep can be reasonably estimated using the HG and WH. A table could be constructed for the farmers to estimate the LW of their animals.

4.2 Keywords

Live weight; correlation; sheep; regression.

³ Kunene N.W., Nesamvuni, A.E., Nsahlai, I.V., 2009. Determination of prediction equation for estimating body weight of Zulu (Nguni) sheep. Small ruminant Res. 84, 41-46.

4.3 Introduction

The Nguni sheep of Zululand (KwaZulu-Natal province) are called the Zulu sheep (Ramsay et al., 2000). This breed is indigenous and is kept mainly by rural livestock farmers in South Africa. The Zulu sheep are sources of food and for income generation. During a survey on livestock production in rural KwaZulu-Natal, the reasons given by communal farmers for keeping Nguni sheep, included the ability of the breed to resist many diseases and produce quality meat (Kunene and Fossey, 2006). In addition, Ramsay et al. (2000) recommended this breed as the best alternative for sustainable meat production in the rural areas because of their ability to tolerate external and internal parasites, tick-borne diseases and their good walking and foraging ability. Body weight is important for assessing the condition of the animal represents a criterion of selection. The dosage of medication during health care and the required amount of feed depends on the weight of the animal. Though body weight is an important economic trait, it is rarely measured by rural livestock farmers due to lack of weighing scales. Small scale farmers rely on guess-estimates of the animal's body weight, which add to inaccuracies in animal husbandry practices (Slippers et al., 2000). Often marketing of animals is customary based on visual assessment (Ojedapo et al., 2007). Thiruvenkadan (2005) highlighted that this problem could be overcome by regressing body weight on a number of body characteristics which can be measured easily. Such a method has been used by several authors for different species. The heart girth has been used to predict body weight in various species of some indigenous animals like the sheep of Cameroon, goats in West Africa and cattle in South Africa (Thys and Hardouin, 1991; Mayaka et al., 1995; Nesamvuni et al., 2000). It has been observed, however, that different models might be needed to predict body weight in different environmental conditions, body condition and breeds (Enevoldsen and Kristensen, 1997). The testicular growth and development was reported by Dunn (1955) to be closely related to male body size. Bongso et al. (1982) found that male goats with higher values of testicular parameters including scrotal circumference (SC) had higher body weights. Little work has been done on use of linear body measurements (LBM) or of scrotal circumference of Nguni sheep and their possible use for estimating body weight. The objectives of this study were (i) to estimate the phenotypic relationships among LW,
HG, WH and SC of the Zulu sheep, (ii) to derive prediction equations for live weight (LW) of the Zulu sheep using the heart girth (HG) and/or wither height (WH) and (iii) to establish the best regression model for estimating the LW of Zulu rams using the SC.

4.4 Materials and Methods

Data consisting of LW, HG, WH and SC records of 403 Zulu sheep of different ages were collected for this study. The sheep were reared at the University of Zululand (UNIZULU), Makhathini research station (MRS) and Enqutshini/KwaMthethwa community. These areas are located at 28°51'S:31°51'E. 25⁰27'S:32⁰10'E and 28⁰37'S:31⁰55'E respectively. The sheep were grazed on natural pastures. The dominating grass species in these areas were Hyparrhenia hirta, Pennisetum clandestinum and Panicum maximum and Sporobolus species, respectively. The age of animals was estimated by counting permanent incisors as described by Gatenby (1991). Data on body measurements were collected using a measuring tape as described by Fourie et al. (2002). The SC of the 133 male sheep was measured using the method described by Schoeman and Combrink (1987). The analysis included the least-squares analysis of variance conducted using the general linear model (GLM), the regression and Pearson correlation coefficients procedures of Minitab Inc. (1998). Preliminary results showed that sex and age strongly influenced the variation in LW of the Zulu sheep. The results showed that according to live weight, the age of Nguni sheep could be grouped into four classes; the milk set of teeth; one pair of incisors; two pairs of incisors; the three and four pairs of incisors as one group. The analysis of variance was done within these age groups. The model equation used for each age group was:

 $Y_{ijpr} = \mu + L_i + P_j + S_p + e_{ijpr}$

where:

Y_{ijpr}is the rth record of LW

 μ = effect common to all sheep

 L_i = effect of ith location (1 = UNIZULU, 2 = Enqutshini and 3 = Makhathini

 P_j = effect of j^{th} status of pregnancy (1 = pregnant and 2 = non-pregnant)

 $S_p = effect of p^{th} sex (1 male and 2 female)$

 $e_{ijpr} = random \ error$

Ages associated with dentition status were as follows: milk set of teeth = <15 months; one pair of incisors = 15 - 22 months; two pairs of incisors = 22-28 months; three and four pairs of incisors = > 28 months.

Since there were limited number of observations for the pregnant sheep (<15) among the group with milk set of teeth, the data of pregnant sheep in this group were excluded.

Prediction equations were developed for different age and/or sex groups according to results obtained from the analysis. The extent of multicollinearity was assessed using the variance inflation factor (VIF) of Minitab (1998). According to the Minitab (1998) manual if the VIF is >5-10, then the regression coefficients are poorly estimated. The following regression model was used:

$$Y_{i} = b_{0} + b_{1}X_{ik} + b_{2}X_{ik}^{2} + b_{3}X_{ik}^{3} + e_{i}$$

where;

 Y_i = observation on LW

 $b_o = intercept$

 b_1, b_2, b_3 = corresponding linear, quadratic and cubic regression coefficients;

 X_{ik} = body measurements k (HG, WH or SC) on the ith animal

 $e_i = residual error.$

The estimated LW equations were tested by randomly selected data using a procedure of Minitab (1998) and the randomly selected data were not included in the analysis.

4.5 Results and discussion

Table 4.1 indicates that the location and the status of pregnancy were the common factors causing variation to the body live weight of Zulu sheep of all ages. Sex had no influence on the variation of LW of the sheep with milk sets of teeth but was an important factor among the older age groups. Frandson and Elmer (1981) have clarified that in young males, the androgen (which has a growth and weight stimulating effect) is not released until the testes are well developed. This could partly be the cause of the non significant difference between the live weight of the

young Zulu rams and ewes with milk sets of teeth. Consequently, regression models for predicting LW of Zulu sheep of 15 months and above may better be developed within sex groups.

	1 mary 5		Ett of right block	5 101 Vull	ous uge groups
Number	of	Age	Sources	DF	LW Mean Square
observation	n (n)				(MS)
6	55	Milk set	Location	2	2314.40***
			Sex	1	88.80 ^{ns}
10	08	One pair	Location	2	2500.80***
			Pregnancy status	1	1046.50***
			Sex	1	586.40***
1	19	Two pairs	Location	2	1646.50***
		1	Pregnancy status	1	527.60***
			Sex	1	618.80***
1	11	Three and four	Location	2	6247.50***
		pairs	Pregnancy Status	1	5654.50***
		F ······	Sex	1	1279.50***
			-		

 Table 4.1
 Analysis of variance for LW of Nguni sheep for various age groups

*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, ^{ns} P>0.05

The Pearson correlation coefficients (r) for LW with HG, WH and SC (for males) were positive and ranged from 0.21 to 0.86 as shown in Table 4.2. The highly significant (P < .001) and stronger relationship (r = 0.42-0.86) between LW, HG and WH were obtained among the rams and the non pregnant ewes indicating that the LBM could be reliable estimators of LW for such animals. Lower correlation coefficients (r = 0.21-0.48) were found between the LBM and body weight of the pregnant ewes. Low correlation is a confirmation of non-suitability of HG and WH as a measure of LW of pregnant females in Zulu sheep. Furthermore, it is worth noting that in overall, the relationship between the LW and LBM is weaker in females than in males. Hassan and Ciroma (1990) and Fajemilehin and Salako (2008) also reported higher correlation coefficients for males than females in most cases between LW and WH or HG or Body length of Red Sokoto goats in different age groups and West African Dwarf goats, respectively.

The relationship between LW and SC of the mature rams with three pairs of incisors and above was not strong (r = 0.44 - 0.49) as between these parameters

among younger rams with one pair and two pairs of teeth (r = 0.56 - 0.74). Fourie *et al.* (2002) reported medium correlations between SC and HG (0.47) or LW (0.50) of young Dorper rams (4 - 6 months of age) in Northern Cape and Free State in South Africa.

Tables 4.3- 4.6 show the regression equations predicting LW of Zulu sheep at different age categories. All the models of LW computed with HG and WH combination had lower VIFs than the proposed cut-off range of 5-10 by Minitab (1998) thus indicating that there was no serious collinearity problem among the two variables.

It is evident that for the young Zulu sheep (< 15 months) the HG is a more accurate predictor of LW compared to the WH (Table 4.3). The coefficient of determination (R^2) based on the use of linear HG was 0.71 but the third degree polynomial of HG increased R^2 to 0.76. Atta and El Khidir (2004) also reported an increased coefficient of determination based on curvilinear functions when estimating the live weight using HG of two to eight month old Nilotic sheep. Lawrence and Fowler (1997) reported that the relationship between LW and HG is curvilinear for animals growing over a wide weight range. Goe et al. (2001) suggested that higher order polynomial equations are more appropriate for predicting the weight of growing animals. Although the use of WH produced fairly good estimates ($R^2 = 0.64 - 0.67$) of LW for the sheep with milk set of teeth, these results indicate that more parameters would need to be added to WH to obtain a higher R^2 . The LW regression equation constructed from HG and WH increased the coefficient of determination to 0.73. Thiruvenkadan (2005) obtained higher R^2 when he used WH and HG compared to the use of WH or HG alone to compute LW equation of 1-12 months old Kanni-Adu goats in India.

Age	No. of		HG	WH	L
_	observations				W
Milk set of teeth	65	WH	0.86***		
		LW	0.84***	0.80***	
One pair of incisors	31	WH	0.77***		
Males		LW	0.79***	0.78***	
		SC	0.56***	0.69***	0.72***
One pair of incisors	36	WH	0.39**		
Pregnant females		LW	0.48**	0.43*	
One pair of incisors	41	WН	0 60***		
Non-pregnant females	71	LW	0.75***	0.67***	
Two pairs of incisors	35	WH	0.76***		
Males		LW	0.86***	0.84***	
		SC	0.74***	0.68***	0.73***
Two pairs of incisors	39	WH	0.35**		
Pregnant females		LW	0.33**	0.43**	
Two pairs of incisors	45	WП	0 52***		
Non-pregnant females	45	LW	0.55	0 56***	
rton prognant fornales		LI	0.00	0.20	
Three and four pairs of	30	WH	0.66***		
incisors		LW	0.75***	0.78***	
Males		SC	0.47***	0.44***	0.49***
Three and four pairs of	31	WH	0.25***		
incisors Pregnant females		LW	0.42***	0.21***	
Three and four pairs of	50	WH	0.42***		
incisors Non-pregnant females		LW	0.65***	0.45***	

Table 4.2 Phenotypic correlations between live weight (LW), heart girth (HG), wither height (WH) and scrotal circumference (SC) of Zulu (Nguni) sheep in different age groups

*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P< 0.001

Age	Model	Intercept	Linear	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic	Adj.R ²
group							
Milk	LW_1	-21.4	0.40 HG	0.28 WH			0.73 ^a
set	LW_2	-17.30	0.58 HG				0.71
teeth	LW_3	33.42	-1.98 HG		$4.02 \times 10^{-2} \text{HG}^2$	$-1.97 \times 10^{-4} \text{ HG}^{3}$	0.76
	LW_4	-21.8	0.73 WH				0.64
	LW_5	109.53	-6.83 WH		$0.14 \mathrm{WH}^2$	$-8.32 \times 10^{-4} \text{WH}^3$	0.67

Table 4.3 Regression equations for predicting live weight of Zulu sheep with milk

 set of teeth using heart girth and wither height

 $\overline{^{a}VIF} = 3.3$

Tables 4.4- 4.6 show that the linear body measurements were not a good estimate of LW of pregnant ewes. R^2 was found to range from 0.05 to 0.26 suggesting that the change in LW of pregnant sheep does not correspond to the change in LBM. Mohammed and Amin (1996) reported a high relationship (r = 0.71) between LW and HG of adult does at advanced pregnancy in Sahel does. However, for this study, the level of pregnancy of the ewes was not recorded and therefore the fact that the females at different levels of pregnancy within the different age groups are mixed, may have contributed to the two parameters being less variable for body weight.

Based on the linear and polynomial regression models, the live weight changes with linear body measurements of rams and non-pregnant Zulu sheep with one or more pairs of incisors. These changes were strongly predictable in males with R^2 ranging from 0.49 to 0.81 (Tables 4.4 -4.6). The coefficients of determination for the estimates of LW among females that were not pregnant ranged from 0.20 to 0.64. In both genders, the use of heart girth and wither height increased R^2 (0.54 - 0.81) compared to the use of simple or multiple regression of heart girth or wither height on body weight ($R^2 = 0.20 - 0.75$). However, linear and the polynomials of HG were considered to be fairly good estimates ($R^2 = 0.47$ - 0.75). When working with Nilotic sheep Atta and El Khidir (2004) observed that the prediction of live body weight based on heart girth increased the coefficient of determination compared to the use of wither height. Lawrence and Fowler (1997) reported that in farm animals, the skeletal measurements (wither height and body length) were less variable for body

weight compared to heart girth. Thiruvenkadan (2005) attributed such findings to the fact that the height is due to growth of bones whose function of increase in weight is probably not proportionate to increase in body weight. He suggested that the higher association of body weight with HG was possibly due to a larger contribution in body weight by the girth consisting of bones, muscles and viscera.

The fact that higher R^2 were realized in males than in females may be explained by the likely difference of the fat deposition in the two sexes as suggested by Bassano *et al.* (2001). However, contrary to these results Adeyinka and Mohammed (2006) found the prediction equations of live weight using heart girth, wither height and body length to be more accurate in females than in male Nigerian Sekoto goats. Similar observations were reported by Thys and Hardouin (1991) on sheep in Cameroon but they attributed their findings to the distribution of ages in their sex groups. The accuracy of LW estimates from HG and/or WH decreased with the age of ewes from 15 months and of males from 22 months.

Age group	Model	Intercept	Linear	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic	Adj			
							R^2			
One pair	LW_1	-56.80	0.63HG	0.63 WH			0.73^{a}			
of incisor	LW_2	-45.90	1.02HG				0.63			
(males)	LW_3	-6.24	048HG		7.17 x 10 ⁻³ HG ²		0.65			
	LW_4	-47.70	1.11WH				0.60			
	LW_5	683.67	-33.37WH		0.54WH^2	$-2.81 \times 10^{-3} \text{WH}^3$	0.62			
One pair of incisors (non- pregnant females)	$\begin{array}{c} LW_1\\ LW_2\\ LW_3\\ LW_4\\ LW_5\end{array}$	-35.50 -24.40 -28.76 -24.23 767.62	0.52HG 0.69HG 0.81HG 0.80WH 41.27WH	0.40 WH	-9.36 x 10 ⁻⁴ HG ² 0.74 WH ²	-4.29x10 ⁻³ WH ³	0.64 ^b 0.57 0.57 0.45 0.50			
One pair of incisors (pregnant females)	$\begin{array}{c} LW_1\\ LW_2\\ LW_3\\ LW_4\\ LW_5\end{array}$	5.51 -3.40 99.47 -4640.05 23.60	0.40HG 0.45HG -2.16HG 183.60HG 0.12WH	-0.08WH	0.65 x 10 ⁻² HG ² -2.40 HG ²	1.05x10 ⁻² HG ³	0.20 ^c 0.26 0.25 0.18 0.15			

Table 4.4 Regression equations for predicting live weight of Zulu sheep with one pair of incisors based on heart girth, wither height

 a VIF = 1.9, b VIF = 1.4, c VIF = 1.2

Age	Model	Intercept	Linear	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic	AdJ R ²
Two	LW ₁	-49 70	0.53 HG	0.65WH			0.81 ^a
pairs of	LW_2	-34.00	0.88 HG				0.73
incisors	LW ₃	433.28	-18.95HG		0.28 HG^2	$-1.28 \times 10^{-3} \text{HG}^{3}$	0.75
Males	LW_4	-46.80	1.22 WH				0.70
	LW_5	-136.71	4.03 WH		$-2.17 \times 10^{-2} WH^2$		0.72
	LW_6	873.97	-44.14 WH		0.73 WH^2	$-3.94 \times 10^{-3} \text{WH}^3$	0.75
Two							
pairs of	LW_1	-38.00	0.55 HG	0.40WH			0.54^{b}
incisors	LW_2	-24.30	0.70 HG		_		0.51
(non-	LW_3	-232.69	9.60 HG		-0.12 HG^2	5.95x10 ⁻⁴ HG ³	0.53
pregnant	LW_4	-19.70	0.74 WH		2	2 2	0.32
females)	LW 5	343.64	-15.97 WH		-0.25 WH^2	$1.27 \times 10^{-3} \text{ WH}^{3}$	0.34
-							0.1.50
Two	LW_1	17.50	0.08 HG	0.10WH			0.16
pairs of	LW_2	21.30	0.12 HG				0.15
incisors	LW_3	-245.76	6.97 HG		$-4.38 \times 10^{-2} \text{HG}^2$		0.19
(pregnant	LW_4	-989.56	35.21 HG		-0.40 HG^2	1.48 x 10 ⁻⁵ HG ⁵	0.21
females)	LW_5	21.80	0.13 WH				0.16

Table 4.5 Regression equations predicting live weight of Zulu sheep with two pairs of incisors based on heart girth, wither height

^a VIF = 2.3, ^b VIF = 1.3, ^c VIF = 1.2

The trend shown in Tables 4.4 - 4.6 implies that the relationship between growth and LW decreased with the increase in age. This may be explained by the fact that at maturity, linear body measurements are essentially constant, thereby reflecting heritable size skeleton as suggested by Jeffrey and Berg (1972) and Fajemilehin and Salako (2008). Atta and El Khidir (2004) found similar estimates of LW equations using HG or WH for both males and female lambs of Nilotic sheep aged two to eight months but these estimates were different for the adult sheep. But also, the fact that the condition of the animals is not usually uniform can also affect the accuracy of LW prediction models based on body measurements like the HG. This could be a consequence of poor protein and energy nutrition. Goe *et al.* (2001) observed that regression equations of LW using heart girth of Ethiopian working oxen were more accurate when the oxen were heaviest.

The results in Table 4.7 indicate that SC is more reliable for estimating the LW of young Zulu sheep rams (with milk set and one pair of teeth) than for older rams. It may be necessary to include more variables to SC to get a reliable LW equation for the adult rams. In their work Raji *et al.* (2008) found R^2 to be 0 .414 when using the SC alone to determine the LW of Borno white goats, however, when they included more variables ie. scrotal length and testicular weight, R^2 increased to 0.625. Although in these results the coefficients of determination were slightly higher for the polynomial than those of the simple linear regression models using SC, the differences were minimal. Hence both types of equations can be used to best estimate the live body weight of Zulu sheep aged 22 months and below.

1					0		
	Model	Intercept	Linear	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic	Adj R ²
Males	LW_1	-56.20	0.54HG	0.80 WH			0.66 ^a
	LW_2	-35.60	0.93 HG				0.49
	LW_3	941.79	-36.11 HG		$0.47 \mathrm{HG}^2$	1.93x10 ⁻³ HG ³	0.51
	LW_4	-40.50	1.17 WH				0.55
	LW_4	-61.11	1.78 WH		$-4.5 \times 10^3 WH^2$		0.56
Three and four pairs (Non pregnant females)	LW ₁ LW ₂ LW ₃ LW ₄ LW ₅	-35.00 -25.00 -0.02 -8.47 843.12	0.66HG 0.74 HG 0.06HG 0.61 WH -39.14WH	0.25 WH	4.55x10 ⁻³ HG ² -0.62WH ²	3.15x10 ⁻³ WH ³	0.54^{b} 0.48 0.47 0.20 0.23
Three and	LW_1	-10.40	0.46HG	0.13 WH			0.18 ^c
four pairs	LW_2	-4.63	0.49 HG		-2.29x10 ⁻² HG ²		0.17
(pregnant	LW_3	-144.62	4.07HG		1.30HG ²	$-5.64 \times 10^{-3} \text{HG}^{3}$	0.19
females)	LW ₄	2506.78	-98.50 HG				0.23
	LW ₅	17.80	0.25 WH				0.05
	LW ₆	627.92	-26.80WH		$0.40 \mathrm{WH}^2$	$-1.90 \times 10^{-3} WH^3$	0.07

Table 4.6 Regression equations predicting live weight of Zulu sheep with three and four pairs of incisors based on heart girth, wither height

^a VIF = 2.2, ^b VIF = 1.5, ^cVIF = 2.2

Serotum enedimetenee								
	Model	Intercept	Linear	Quadratic	Cubic	Adj R ²		
Milk set of teeth $n = 37$	LW ₁ LW ₂	-1.01 3.31	1.08SC 0.19 SC	$0.05 \mathrm{SC}^2$	-9.25x 10 ⁻⁴ SC ³	0.78 0.80		
One pair of incisors n=31	LW ₁ LW ₂	-9.66 70.68	1.53 SC -8.47 SC	0.40 SC ²	$-5.12 \times 10^{-3} \text{SC}^3$	0.61 0.64		
Two pairs of incisors n = 35	LW 1 LW 2	-13.0 43.80	1.78 SC -3.27SC	0.11 SC ²		0.49 0.56		
Three and four pairs of teeth n = 30	LW ₁ LW ₂	10.50 38.05	0.95 SC -4.21 SC	0.23 SC ²	-3.12x10 ⁻³ SC ³	0.23 0.38		

Table 4.7 Regression equations predicting live weight of Zulu rams based on

 Scrotum circumference

Table 4.8 shows the predicted against the observed LW of the Zulu sheep at various age groups and locations for an independent data set based on equations with high R^2 . The predicted and observed are reasonably close to warrant the use of this equation set to predict live weight particularly where other methods of measuring live weight are lacking.

			Obs	served				
								Predicted
SC	Age	Area	Sex	HG	WH	LW	Equation/equations	
	1	2	2	66	60	23.45	Cubic polynomial of HG	22.82
	1	3	2	62	56	19.00	Cubic polynomial of HG	18.24
	2	1	2	66	61	23.50	HG and WH linear combination	23.21
	1	3	1	54	50	11.50	Cubic polynomial of HG	12.70
	4	3	1	81	73	44.00	HG and WH linear combination	46.14
	3	1	2	63	56	20.00	HG and WH linear combination	20.90
	5	2	2	76	60	32.00	HG and WH linear combination	30.16
	5	3	2	75	61	29.50	HG and WH linear combination	29.75
	2	1	2	66	61	23.00	HG and WH linear combination	22.00
	4	3	1	70	66	29.50	HG and WH linear combination	30.30
	2	2	2	58	57	17.00	Cubic polynomial of HG	17.46
19	1	2	1	63	54	19.00	Cubic polynomial of SC	18.63
26	2	3	1	75	63	31.00	Cubic polynomial of SC	30.87
18	1	2	1	62	52	18.34	Linear regression of SC	18.43
19	1	1	1	61	52	18.00	Cubic polynomial of SC	18.53
24	1	2	1	69	60	23.50	Cubic polynomial of SC	23.88

 Table 4.8
 Observed and Estimated LW for Zulu sheep

SC = Scrotum circumference, HG = Heart girth, WH = Wither height, LW= live weight

4.6 Conclusion

The regression coefficients of HG and WH or HG to LW have shown that such parameters could be used to estimate the body weight of the Zulu sheep. From these results, it is safe to infer that the prediction of LW from Zulu sheep with milk set of teeth can be best estimated from the equation of cubic polynomial of HG whereas the LW of Zulu sheep with one pair of incisors and older excluding pregnant females would be best estimated from the equations obtained from the linear regression using HG and WH. Conversion tables can be established and be given to rural livestock farmers for use. Research work on estimating LW for pregnant ewes, using HG and WH at different stages of pregnancy may give more insight if these parameters can be used to estimate the LW of such Zulu sheep.

CHAPTER 5

GENETIC AND PHENOTYPIC DIVERSITY IN ZULU SHEEP POPULATIONS: IMPLICATIONS FOR EXPLOITATION AND CONSERVATION⁴

5.1 Abstract

Zulu sheep are indigenous to KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa and provide food security for traditional farmers. Through traditional selection they adapted to the climatic conditions of KwaZulu-Natal. The goal of this study was to use genetic diversity and existing phenotypic data for the breed to argue exploitation opportunities and conservation needs. Three populations (52 Zulu sheep) were included and random amplified polymorphic DNA profiles were used to provide genetic diversity data. A similarity matrix consisting of 2744 RAPD bands (~46.0% polymorphic) was constructed. Complete linkage analysis indicated lowest genetic similarity (88.96%) within the Makhathini population, greatest (94.83%) in the UNIZULU population and intermediate (91.38%) in the KwaMthethwa population. Similar phenotypic similarity was observed for UNIZULU and Makhathini populations (58.75% and 54.63% respectively). Complete linkage dendrograms for genetic and linear body measurement data also show that UNIZULU and Makhathini populations are more closely related to each other than to the KwaMthethwa. This study demonstrated usefulness of RAPD profiling for genetic data for Zulu sheep⁵. It also demonstrated that phenotypic and genetic data could be sensibly combined into a single database for this sheep breed. This is important since such information will be critical for decisions regarding Zulu sheep breed exploitation and conservation.

5.2 Keywords: Zulu sheep, conservation, genetic characterisation, RAPDs, linear size traits

⁴ Kunene, N.W., Bezuidenhout, C.C., Nsahlai, I.V. 2009. Genetic and phenotypic diversity in Zulu sheep populations: Implications for exploitation and conservation. Small Ruminant Res: 84, 100 -107.

⁵ Initial genetic diversity results were presented at the World Congress of Animal Production, Cape Town 23 – 28 November 2008 as a poster presentation.

5.3 Introduction

In developing countries, indigenous sheep and goat breeds (small ruminants) are important for subsistence and socio-economic livelihoods of rural and peri-urban communities (Dovie *et al.*, 2006; Kunene and Fossey, 2006; Kosgey and Okeyo, 2007). It is estimated that 20% of animal breeds are at risk of extinction. Furthermore, it is estimated that 70% of animal breeds for which no extinction risk data is available is in the developing world.

Indigenous sheep breeds are a valuable source of genetic material due to adaptation to local, sometimes, harsh environmental conditions, nutritional fluctuations and resistance to diseases and parasites (Nsoso *et al.*, 2004; Kunene and Fossey, 2006; Kosgey and Okeyo, 2007; Galal *et al.*, 2008). It is estimated that globally 14% of sheep breeds already have become extinct. By 2000, 147 existing African sheep breeds were recognized (Taberlet *et al.*, 2008). It was estimated by FAO (2007) that already 180 sheep breeds were extinct world-wide and 5 of these were from the African continent. Reasons for indigenous sheep breeds becoming extinct could be ascribed to economic (cross-breeding with industrial breeds, abandoning traditional breeds and change to the presently more competitive industrial breeds) or socio-political reasons (preserving genetic resources of domestic breeds does not have the same image as preserving wild animals such as the black rhino or the cheetah (Taberlet *et al.*, 2008). Several recent studies are arguing for the conservation of indigenous genetic resources, including sheep breeds (Dovie *et al.*, 2006; Du Toit, 2008; Gizaw, 2008; Mariante *et al.*, 2009; Taberlet *et al.*, 2008).

Zulu sheep is one of the Nguni sheep breeds. The ancestors of this breed were brought to the east coast of South Africa (between 200 – 400 AD) by the Nguni people (Kruger, 2001; Du Toit, 2008). Zulu sheep are adapted to the high rain fall and humid KwaZulu-Natal climatic conditions and can tolerate parasites indigenous to this region (Kruger, 2001; Kunene and Fossey, 2006; Du Toit, 2008). The morphological characteristics of the sheep breed had been described elsewhere (Kruger, 2001; Kunene and Fossey, 2006; Kunene *et al.*, 2007) and could potentially be ascribed to a broad ancestral gene pool (Kruger, 2001). It could be argued that this broad gene pool may harbour genes necessary for future adaptations. Furthermore, it has also been reported by Kruger (2001) that the numbers of these sheep are rapidly declining. At round table talks in Paris, prominent scientists warned that indigenous domestic animal breeds (including Zulu sheep) may face extinction unless immediate conservation measurements are taken (Du Toit, 2008). However, there is no extensive database for phenotypic and genetic characterisation of this breed (Kunene and Fossey, 2006; Kunene *et al.*, 2007; 2008). Some general morphological characteristics and utilization data (Kruger, 2001; Kunene and Fossey, 2006), linear body measurements (Kunene *et al.*, 2007) and preliminary genetic characterisation (Buduram, 2004; Kunene *et al.*, 2008) is available. These data are insufficient and there is a need to further expand on it.

A number of DNA profiling techniques have been developed for estimating genetic polymorphisms in populations. The techniques include restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLP), microsatellites, single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP's) and random amplified polymorphic DNA sequences (RAPDs). These methods are polymerase chain reaction (PCR) based and have been used in sheep genetic diversity studies (Kantanen et al., 1995; Buduram, 2004; Dalvit et al., 2008; Mariante et al., 2009) and mapping of the sheep genome (Cushwa et al., 1996; Maddox and Cockett, 2007). RAPD analysis is a cost effective DNA profiling method that may be useful for initial screening of populations for genetic diversity. Random DNA fragments are amplified by PCR using short (10 bp) oligonucleotides (Williams *et al.*, 1990). The method is not labour intensive and also not technically challenging. Infrastructure and equipment required for successful RAPD studies are minimal, making this technique attractive as an initial method for screening for DNA based diversity. RAPD analysis had been successfully used in sheep genetic diversity studies (Kantanen et al., 1995; Ali, 2003; Kumar et al., 2003; Devrim et al., 2007; Elmaci et al., 2007; Dalvit et al., 2008; Mariante et al., 2009).

The aim of this study was to use the genetic and phenotypic characterisation data to argue exploitation opportunities and the need for conservation of Zulu sheep. Objectives were to (i) provide preliminary genetic diversity data for Zulu sheep and (ii) link this data to some existing linear body measurement (phenotypic) data.

5.4 Materials and Methods

5.4.1 Blood samples and location of populations

Blood samples (5-10 ml) were collected from jugular vein into EDTA containing tubes. Zulu sheep were from the three populations (Figure 5.1): Makhathini Research Station (27°38'15; 32°10'E; 16 individuals), University of Zululand (UNIZULU: 28°51'S;31°51'E; 19 individuals) and KwaMthethwa community (28°37'S; 31°55'E; 19 individuals). The Zulu goats (2 individuals) were from the Owen Sithole Agricultural College farm (27°38'S; 31°56'E). The Merino sheep (3 individuals) were reared at a farm at Melmoth (28°58'S; 31°40' E).



Figure 5.1 Geographical locations of the sampled sheep and goat populations in the areas of Kwazulu-Natal (South Africa).

5.4.2 DNA isolation and RAPD-PCR analysis

DNA was extracted from 100µl of blood using a modified procedure of Sharma *et al.* (2000) and RAPD-PCR amplifications performed using the procedure of Williams *et al.* (1990). Primers were supplied by Operon technologies (Cologne, Germany), and the PCR reagents by Fermentas (US). Twenty one random oligonucleotide primers were screened. RAPD-PCR amplifications were carried in a 25µl reaction mixture containing 12.5µl of 2XPCR master mix (0.05U/µl Taq polymerase, 4mM MgCl₂, and 0.4mm dNTPs; Fermentas, US), 50pmole primer, 100ng DNA and additional 2U of *Taq* DNA polymerase (Fermentas, US) and 4mM of MgCl₂ (Fermentas, US). The PCR reaction consisted of an initial denaturing step at 95°C for 300 seconds, followed by annealing at 36°C for 30 seconds. This was followed by 35 cycles of amplification at 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 36°C and extension at 72°C for 60 seconds. A final extension at 72°C for 300 seconds was also included. PCRs were conducted in a Hybaid OMN E- thermal cycler (Hybaid, UK). Amplified segments were resolved on 1.5% (^w/_v) agarose gels stained with ethidium bromide.

Images were captured using a Gene Genius bio-imager and GeneSnap software (SynGene, UK). A 100bp DNA ladder (O'RangeRuler, 100bp Fermentas, US) was used as molecular size marker.

5.4.3 Statistical analysis

RAPD-PCR profiles were compared and analysed using GeneTools (version 3.00.22) software (SynGene, UK). Presence, absence and intensity of band data were obtained, exported to Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Office, 2003) and used to generate a data matrix. The data matrix was analysed using Minitab software (1998). Unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA) and complete linkage algorithms were used to analyze the similarity matrix data. Relationships between the various profiles were expressed as dendrograms.

5.4.4 Phenotypic measurements

Data on linear body measurements of Zulu sheep populations were first published in Kunene *et al.* (2007). The data used in this article were extracted from the mentioned article.

5.5 Results

Originally 21 RAPD primers from Operon were screened. Six primers listed in Table 5.1 below (OPA 1, OPA 10, OPA 16, OPA 18, OPB 1 and OPB 17) gave clear polymorphic bands that were reproducible under similar conditions. Control reactions that did not have either primer or template DNA did not show any amplification products. For the 52 Zulu sheep, 3 Merino and 2 Zulu goat representatives, a total of 2744 scorable bands were amplified. Of these 1262 (~46.0%) were polymorphic. Each band was assumed to correspond to one locus. The banding profiles, total number of bands as well as number of polymorphic bands were primer dependant. The number of amplified loci per individual varied from 4-9, with a size range varying from 0.22 to 2.00 kb (Table 5.1). Such size ranges of RAPD bands were also observed in previous studies (Ali, 2003; Kumar *et al.*, 2003; Devrim *et al.*, 2007).

						/
No	Primer	Sequence 5'-3'	C+G %	Total	Polymorphic	Bands size
				number	Bands	range (kb)
				of scored		
				bands		
1	OPA 01	CAG GCC CTT C	70	436	94	0.24 - 0.90
2	OPA 10	GTG ATC GCA G	60	581	296	0.24 - 1.24
3	OPA 16	AGC CAG CGA A	60	310	139	0.22 - 1.30
4	OPA 18	AGG TGA CCG T	60	577	349	0.28 - 1.20
5	OPB 01	GTT TCG CTC C	60	411	240	0.34 - 2.00
6	OPB 17	AGG GAA CGA G	60	429	144	0.30 - 1.30
		Total		2744	1262	

Table 5.1 List of RAPD primers used in determining genetic similarity within andamong three Zulu sheep populations. (C = cytosine; G = guanine; kb = kilobase)

Figures 5.2 and 5.3 are examples gels that were analysed. It shows the range of bands as well as differences and similarities. Figure 5.2 shows RAPD profiles of the Zulu sheep, Merino and Zulu goats that were obtained using the primers OPA 10 and OPA 16. From this figure it is evident that the goat profiles were different from the

sheep profiles. On the other hand, the Merino profiles were similar to the Zulu sheep ones. In the profiles some species specific bands were observed while others were common to both sheep and goats (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2 RAPD profiles generated from Zulu sheep DNA using primers OPA 10 (A) and OPA 16 (B). Lanes 1-3 represents Merinos, lanes 4-6 Zulu sheep from KwaMthethwa, lanes 7-8 Zulu goats, lanes 9-12 Zulu sheep from UNIZULU and lanes 13-14 Zulu sheep from Makhathini. Lane M represents the molecular size marker (O'RangeRuler, 100bp Fermentas, US).

Figure 5.3 shows the RAPD profiles generated by primers OPA 01, OPA 18, OPB 1 and OPB 17. Several polymorphic bands are visible in particular profiles of OPA 18 and OPB 01. Size distribution data for all these profiles are summarized in Table 5.1. Present/absent and intensity data were used to construct a similarity matrix that was subjected to UPGMA as well as complete linkage analyses. Resultant dendrograms are depicted in Figure 5.4.

Dendrograms in Figure 5.4 shows that Zulu goats and Merinos form out-groups to the Zulu sheep representatives. Although these dendrograms were based on two different algorithms their topology regarding the relationships between the Zulu sheep populations on the one hand and the out-group on the other, is the same. However, a conflict exists between the relationship of the UNIZULU population to the other two populations as depicted by the UPGMA and the complete linkage dendrograms (Figure 5.4). According to the UPGMA dendrogram the UNIZULU population is more closely related to the KwaMthethwa population. This makes sense because the UNIZULU population was founded in 1995 with individuals from the KwaMthethwa population (Mr. Du Toit, 2006, farm manager University of Zululand, personal communication). This relationship was also demonstrated when a smaller number of Zulu sheep representatives (27) were used for RAPDs analysis and the data were analysed using complete linkage (Kunene *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 5.3 RAPD fingerprints generated from Zulu sheep DNA using primers OPA 01, OPA18, OPB 01 and OPB 17. Only Zulu sheep representatives are shown. The first lane in each of the profiles represents the molecular size marker (O'RangeRuler, 100bp Fermentas,US).



Figure 5.4 Dendrograms showing relationship of Zulu sheep populations. Dendrogram A is based on the UPGMA algorithm and dendrogram B based on the complete linkage algorithm. ZC represents the KwaMthethwa population, ZU the UNIZULU population and ZM the Makhathini population. The code GC represents Zulu goats and M merinos. Percentage similarities for the various clusters are also indicted.

The complete linkage algorithm is a more robust algorithm than the UPGMA. For the data set in the present study it (complete linkage) indicates a closer relationship between the UNIZULU and the Makhathini populations. This relationship was unexpected. However, to test this observation linear body measurement data from Kunene *et al.* (2007) were subjected to UPGMA and complete linkage analyses. Figure 5.5 is the complete linkage dendrogram and it demonstrates that UNIZULU and Makhathini populations are closer related to each other than to the KwaMthethwa populations. This observation needs further investigation since it could have implications when conservation, population management and breeding decisions are to be made. Furthermore, what is evident in

Figure 5.5 is that in all three population clusters, three characters (hearth girth, live weight and wither height) formed a sub-cluster and the character for ear length formed a separate branch to this cluster.



Figure 5.5 Dendrogram showing clusters based on linear body measurements of Zulu sheep in the three populations. ZC represents the KwaMthethwa population, ZU the UNIZULU population and ZM the Makhathini population. The five parameters that were measured include heart girth (HG), wither height (WH), live weight (LW), scrotum circumference (SC) and ear length (EL).

When the percentage similarities for the various populations were taken at the point where the ear length and the three mentioned characters (hearth girth, live weight and wither height) branched (Figure 5.5), it was observed that percentage similarities were smaller in Makhathini (54.63%) and UNIZULU (58.75%) populations compared to the KwaMthethwa (62.47%) population. However, when one considers clusters based on only the hearth girth, live weight and wither height, then it emerges that the intra-population similarities of all three populations are close, ranging from 88.73% to 91.15%. In these population clusters, scrotum circumference, a male characteristic, formed a separate branch in UNIZULU and KwaMthethwa populations (Figure 5.5)

Table 5.2 also show mean linear body measurements extracted from the data of Kunene *et al.* (2007). In this table it is illustrated that, among the three Zulu sheep populations, there were variations in linear body measurements. Various phenotypic body measurements were significantly higher in the Makhathini population compared to the other two populations. UNIZULU population had significantly lower values for live weight, heart girth, wither height and scrotum circumference measurements when compared to KwaMthethwa and Makhathini populations.

Furthermore, genetic similarity is also consistently higher in the UNIZULU population compared to the KwaMthethwa and Makhathini populations. Genetic similarity in the Makhathini population was the lowest (Table 5.2).

Table 5.2 A summary of linear body measurements and genetic similarity data among the three Zulu sheep populations. Linear body measurements (live weight, heart girth, wither height and scrotum circumference) are least-square means and ear length are percentage observed. These values were adapted from Kunene *et al.* (2007).

	UNIZULU	KwaMthethwa	Makhathini
Live weight	$22.76^{a} \pm 0.44$	$28.54^{\rm b} \pm 0.50$	$34.28^{\circ} \pm 0.44$
	N=843	N=874	N=652
Heart girth	$68.67^{a} \pm 0.50$	$72.58^{b} \pm 0.57$	$75.48^{\circ} \pm 0.51$
fleatt gitti	N = 8.42	12.36 ± 0.37 N-974	13.40 ± 0.51 N=652
	IN=045	11-0/4	IN=032
Wither height	$58.04^{a} \pm 0.34$	$59.84^{b} \pm 0.42$	$64.58^{\circ} \pm 0.42$
	N=843	N=874	N=652
	11 010		11 002
	00 118 + 0 54	a_2 a_2 b_1 a_2 a_3	$a \pi a c h + a c a$
Scrotum circumference	$22.11^{\circ} \pm 0.54$	$23.32^{\circ} \pm 0.59$	$2/.35^{\circ} \pm 0.58$
	N=156	N=186	N=181
^d Far length size	N=86	N=89	N=253
% Far buds	11 63	2 25	7 12
% Small	15.12	10.11	13.83
% Medium	30.23	23.60	27.67
% Large	43.02	64.05	51.38
^e Complete linkage	88 73	91.15	90.04
% nhenotypic similarity	00.75	71.15	J0.04
^f Complete linkage	58 75	62 47	54 63
% phenotypic similarity	36.75	02.47	54.05
76 phenotypic similarity			
	06.26	05.45	02.40
UPGMA	96.36	95.45	92.49
% genetic similarity			
Complete linkage	94.83	91.38	88.96
% genetic similarity			

 a,b,c row means with common superscript do not differ significantly (P>0.05). See Kunene *et al.* (2007) for details.

^dSmall (3> <6 cm); medium (6> <9cm); large (9> up to 14 cm)

^ebased on heart girth, live weight and wither height only.

^fbased on heart girth, live weight, wither height, ear length and scrotum circumference

5.5 Discussion

In this study genetic diversity data, based on RAPD profiles, were presented for three Zulu sheep populations. Two of these were populations at commercial and research stations and one a population from a community (KwaMthethwa). The populations were exposed to different environmental and feeding conditions (Kunene et al., 2007). From the results it was evident that the genetic diversity within the UNIZULU population was less than the KwaMthethwa and Makhathini populations. However, cluster analysis (complete linkage analysis) of the genetic data demonstrated a close relationship between the UNIZULU and Makhathini populations. These populations are both at research stations. What was further evident among the three populations was that genetic similarity was the lowest in the Makhathini population and the greatest in the UNIZULU population. Previous studies that used DNA profiling to study sheep genetics were concerned with phylogenetic relationships of sheep (Appa Rao et al., 1996) and the relationship of sheep breeds in various parts of the world (Kantanen et al., 1995; Appa Rao et al., 1996; Ali, 2003; Kumar et al., 2003; Devrim et al., 2007; Elmaci et al., 2007; Mariante et al., 2009). Kantanen et al. (1995) was concerned with the application of RAPD analysis to cattle and sheep breeds. In their study Appa Rao et al. (1996) were interested in finding genetic markers in farm animals. They demonstrated a similarity coefficient between indigenous Indian goats and sheep to be 0.34. In our study the similarity index between Zulu sheep and goats could be extrapolated to 0.36 based on complete linkage analysis. This latter value was based on the genome of only 2 Zulu goat representatives and should be treated with caution.

Ali (2003) worked on genetic relationship of Egyptian sheep breeds, Kumar *et al.* (2003) with Indian sheep breeds and Devrim *et al.* (2007) as well as Elmaci *et al.* (2007) with Turkish ones. RAPD analysis was useful in all these studies detecting inter- and intra breed variations. Furthermore, Mariante *et al.* (2009) in a review mentioned how RAPD and microsatellite data was included in the genetic database of unique Brazilian domestic species and how such data were used for conservation decisions. Our study was concerned with inter- and intra population genetic diversity of Zulu sheep. In this case RAPDs was also a useful technique. An extensive literature survey indicate that this and a linked study (Kunene *et al.*, 2008) is the first in which RAPD data were used to characterise Zulu sheep populations. Several recent studies considered only microsatellite markers for sheep genetic diversity studies (Dalvit *et al.*, 2008; Gizaw, 2008; Mariante *et al.*, 2009). This is inline with the international society of animal genetics (http://www.fao.org/dad-is). Future

population genetics studies of Zulu sheep should thus consider using microsatellites, provided that infrastructure or relevant partnerships and funding are available.

Genetic and phenotypic diversity data demonstrated similarities and differences between Zulu sheep populations. In this study it was demonstrated that the genetic diversity and selected phenotypic data could be sensibly linked. The morphological data used here were linear body measurements for selected characters (live weight, heart girth, wither height, scrotum circumference and ear length; data extracted from Kunene et al., 2007). There was a close relationship between the first three characteristics for each population. The intra-population diversity for each of the three populations was similar. Some of these characteristics were used in previous studies to characterise indigenous sheep breeds (Gizaw et al., 2007, 2008). Gizaw et al. (2007) used ear length, withers height and chest girth amongst other linear body measurements to characterise indigenous sheep of Ethiopia. They also combined the morphological data with genetic data. Their results for the two data sets show dendrograms that were similar in topology but not identical. Furthermore, they could deduce population structure from the genetic data and demonstrated that a high within population diversity existed. This was congruent with phenotypic characteristics that were highly diverse (Gizaw et al., 2007). Kunene et al. (2007) demonstrated diverse morphological characteristics of Zulu sheep. Kruger (2001) argued that the great phenotypic variation of the Zulu sheep is potentially due to the broad ancestral genetic pool of this breed. Considering the data of Gizaw et al. (2007), it is thus highly likely that the genetic diversity between various Zulu sheep populations could be high. In our study only three populations were included. Further studies should include greater numbers of representatives as well as greater numbers of populations.

In a 2008 study Gizaw *et al.* also used various linear body measurements to test parameters that are correlated with selection for live weight. Here they established that chest girth, wither height and body length were measurements that correlated with selection for improved live weight. These studies demonstrated the enormous application potential of linear body measurements for characterisation of indigenous sheep breeds, but also the breed improvement potential. Linear body measurements obtained within a previous study (Kunene *et al.*, 2007) and linking this to genetic diversity data is thus a useful approach and first step in providing arguments towards considering steps to conserve Zulu sheep as a breed.

There may also be some other linear body measurement data that could also be included in future studies of Zulu sheep characterisation. Nsoso *et al.* (2004) also used body measurements and other phenotypic characteristics to characterise Tswana sheep breeds. Various linear body measurements were also used to characterise Burkina Faso sheep (Traoré *et al.*, 2008). These measurements included ear length, wither height and several other characteristics. The linear body measurements (phenotypic) data used in the present study may thus be supplemented with other phenotypic characteristics such as those used by Nsoso *et al.* (2004), Gizaw *et al.* (2007) and Traoré *et al.* (2008).

Evidence from recent literature is strongly suggesting the use of combined data sets for sheep conservation decisions (Galal *et al.*, 2008; Gizaw, 2008; Mariante *et al.*, 2009; Traoré *et al.*, 2008). The studies of Gizaw (2008) is an excellent example of how various aspects of data sets (phenotypic and genetic) could be used to answer specific questions regarding utilization and conservation of sheep breeds. Such a database (including genetic and morphological data) would be important for decision making regarding the conservation status and future breeding programmes for optimal utilization of Zulu sheep.

Our future is intricately, intertwined with our ability to produce food from domestic animals including small ruminants such as sheep. We have full control over their reproduction and may devise strategies to select for desirable traits. Characterisation of such populations is thus critically important. Knowledge about the characteristics provides the opportunity to develop and implement strategies to protect existing indigenous sheep breeds and populations on the one hand, and promoting effective utilization on the other. It has been demonstrated that data from such characterisation databases could be used in subsistence farming scenarios (Gizaw, 2008).

In general, based on numbers, sheep may presently not be considered endangered. However, many of the indigenous breeds are highly endangered (Taberlet *et al.*, 2008). The conservation status of Zulu sheep is undetermined. This is due to extremely little characterisation data available for this sheep breed. A previous study (Buduram, 2004) has shown close genetic relationship between this breed and Swazi sheep. However, the genetic relationship of these two breeds to the other recognized Nguni sheep breed (the Pedi sheep; Kruger, 2001) was very distant (Buduram, 2004). It could be that, due to geographic separation, genetic selection over the past 200 years was sufficient to render two main sub-breeds among the Nguni sheep breeds (Pedi on the one hand and Zulu and Swazi sheep on the other). Sufficient genetic and morphological data could be useful to establish such relationships. Future studies of Zulu sheep should thus include the other members of the Nguni sheep in general, but Zulu sheep in particular. It is hereby also suggested that the UNIZULU population and the University of Zululand (Department of Agriculture) be the reference population and custodian, respectively, of such a database. Such a programme should consider advocating for subsidies to farmers that contribute to conservation of this genetic resource (Taberlet *et al.*, 2008).

In conclusion, results presented here demonstrated that RAPD analysis could be used to demonstrate genetic diversity between and within Zulu sheep populations. It was also demonstrated that the genetic diversity and selected phenotypic data for the Zulu sheep breed could be sensibly linked. Such data is important for developing a database for this sheep breed and its close relatives. However, more populations should be sampled and data from other genetic - and morphological markers as well as production characteristics need to be included to complement the data from the present study.

CHAPTER 6

GENERAL DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 General discussion

Zulu sheep are the indigenous Nguni sheep of Zululand and are found in the rural areas of KwaZulu–Natal. They are used by the rural farmers as a source of food and cash and are believed to have adapted to the harsh conditions of these areas. There is scanty information available about the characteristics of this breed and there is a concern about the declining numbers (Kruger, 2001). Characterisation of this breed would be the first step for designing appropriate management and conservation programmes for the Zulu sheep. The aim of this study was to characterise Zulu (Nguni) sheep for purposes of utilization, improvement and conservation. Objectives were:

(i) to investigate the utilization of Zulu sheep and the socio-economics of keeping them;

(ii) quantify some morphological characteristics among three Zulu sheep populations using six morphological characteristics;

(iii) estimate a body weight prediction equation for Zulu sheep using heart girth and wither height, and

(iv) to assess the genetic variation between and within the three populations using random amplified polymorphic DNA markers.

Data from these studies can now be used as a baseline and lessons learnt utilized to devise strategies for maximum utilization and conservation of this breed.

A survey conducted among rural farmers (Chapter Two) demonstrated that these farmers use Zulu sheep as a source of protein and for sale when in need of cash. None of the farmers was an emerging entrepreneur. They sold livestock only because of circumstances. Some farmers also reported using sheep for payment of penalties in the tribal courts, but none of the farmers used this species for "Lobola" (marital payments) or other cultural ceremonies. A lower percentage of the farmers owned sheep compared to cattle and goats. There was also no evidence of preference by farmers for keeping one species over the other. However, the number of sheep owned by individual farmers was lower than that of either goats or cattle. This may be reflecting that the numbers of these sheep are declining, as has been reported by Ramsay et al. (2000) and Kruger (2001). Farmers have reported various adaptability traits of this breed. These include resistance to diseases, good meat quality and the ability to flourish in the hot and humid climate of KwaZulu-Natal. Sheep are not dipped in these areas due to lack of financial resources. This confirms the observations by the farmers that these animals have a natural resistance or tolerance to ticks and that they can survive on minimal inputs. The farmers explicitly pointed to the lack of sufficient knowledge in animal husbandry as a key hindrance to progress in livestock production. Poor livestock husbandry practices may lead to various productivity problems and even to ultimate death of livestock. Such deaths may also be another reason that farmers do not engage in commercial practices such as consistent selling of their livestock. They highlighted that such a challenge could be minimised if the government could support them by increasing the number of extension officers. The study revealed that farmers in the rural community have developed certain traditional selection criteria as well as some management practices to improve the production of their herds. It was noted that inclusion of indigenous knowledge in subsistence agricultural setting may enhance agricultural production.

Some phenotypic traits such as live weight (LW), wither height (WH), heart girth (HG), colour and the ear length types were used to describe the Zulu sheep (Chapter Three). These sheep are a multi-coloured breed. The dominant colours are brown and a brown-and-white colour combination. Brown or dark brown adult sheep are born as black lambs and the colour gradually changes to brown or dark brown as the lambs grow. Although there were four groups of ear length sizes within a population, the large ear (9 to 14 cm) was the most common among this breed. There was a poor relationship between ear length type and the LW, HG or WH. Zulu sheep have been described by Ramsay *et al.* (2000) as a small to medium breed. The weights for mature Zulu sheep (32 kg and 38 kg for females and males, respectively) are below those of other indigenous sheep breeds such as the Dorper, which were also reported to produce and reproduce even under poor grazing and arid conditions (Dorper SA., http://www.dorpersa.co.za/info

(1987) reported an average weight of 72.3 kg for the mature Dorper ewes and Polachic (2006) reported average weights of 108.0 to 113.4 kg for the mature Dorper rams. Although the LW and LBM of Zulu sheep were seasonally affected, these measurements were similar for summer and autumn and for winter and spring. The differences were small between two seasons, with maximum differences of 2.58 kg, 3.90 cm and 1.52 cm for LW, HG and WH, respectively. One would expect a larger difference between the dry and the wet season since these animals are raised under an extensive management system. Results of a study conducted on forage behaviour of Nguni sheep by Nyamukanza et al. (2009) reflected that the Zulu sheep do not lose weight between seasons, because they increase forage time and bite size in the dry season. The combination of such characteristics and those that have been mentioned by the farmers warrant a conservation programme through an improvement scheme which will not only improve the lives of the farmers but maintain the existence of the breed as well. It has been mentioned by Hall (2004) and Taberlet et al. (2008) that farmers have abandoned a number of autochthonous breeds because of progressive abandonment of agriculture in marginal areas. Therefore the introduction of Nguni sheep improvement programmes might encourage traditional farmers to become involved in rewarding livestock projects.

The combination of both wither height and heart girth was found to be an excellent predictor of the live weight; the heart girth alone also proved to be a reliable estimator of the LW of Zulu sheep (Chapter Four). Such results have also been observed by Goe *et al.* (2001), Atta *et al.* (2004) and Fajemilehin *et al.* (2008). To increase the carcass yield of this breed a genetic improvement of live weight is required. The participation of the farmers in such a scheme can be adversely affected by the lack of scales (balances) required to measure the live weight. Weighing scales are expensive and farmers in rural communities may not be able to afford them (Hassan and Ciroma, 1990; Slippers *et al.*, 2000; Thiruvenkadan, 2005). Therefore the estimation of live weight from simpler and more easily measurable variables such as WH and HG would be of advantage. Several authors report the successful application of the tape measure records (Hassan and Ciroma, 1990; Fourie *et al.*, 2002; Groesbeck *et al.*, 2002; Odejapo *et al.*, 2007; Fajemilehin, 2008) for WH and HG. This work (Chapter Four) demonstrated that such a tool could be used by the

rural farmers to estimate the body weight of the Zulu sheep for purposes of medical treatment and to cost the value of their sheep. Similarly, in young rams, the SC could be used to estimate their LW.

Genetic diversity data are presented in Chapter Five. In this chapter it was demonstrated that one of the populations (Makhathini) had a relatively higher genetic variation compared to the other two (UNIZULU and KwaMthethwa). A high genetic similarity in a population may be attributable to close breeding and small population size (Kantanen et al., 1999). Naturally, within each population some individuals were more closely related than others. The inter-population genetic diversity was higher compared to the intra-population diversity. These findings reflect the potential use of the RAPD technique for assessing intra- and interpopulation genetic relationships for the use of selection and breeding. The RAPD technique has been used by Battacharya et al. (2003) in estimating the inbreeding coefficient of cattle in India. It has also been successfully used to detect the genetic variation within and among various sheep breeds (Kantanen et al. 1995; Ali, 2003; Kumar et al., 2003; Paiva et al., 2005; Elmaci et al., 2007; Dalvit et al., 2008). Egito et al. (2005) used the RAPD markers for selection of goat individuals for ex situ and in situ conservation. The present study has also confirmed that RAPD markers can be utilized as a tool which can be used for the selection of Zulu sheep for the purpose of conservation and breeding. When the intrapopulation phenotypic diversity of Zulu sheep was compared, it was consistent with the genetic diversity, i.e. it was lower than the interpopulation diversity. Furthermore, results obtained from the selected phenotypic data could be sensibly linked to the genetic data. A larger phenotypic and genetic diversity between populations may indicate that an improvement may be obtained when selection is done between populations. The use of both phenotypic and genetic data has been recommended by various authors as a requirement for the successful achievement of conservation programmes for sheep (Ali, 2003; Galal et al., 2008; Gizaw, 2008). The international society of animal genetics (http://www.fao.org/dadis) has recommended the use of microsatellite markers. Relevant partnerships and funding are currently being sourced for future genetic studies of Zulu sheep in which microsatellites are evaluated.

6.2 Conclusions and Recommendations

The information given by the rural community farmers during the survey reflects that these farmers appreciate the value of the Nguni sheep as the breed that has characteristics of disease resistance and physiological adaptation to the hot and humid conditions of KwaZulu-Natal. Farmers are not fully aware of how the breed can be utilized to bring a reliable income but they are interested to learn strategies to improve livestock production. On the basis of this information a Zulu sheep improvement programme for these rural farmers should be considered. The scheme would contribute to improving the livelihoods of the farmers and would also act as a means of conserving the breed. Farmers can be assisted in improving their animal husbandry practices and basic entrepreneurship skills. Improvement and conservation programmes in rural communities could include training that builds on indigenous knowledge concepts as well as appropriate relevant modern technologies. This could enhance the attraction of livestock keeping even to rural youth.

Biological characteristics (yearling and mature weight) of the Zulu sheep imply that their market price may not be as high as that of other sheep breeds which have higher live body weights. However, their adaptation to the local environment and the fact that the input of farmers is minimal makes it more worthwhile compared to the commercial sheep breeds that require extensive inputs. Zulu sheep can survive utilizing only locally available feed resources without major supplements, vaccines and dipping. These animals are prolific under local conditions. This is a very important trait for rural livestock production. A slight improvement in terms of supplements in the dry season might produce considerable changes in the use of simple traits such as live weight and hardiness which needs to be included for the Zulu sheep scheme. Differences in body measurements between the populations could be an advantage for selection. However, the results from the present study indicate that it would be appropriate for the improvement scheme to include a large number of populations to ensure diversity. Traits for hardiness could be included in the breeding objectives.

The RAPD technique can be used for establishing genetic differences within and between the populations. Animals that have a high genetic similarity can be culled and animals from other populations can be brought in to maintain the genetic variation. More genetic studies need to be done on the Zulu sheep breed to investigate how some of the genetics in this breed could be used to improve their production. These results are an account of preliminary research on the genetic structure of the Zulu sheep populations. It will be essential to analyse the microsatellites of more Zulu sheep populations in future studies.

For a Zulu sheep breeding programme in the rural farming system, an open nucleus three-tier system of flocks with three phases - nucleus, sub-nucleus and village flocks - is recommended. A nucleus flock would have to be established within the governmental ranches and only rams could be used in the programme. A combination of phenotypic and genetic characteristics would have to be used for selection between populations. Selection of rams for the station could be based on their 180 day and 365 day weight. However, young rams could be selected based on 80 day weight. Sub-nucleus flocks would be those owned by the participating farmers. Village flocks would be owned by the non-participating farmers. Participating farmers would be expected to conform to the requirements proposed during the planning of the scheme, such as castration of unwanted rams and keeping records. Farmer flocks would include breeding ewes and they would have the option of selling their selected young rams to the nucleus. Such farmers could benefit by using the rams from the nucleus. Some of the best rams from the sub-nucleus flocks could be sold to the village flocks. It would be imperative that government officials, including trained extension workers and the communal farmers, work together from the beginning of the project. To reduce the expense of the weighing scales that would be required by the participating farmers, tables for estimation of live weights of the Zulu sheep could be constructed within age groups using the linear body measurements. Farmers could use only measuring tapes to estimate the weights of their animals

This study has shown that Zulu sheep are one of the local genetic resources still available in some areas of KwaZulu-Natal. They require minimum inputs and are a source of protein as well as cash for the rural farmers in these areas. There is still a chance for exploitation and maintenance of genetic variation between the populations of this breed. An intervention by Government in conjunction with the livestock owners is required for the design and implementation of an improvement and conservation programme for this breed. *In situ* conservation is generally more successful if benefits are felt at community level.

Finally, it can thus be concluded that the main aim of this study was achieved as formulated. The four objectives that were set for this study were also achieved and presented in Chapters Two, Three, Four and Five.
REFERENCES

Adebambo, O.A., 1994. The Muturu- a rare breed of sacred cattle in Nigeria. In: Third Global Conference on Conservation of Domestic Animal Genetic Resources. Queen's University in Kingston, Ontario, Canada. Rare Breeds International. Aug. 1-3.

Adeyinka, A.A., Mohammed, I.D., 2006. Accuracy of body weight prediction equation in Nigerian Red Sekoto goats raised in North Eastern Nigeria using Linear Body Measurements. Pak. J. Biol. Sci. 9 (15), 2828-2830.

Ali, B.A., 2003. Genetic similarity among four breeds of sheep in Egypt detected by random amplified polymorphic DNA markers. Afr. Jr. Biotechnol. 2(7), 194-197.

Al-Rawi, A.A., Al-Athar, A.K., 2002. Characteristics of indigenous chicken in Iraq. Anim. Gen. Res. Info. 32, 87-94.

Alves, B.C.A., Unanian M.M., Silva, E., Oliveira M., Morira-Filho C.A., 2005. Use of RAPD markers for identifying Nelore bulls with early reproductive maturation onset. Anim. Rep. Sci. 85, 183-191.

Appa Rao, K.B.C., Bhat, K.V., Totey, S.M., 1996. Detection of speciesspecific genetic markers in farm animals through random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD). Genet. Anal-Biomol. E. 13, 135-138.

Atienzer, F., Evenden, A., Jha, A., Savva, D., Depledge, M., 2000. Optimized RAPD analysis generates high quality genomic DNA profiles at annealing temperature. Biotech. 28, 52-54.

Atta, M., El Khidir, O.A., 2004. Use of heart girth, wither height and scapuloischial length for prediction of live weight of Nilotic sheep. Small Ruminant Res. 55, 233-237.

Avise, J.C., Arnold, J., Ball, R.M., Bermingham, E., lamb, T., Neigel, J.E., Reeb, C.A., Saundres, N.C., 1987. Intraspecific phyleogeography: The mitochondrial DNA bridge between population genetics and systematics. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 18, 489-522.

Ayelew, W., King, J.M., Bruns, E., Rischkowsky, B., 2001. Economic evaluation of smallholder subsistence livestock production lessons from Ethiopian

Goat Development programme. The Fondazione eni enrico mattei note di lavoro series index. <u>http://www.feem.it/web/active/_activ.html.</u>

Ayelew, W., Rischkowsky, B., King, J.M., Bruns, E., 2003. Crossbreds did not create more net benefits than indigenous goats in Ethiopian smallholdings. Agric. Sys. 76, 1137-1156.

Bactawa, B., 2003 Characteristics and general production of hair breeds. http://www.agf.gov.bc.ca/sheep/publications/documents/hair sheep breeds.pdf

Bassano, B., Bergero, D., Peracino, A., 2001. Accuracy of body weight prediction in Alpine Ibex (*Capra ibexI.1758*) using morphometry. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr, 87, 79-85.

Baradakci, F., Skibinski, D.O.F., 1994. Application of the RAPD technique in Tilapis fish: species and subspecies identification. Hered. 73: 117-123.

Barker, J.S.F., 2001. Conservation and management of genetic diversity: a domestic animal perspective. Can. J. Forest Res. 31, 588-595.

Battacharya, T.K., Kumar, P., Joshi, D.J., Kumar., S., 2003. Estimation of inbreeding in cattle using RAPD markers. J. Dairy Res. 70:127-129.

Bembridge, T. J., 1984. A systems approach study of agricultural development problems in Transkei. PhD Thesis, University of Stellenbosch, South Africa.

Benyi, K., 1997. Estimation of live weight from chest girth in beef cattle. National African Goats. Trop. Anim. Health. Prod. 29, 124-128.

Bester, J., 2009. The origion of indigenous stock of South Africa. ARC. <u>http://www.arc.agric.za/home.asp?pid=2692</u>

Blackburn, H.D., Field, C.R., 1990. Performance of Somali Blackhead sheep and Galla goats in northern Kenya. Small Ruminant Res. 3, 539-549.

Blackmore, D.W., McGulliard, L.D., Lush, J.L., 1958. Genetic relationship between body measurements at three ages in Holstein. J. Dairy Sci. 41, 1045-1049.

Bongso, T.A., Jainudeen, M.R., Sitizahrah, A., 1982. Relationship of scrotal circumference to age, body weight and onset of spermatogenesis in goats. Therio. 18(5), 513-523.

Bosso, N.A., Cisse, M.F., van der Waaij E.H., Fall, A., van Arendonk, J.A.M., 2007. Genetic and phenotypic parameters of body weight in West African Dwarf goat and Djallonke' sheep. Small Ruminant Res. 67, 271-278.

Bowcock, A.M., Ruiz-Linares, A., Tomfohrde, J., Minch, E., Kidd, J.R., Cavalli-Sforza, L.L., 1994. High resolution of human evolutionary trees with polymorphic microsatellites. Nature 368, 455–457.

Bowditch, B.M., Albright, D.G., Williams, J.G.K., Braun, M.J., 1993. Use of randomly amplified polymorphic DNA markers in comparative genome studies. Methods Enzymol. 224, 294-309.

Brown, J.E., Brown, C.J., Butts, W.T., 1973. Evaluating relationships among immature measures of size, shape and performance on beef bulls I. Principal component as measures of size and shape in young Hereford and Angus bulls. J. Anim. Sci. 36, 1010-1020.

Bruford, M.W., Bradley, D.G., Luikart, G., 2003. DNA Markers reveal the complexity of livestock domestication. Nature Rev. 4, 900 -910.

Buduram, P., 2004. Genetic characterisation of South African sheep breeds using DNA markers. M.Sc. thesis, University of Free State, South Africa.

Cardellino, R.A., 2003. Animal genetic resources conservation and development: the role of the FAO. Arch. Zootec. 52, 185-192.

Calvo, J.H., Bouzada, J.A., jurado, J.J., Serrano, M., 2006. Genetic substructure of the Spanish machenga sheep breed. Small Ruminant Res. 64, 116-125.

Carles, A. B., 1983. Sheep production in the tropics. Oxford University Press, New York. Central Statistical Service, 2001 Country data file, South Africa.

Carlson, M., 2001. http.personal.utulsa.edu/~marc-carlson/horn/horn1.html

Ciampolini, R., Moazami-Goudarzi , K., Vaiman, D., Dillmann, C., Mazzanti, E., Foulley, J., 1995. Individual multilocus genotypes using microsatellite polymorphisms to permit the analysis of the genetic variability within and between Italian beef cattle breeds. J. Anim. Sci. 73, 3259–3268.

Cloete, S. W. P., De Villiers, T.T., 1987. Production parameters for a commercial Dorper flock on extensive pasture. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 17:121–127.

Coulter, G.H., Kozub, G.C., 1984. Testicular development, epididymal sperm reserves and seminal quality in 2-year-old Hereford and Angus bulls: Effect of two levels dietary energy. J. Anim. Sci. 59, 432-440.

Crawford, A.M., Montgomerry, G.W., Pierson, C.A., Brown, T., Dodds, K.G., Sunden, S.L.F., Henry, H.M., Ede, A.J., Swabrick, P.A., Berryman, T., Penty, J.M., Hill, D.F., 1994. Sheep linkage mapping-19 linkage groups derived from analysis of paternal half-sibs families. Genet. 137, 573-579.

Cushwa, W.T., Dodds, K.G., Crawford, A.M., Medrano, J.F., 1996. Indentification and genetic mapping of random amplified DNA (RAPD) markers to the sheep genome. Mamm. Genome. 7, 580-585.

Cushwa, W.T., Medrano, J.F., 1994. Identification of RAPD genetic markers in sheep. In: Proc. 5th World Congress. Genet. Appl. Livest. Prod. 21, 133-136.

Dalton, D. C., 1980. Introduction to Practical Animal Breeding.Granada, London.

Dalvit, C. Saccà E, Cassandro M, Gervaso M, Pastore E, Piasentier, E., 2008. Genetic diversity and variability in Alpine sheep breeds. Small Ruminant. Res. 80, 45-51.

Dana, N., Shenkoru, T., Tegegne, A., 2000. Growth rates and testicular characteristics of Ethiopian highland sheep offered chickpea haulm supplemented with incremental levels of *Leucaena leucocephala* leaf hay. Livest. Prod. Sci. 65, 209-217.

Devendra, C., Mcleroy, G.B., 1982. Goat and sheep production in the tropics. Intermediate tropical agriculture series. Longman, London.

Devrim, A.K., Kaya, N., Guven, A., Kocamis, H., 2007. A study of genomic polymorphism and diversity in sheep breeds in northeastern Anatolia. Small Ruminant Res. 73, 291-295.

Dorper SA. Breed characteristic.http://www.dorpersa.co.za/info/character-istics

Dovie, D.B.K., Shackleton, C.M., Witkowski, E.T.F., 2006. Valuation of communal area livestock benefits, rural livelihoods and related policy issues. Land Use Policy 23, 260-271.

Duguma, G., Cloete, S.W.P., Schoeman, S.J., Jordaan, G.F., 2002. Genetic parameters of testicular measurements in Merino rams and the influence of scrotal circumference on total flock fertility. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 32, 76-80.

Dunn, R.B., 1955. Puberty in Merino rams. Aust. Vet. J. 31, 104-106.

Du Toit D.J., 2008. The indigenous livestock of Southern Africa. http://www.damarasheep.co.za/files/ParisRoundtable.pdf

Egito, A.A, Fuck, B., Spritze, A.L., Oliveira, R.R., McManus, C., Mariante, A.S., Ribeiro, N., Albuquerque, M.S.M., Paiva, S.R., Castro, S.T.R., Santos, S.A., 2005. RAPD markers utilization on the formation or maintainance of conservation nuclei of livestock species. Arch. de Zootec. 54, 277-281.

Elmaci, C., Oner, Y., Ozis, S., Tuncel, E., 2007. RAPD analysis of DNA polymorphism in Turkish sheep breeds. Biochem. Genet. 45, 691-696.

Enevoldsen, C., Kristensen T., 1997. Estimation of body weight from body size measurements and body condition scores in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 1988 -1995.

Essien, A., Adesope, O.M., 2003. Linear body measurements of N'dama calves at 12 months in a South Western zone of Nigeria. Livest. Res. Rural Devel. 15, 4. <u>http://www.lrrd.org/lrrd15/4/essi154.htm</u>

Fajemilehim, S.O.K., Salako, A.E., 2008. Body measurement characteristics of the West African Dwarf (WAD) goat in deciduous forest zone of southwestern Nigeria. Afr. J. Biotechnol. 7 (14), 2521-2526.

Food and Agriculture Organisation, 1981. Animal genetic resources conservation and management. Preoceedings of the FAO/UNEP(United nations environmental programme) technical consultation. Food and agriculture organisation oftheunitednations.Rome198.<u>http://www.fao.org/DOCREP/003/X6526E/X6526E35.</u> htm

Food and Agriculture Organisation, 2000. World Watch List for domestic animal diversity (3rd Edition). <u>http://agtr.ilri.cgiar.org/library/docs/worldwatchlist.pdf</u>

Food and Agriculture Organisation, 2007. The state of the world's animal genetic resource for food agriculture. <u>http://www.fao.org/docrep/010/a1250e/a</u> <u>1250e00.htm</u>

Fourie, P.J, Neser, F.W.C., Olivier, J.J., Van der Westhuizen, C., 2002. Relationship between production performance, visual appraisal and body measurements of young Dorper rams. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 34, 256-261.

Frandson, R.D., Elmer, H.W., 1981. Anatomy of the male reproductive system In: Frandson R.D. (ed). Anatomy and physiology of farm animals 3rd edition, Lea and Febiger, Philadephia,pp. 430-442. Free State, Department of Transport, 2007. Free State Province Freight Transport Data Bank. <u>http://www.freetrans.gov.za/FTD/fs/industries/livestock-/index.html</u>

Galal, S, Gürsoy, O., Shaat, I., 2008. Awassi sheep as a genetic resource and efforts for their genetic improvement - A review. Small Ruminant. Res. 79, 99-108.

Gandini, G.C., Ollivier, L., Distl, O., Georgoudis, A., Groeneveld, E., Martyniuk, E., van Arendonk, J.A.M., Woolliams, J.A., 2004. Criteria to assess the degree of endangerment of livestock breeds in Europe. Livest. Prod. Sci. 91, 173-182.

Gatenby, R.M., 1991. Sheep: The Tropical Agriculturalist. Macmillan Education, LTD, London.

Gizaw, S. 2008. Sheep genetic resources of Ethiopia: Genetic diversity and breeding strategy. Doctoral thesis, Wageningen University, Netherlands.

Gizaw, S., Komen, H., Van Arendonk, J.A.M., 2008. Selection on linear size traits to improve live weight in Menz sheep under nucleus and village breeding programmes. Livest. Sci. 118, 92-98.

Gizaw, S., Lemma, S., Komen, H., Van Arendonk, J.A.M., 2007. Estimates of genetic parameters and genetic trends for live weight fleece traits in Menz sheep. Small Ruminant. Res. 70, 145-153.

Goe, M.R., Alldrege, J.R., Light, D., 2001. Use of heart girth to predict body weight of working oxen in the Ethopian highlands. Livest. Prod. Sci. 69: 187-195.

Groesbeck, C.N., Goodband, R.D., DeRouchey, J.M., Tokach, S.S., Dritz, S.S., Nelssen, J.L., Lawrence, K., Young, M.G., 2002. Using heart girth to determine weight in finishing igs. <u>http://www.asi.ksu.edu/esktopModulesView_Document.-apx?Document ID =4782</u>

Gwakisa, P.S., Barendse W., Teale, A.J., 1994. Characterisation of Zebu cattle breeds in Tanzania using random amplified polymorphic DNA markers. Anim. Genet. 25, 89-94.

Gwakisa, P.S., 2002. Genetic diversity in indigenous cattle for east Africa using RAPDs.<u>http://agtr.ilri.cgiar.org/Casestudy/Gwakisa/pdf/Gwakisa.pdf</u>

Hall, S.J.G., 2004. Livestock biodiversity: Genetic resources for the farming of the future. Blackwell Science Ltd. Oxford, UK.

Hanotte, O., Jianlin, H., 2005. Genetic characterisation of livestock populations and its use in conservation decision-making. In: Proc. 5th World Congr. The role of biotechnology. Ruann J., Sannino, A., eds Villa Gualino, Turin, Italy, March, 5-7, pp 131-136.

Hassan, A., Ciroma, A., 1990. Bodyweight measurements relationship in Nigerian Red Sokoto In: Proc. First Biennial Conf. African Small Ruminant Research Networks, Rey B, Lebbie, S.H.B and Reynolds, L., Edit's., ILRAD, Nairobi,Kenya,Dec.10-14,pp.428-432.goatshttp://www.fao.org/wairdocs/ilri/x552-/x5520b1d.htm

Hassen, Y., Solkner, J., Gizaw, S., Baumung, R., 2002. Performance of crossbred and indigenous sheep under village conditions in the cool highlands of central northern Ethopia. Small Ruminant Res. 43, 195-202.

Hayes, B.J, Goddard, M.E., 2008. Technical note: Prediction of breeding values using marker-derived relationship matrices. J. Anim. Sci. 86, 2089- 2092

Hiendleder, S., Kaupe, B., Wassmuth, R., Janke, A., 2002. Molecular analysis of wild and domestic sheep questions current nomenclature and provides evidence for domestication from two different subspecies. Proc. R. Soc. London, B. 269, 893-904.

Hiendleder, S., Mainz, K., Plante, Y., Lewaiski, H., 1998. Analysis of mitochondrial DNA indicates that domestic sheep are derived from two different ancestral maternal sources: No evidence for contribution from Urial and Argali. J. Hered. 89; 113-120.

Hsieh, H, Chian, H, Tsai, L., Lai, S., Huang, N., Linacre, A., Lee, J.C., 2001. Cytochrome *b* gene for species identification of the conservation animal. Forensic Sci. Int. 122: 7-18.

Humpoličeka, P., Urban, T., Tvrdon, Z., 2007. Relation of porcine myogenin gene PCR/RFLP MspI and reproduction traits of the Czech Large White sows. Livest. Sci. 110, 288-291.

Iniguez, L., 1998. Community breeding programmes for small ruminants in the Andean region. In Proc. Sixth World Congr. Genetics Applied to Livestock Production, Armidale, NSW, Australia, Jan. 11-16. vol. 25, pp. 249–256.

International Livestock Research Institute, 1995. Livestock Policy Analysis. ILRI Training manual 2. Nairobi, Kenya, pp. 264.

International Livestock Research Institute, 2007. Domestic animal genetic resource information. <u>http://dagris.ilri.cgiar.org/display.asp?ID=152</u>

Inyangala, B.A.O., Rege, J. E.O., Itulya S., 1990. Growth Traits of Dorper sheep.I. Factors influencing growth traits. In: Proc. First Biennial Conf. African Small Ruminant Research Networks, Rey B, Lebbie, S.H.B and Reynolds, L., Edit's., ILRAD, Nairobi, Kenya, Dec.10-14, pp. 505- 515.

Jabber, M.A., Swallow, B.M., Rege, J.E.O., 1999. Incorporation of farmer knowledge and preferences in designing breeding policy and conservation strategy for domestic animals. Outlook on Agric.28 (4), 239-243.

Jaitner J., Sowe J., Secka-Njie, E., Dempfle, L., 2001. Ownership pattern and management practices of small ruminants in the Gambia—implications for a breeding programme Small Ruminant. Res. 40 (2), 101–108.

Janssens S., Vandepitte W., 2004. Genetic parameters for body measurements and linear type traits in Belgian Bleu du Maine, Suffolk and Texel sheep. Small Ruminant. Res. 54,13-24.

Jeffery, H.B., Berg, R.T., 1972. An evaluation of several measurements of beef cow size as related to progeny performance. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 52, 23-37.

Kantanen, J., Vilkki, J. Elo K., Maki-Tanila A., 1995. Random amplified polymorphic DNA in cattle and sheep: Application for detecting genetic variation. Anim. Genet. 26, 315-320.

Kantanen, J., Olsaker, I., Adalsteinsson, S., Sandberg, K., Eythorsdottir, E., Pihonen, K., Holm, L.E., 1999. Temporal changes in genetic variation of North Europian cattle breeds. Anim. Genet. 30, 6-28.

Kemp, S.J., Teale, A.J., 1994. Randomly primed PCR amplification of pooled DNA reveals polymorphism in a ruminant repetitive DNA sequence which differentiates *Bos indicus* and *B. Taurus*. Anim. Gen. 25, 83-88.

Kiwuwa, G.H., 1990. Breeding strategies for small ruminant productivivity in Africa. In: Proc. First Biennial Conference of the African Small Ruminant Research Networks, Rey, B., Lebbie, S.H.B., Reynolds, L., Edit's, ILRAD, Nairobi, Kenya, Dec. 10-14, pp. 423-434.

Köhler-Rollefson, I., 2000. Management of animal genetic diversity at community level. Management Agrobiodiversity in Rural areas. Deuteche Gesellschaft für Technishe Zusammenarbeit (GTZ) GmbH. Eschborn. ftp://ftp.fao.-org/docrep/nonfao/lead/x6103e/x6103e00.pdf

Köhler- Rollefson, I., 2001. Community-based management of animal genetic resources with special reference to pastoralists. In Proc. Workshop on Community– Based Management of Animal Genetic Resources. Mbabane, Swaziland, May 7-11, pp. 13-26.

Kosgey, I.S., 2004. Breeding objectives and breeding strategies for small ruminants in the Tropics. PHD Thesis, Waageningen University, Netherlands.

Kosgey, I.S., Baker, R.L., Udo, H.M.J., van Arendonk, J.A.M., 2006. Successes and failures of small ruminant breeding programmes in the tropics. Small Ruminant Res. 61, 13-28.

Kosgey, I.S., Okeyo, A.M., 2007. Genetic improvements of small ruminants in low-input, smallholder production systems: technical and infrastructural issues. Small Ruminant Res. 70, 76-88.

Kruger, I., 2001. The indigenous sheep breeds of South Africa. Genetic resource department. ARC-Animal improvement institute (ARC-AII). <u>http://www-arc.agricza/ home.asp?</u>

Kruger, I., 2009. The indigenous sheep breeds of South Africa. Genetic resource department. ARC-Animal improvement institute (ARC-AII). <u>http://</u>www.arc.agric.za/home.asp?pid=2699

Kumar, K.G., Kumar P., Bhattacharya, T.K., Bhushan, B., Patel, A.K., Choudhary, V., Sharma, A., 2003. Genetic relationship among four Indian breeds of sheep using RAPD-PCR. J. Appl. Anim. Res. 42, 177–183.

Kunene, N.W., Bezuidenhout, C.C., Nshalai, I.V., 2008. Use of RAPD markers for detecting genetic similarity between and within Zulu (Nguni) sheep populations. In: Book of abstracts. 10th World Conference on Animal Production, Cape Town, South Africa, Nov. 23-28, pp. 28.

Kunene, N.W., Fossey, A., 2006. A survey on livestock production in some traditional areas at Northern KwaZulu-Natal in South Africa. Livest. Res. Rural. Dev. 18 (8) <u>http://www.cipav.org.co/lrrd/lrrd18/8/kune18113.htm</u>

Kunene, N.W., Nesamvuni, E.A., Fossey, A., 2007. Characterisation of Zulu (Nguni) sheep using linear body measurements and some environmental factors affecting these measurements. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 37 (1), 11-20.

Kwazulu-Natal, Department of Transport (2006). KwaZulu Natal Freight Transport Data Bank. <u>http://www.kzntransport.gov.za/public_trans/freight_-</u> Databank/kzn/industries/poultry_production/index_xml.html

Lawrence, T.L., Fowler, V.R., 1997. Growth of farm animals. CAB international, Wallingford, Oxon, U.K, p. 330

Le Viet Ly, 1994. Animal genetic resources conservation-an urgent work in biodiversity and environmental protection. On the result of the livestock genetic resources conservation in Vietnam, Agriculture Publisher, Vietnam. pp. 5-20.

Maddox, J.F., Cockett, N.E., 2007. An update on sheep and goat linkage maps and other genomic resources. In: Notter DR, Barker RL, Cockett N. edit's. The Outlook for Quantitative and Molecular Genetic Applications in Improving Sheep and Goats. Small Ruminant. Res. 70, 4-20.

Mariante, A. da S., Alburquerque M. do S.M., Egito, A.A., McManus, C., Lopes, M.A., Paiva, S.R., 2009. Present status of conservation of livestock genetic resources in Brazil. Livest. Sci. 120, 204-212.

Mayaka, T.D., Tchoumboue, J., Manjeli, Y., Teguia, A., 1995. Estimation of live weight in West African Dwarf goats from heart girth measurements. Trop. Anim. Health Prod. 28, 126-128.

Mburu, D., Hanotte, O., 2005. A practical approach to microsatellite genotyping with special reference to livestock population genetics. ILRI biodiversity project. http://www-naweb.iaea.org/naf a/aph/stories/dna-manual.pdf

McGugh, D.E., Loftus, R.T., Cunningham, P., Bradley, D.G., 1998. Genetic structure of seven Europian cattle breeds assessed using 20 microsatellite markers. Anim. Genet. 28, 333-340.

Mhlanga, F.N., 2002. Community-based management of animal genetic resources: A participatory framework. A report for Technishe Zusammenarbeit (GTZ Department of animal science. University of Zimbabwe, Harare. http://www.ilri.org/ html/Mhlanga_GTZ%20CBM%20Report.pdf Microbiology Procedure, undated. Heritability. <u>http://www.Microbiology-</u> procedure.com/genetics/quantitative-genetics-inherit-once-of-multiplegenes/heritability.htm

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, 1997. Strategic plan for Agriculture and Forestry in Kwazulu.Province of KwaZulu, Natal.

Minitab Inc., 1998. Minitab Version 12.1. State College, Pennsylvania (USA)

Mitra, A., Yadav, B.R., Ganai, N.A., Balakrishnan (undated). Molecular markers and their applications in livestock improvement. <u>http://www.ias.ac.in-/currsci/oct25/articles19.htm</u>

Moazami-Goudarzi, K., Laloë, D., Furet, J.P., Grosclaude, F., 1997. Analysis of genetic relationships between 10 cattle breeds with 17 microsatellites. Anim. Genet. 28, 338–345.

Mohammed, I.D., Amin, J.D., 1996. Estimating body weight from morphometric measurements of Sahel (Borno White) goats. Small. Ruminant Res. 24, 1-5.

Moioli, B., Astruc, J.-M., Sanna, S., 2002. Successful establishment of small ruminant recording systems in the Mediterranean counries. In: Proc. FAO/ICAR Seminar, Development of Successful Animal Recording Systems for Transition in Developing Countries, Mãki-Hokkonen, Boyazoglu, J., Vares, T., Zjalic, Edit's., Interlaken, Switzerland, May 27.pp. 65-90.

Mollah, M.B.R., F.B. Islam, M.S. Islam, M.A. Ali and M.S. Alam, 2009. Analysis of genetic diversity in bangladeshi chicken using RAPD markers. Biotech. 8, 462-467

Moorosi, L.E., 1999. Characterisation of small-scale cattle farming in Botshabelo and Thaba nchu districts of the free state. M.Sc. thesis. University of the Orange Free State, South Africa.

Mueller, J.P., 2006. Breeding and conservation programmes with local communities. Presentacion al FAO-WAAP expert meeting"Sustainable utilization of animal genetic resources" Ferentillo, Italy, 2-4 July, 2006. Communicacion Tecnica INTA Bariloche Nro PA 489.

Mwacharo, J.M., Drucker, A.G., 2005. Production objectives and management strategies of livestock keepers in South –East Kenya: Implications in breeding programme. Trop. Anim. Health Prod. 37, 635-652.

National Department of Agriculture, 2003. Draft, South African, Animal Improvement Policy, 2003. <u>http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/Animal_Improvement.pdf</u>

National Department of Agriculture, 2004. National Livestock industry strategy and implementation frame work 2004. South Africa. http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/Trends2003/Animal production.pdf

Negi, R.S., 1998. Subsistence strategies and environmental management. The Cultural dimension of ecology. <u>http://ignca.nic.in/cd_07005.htm</u>

Negrini, R., Nijman, I.J., Milanesi, E., Moazami-Gourdarzi, K., Williams, J.L., Erhardt, G., Dunner, S., Rodellar, C., Valentini, A., Bradley, D.G., Olsaker, I., Kantanen, J., Ajmone-Marsan, P., Lenstra, J.A., 2007. Differentiation of European cattle by AFLP fingerprinting. Anim. Genet. 38 (1), 60-66.

Nesamvuni, A.E., Mulaudzi, J.,Ramanyimi, N.D.,Taylor G.J., 2000. Estimation of body weight in Nguni type cattle under communal management conditions. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 30 (1), 97-98

Nsoso, S.J., Podisi, B., Otsogile, E., Mokhutshwane, B.S., Ahmadu, B., 2004. Phenotypic characterisation of indigenous Tswana goats and sheep breeds in Botswana: Continuous traits. Trop. Anim. Health Prod. 36, 789-800.

Nyamukanza, C.C., Scogings, P.F., Mbatha, K.R., Kunene, N.W., 2009. Forage-sheep relationships in communally managed moist thornveld in Zululand, South Africa S. Afr. J. Range and Forage Sci: submitted.

Ogle, B. 1990 Suggestions for intensive livestock-based smallholder systems in semi - arid areas of Tanzania. Lives. Res. Rural Dev. 2 (1), 51-59. <u>http://www.cipav.org.co/lrrd/lrrd2/1/ogle.htm</u>

Ojedapo, L.O., Adedeji, T.A., Olayeni, T.B., Adedeji, O.S., Abdullah, A.R., Ojebiyi, O.O., 2007. Influence of age and sex on body weight and some body linear measurements of extensively reared Wad goats in Derived Savanna zone of Nigeria. J. Anim. Vet. Advances 6 (1), 114-117.

Olivier, J.J., 2002. The South African national small stock Improvement scheme. ARC Animal Improvement Institute. <u>http://agtr.ilri.org/Casestudy-</u>/casestudy_oliver/thesouth.htm

Otte, M.J., Woods, A.J., Abuabara, Y., 1992. Liveweight estimation of cattle by scale and tape-A method comparison study. Trop. Anim. Health Prod. 24, 109-114.

Ovilo, C., Barragan, M.C., Castellanos C., Rodriguez, M.C., Silio, L., Toro, M.A., 2000. Application of molecular markers (RAPD, AFLP and Microsatellites) to Iberian pig genotype characterisation. Zaragora: Ciheam-Iamz-Options Mediterraneennes, pp.79-84.

Paiva, S.R., Faria, D.A., Silvério, V.C., Mcmanus, C., Egito, A.A., Dergam, J.A., Guimarães, S.E.F., Castro, S.R., Albuquerque, M.S.M., Mariante, A.S., 2005. Genetic variability among Brazilian sheep using microsatellites of. In: Proc. The Role of biotechnology, Ajmone Marsan, P., Lanteri, S., Monti, L., Sonnino, A.R., Veronesi, F. Edit's., Villa Gualino, Turin, March 5-7, pp. 195-196.

Paiva, S.R., Silverio, V.C., Egito, A.A, McManua, C., Faria, D.A., Mariante, A.D., Castro, S.R., Albuquerque, M.S.M., Dergam, J.A., 2005. Genetic variability of the Brazilian hair sheep. Pesq. Agropec. Bras. 40 (9), 887-893. http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?pid=S0100-204X2005000900008&script=sci arttext

Philipsson, J. 2000. Sustainable dairy cattle breeding systems utilising artificial insemination in less developed countries-Examples of problems and prospects. In: Proc.Workshop: ICAR (International Committee for Animal Recording), 2000. *Developing breeding strategies for lower input animal production environments*. Bella, Rome, Italy, 22-25 Sept. 22-25, 1999. pp. 551-562.

Philipsson J., Rege, O.E.J., Okeyo, A.M., 2006 Sustainable breeding programmes for tropical farming systems. Training course module 3. Swedish University of Agricultural science (SLU). Department of animal breeding and genetic, box 7023,S-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden. <u>http://agtr.ilri.cgiar.org-/Module/module3/module3.pdf</u>

Polachic, D., 2006. Dorper sheep. Revolutionizing the meat sheep industry. BackwoodsHomeMagazine. <u>http://www.backwoodshome.com/articles2/polachic75</u>. <u>html</u> Pozono, A.L., 1992. Genetic improvement of hair sheep in the Tropics. FAO. Anim. Prod. Health Paper, 101, Rome, Italy, pp. 168.

Provenza, F.D., 2003. Foraging behavior: Managing to survive in a world of change. The U.S. Department of Agriculture and Utah State University, USA.

Raji, A. O., Igwebuike, J.U., Aliyu, J., 2008. Testicular biometry and its relationship with body weight of indigenous goat in a semi arid region of Nigeria. ARPN J. Agric. Bio. Sci. 3 (4), 6-9.

Ramsay, K., Harris, L., Kotze, A., 2000. Landrace breeds: South Africa's indigenous and locally developed farm animals. Farm Animal Conservation Trust, Pretoria, pp. 38-39.

Ravindram, R., Saravanan, J.R., Rao, A.K., Mishra, G.C., Bansal., Ray, D., 2007. A PCR-RFLP method for the simultaneous detection of *Babesia bigemina* and *Theileria annulata* infections in cattle. Curr. Sci. 93(12), 1840-1843.

Reed, C. 1960. A review of the archaeological evidence on animal domestication in the prehistoric Near East. *In Prehistoric investigations in Iraqi Kurdistan, Studies in ancient Oriental civililation*, J. Braidwood, R.J, B. Howe, B., edit's., The Oriental Institute of the University of Chicago No. 31: University of Chicago Press, pp. 119-145.

Rege, J.E.O., 2001. Defining livestock breeds in the context of communitybased management of farm genetic resources. In. Proc. Workshop: Community-Based Management of Animal Genetic Resources, Mbabane, Swaziland, May, 7-11, pp. 27-34.

Rege, J.E.O., Aboagye, G.S., Tawah, C.L., 1994. Shorthorn cattle of West and Central Africa II. Ecological settings, utility, management and production systems. World Anim. Rev., 78, 14-21.

Rege, J.E.O., Liper, M.E., 1992. African animal genetic resources: Their characterisation, conservation and utilization. In: Proc. Research Planning Workshop, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, International Livestock Centre for Africa, Addis Ababa, 19-21 Feb., 19-21, pp. 172.

Rendo, F., Iriondo, M., Jugo, b.M., Mazón, L.I., Aguirre, A., Vicario, A., Estonba, A., 2004. Tracking diversity and differentiation in six sheep breeds from the North Iberian Peninsula through DNA variation. Small Ruminant Res. 52, 195-202.

Rewe, T.O., Ogore, P.B., Kahi, A.K., 2002. Intergrated goat projects in Kenya: impact on genetic improvement. In: Proc. Seventh world Congress on Genetics applied livestock Production, vol.33, Montpellier, France, Aug. 19-23, pp. 385-387.

Reybold, E.L., Herren, R., 1994. The science of animal agriculture. Delmar publishers, U.S.A.

Roeleveld, A.C.W., 1996. The diagnostic phase in research on livestock systems In: Roeveld, A.C.W., van de Broek, A. Edit's., Focusing livestock systems research. Royal ropical Institute, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, pp.14-28.

Ryder, M.L., 1984. Evolution of domesticated animals. Mason, L.I, Ed., Longman, London and New York, pp 63-85.

Sanchez, A. 2007. Genetic Markers Trace Meat from Farm to Fork. http://www.thepoultrysite.com/poultrynews/13540/genetic-markers-trace-meat-fromfarm-to-fork

Schoeman, S.J., Combrink, G.C., 1987. Testicular development in Dorper, Dohne Merino and Crossbred rams. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 17, 22-26.

Schoeman S.J., 2007 Sheep 101 info. sheep breeds. <u>http://www.sheep101-</u> .info/breedsW-Z.html

Sharma, D., Appa Rao, K.B.C., Totey, S. M., 2000. Measurement of within and between population genetic variability in quails. Brit. Poultry. Sci. 41, 29-41.

Sibisi, H., 1979. Cattle ownership and control: Sociological observations on some aspects of rural development in Swaziland. Paper No. 1. Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives, Mbabane.

Sibisi, H., 1981. Keen farmers on Swazi Nation Land: Economic and Analysis Section. Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives, Mbabane.

Sibley, C.G., Ahlquist, J.E., 1990. Phylogeny and classification of birds: A study in molecular evolution" Yale University Press, new haven and London.

Simianer, H., 2007. Report of the ISAG/FAO advisory group on animal genetic diversity.ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/010/a1250e/annexes/Reports%20from%20Inter national%20Organizations/ISAG.pdf

Slippers, S.W., Letty, B.A., Devilliers J.F., 2000. Prediction of body weight of Nguni goats. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 30(1), 127-128.

Smith, O., 2004. Small-ruminant feeding systems for small-scale farmers in humid West Africa. Food and agriculture organization of the united nations. http://www.fao.org/wairdocs/ILRI/x5519B/x5519b1f.htm.

Sobha, I., 2007. Green revolution: Impact on gender. J. Hum. Ecol.22 (2), 107-113.

Sponenburg, D.P., (undated). Colour Genetics in Coopworth sheep. <u>http://</u> www.deerrunsheepfarm.com/genetics.html

Statistica, 1999. Kernel release S.SA. Statsoft, Inc. Tulsa, USA.

Taberlet, P., Valentini, A., Rezaei, R., Naderi, S., Pompanon, F., Negrini, R., Ajomone-Marsani, P., 2008. Are cattle, sheep and goats endangered species? Mol. Ecol. 17, 275-284.

Thiruvenkandan, A.K., 2005. Determination of best-fitted regression model for estimation of body weight in Kanni Adu kids under farmer's management system. Livest . Rur. Dev. 17 (7). <u>http://www.lrrd.org/lrrd17/7/thir17085.htm</u>

Thompson, J.R., Freeman, A.E., 1983. Evaluation of a linear type appraisal system for Holstein cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 66, 325-331.

Thu, N.X., Lan Oanh, L.T., Nhi, H.H., 2002. Using RAPD technique for identifying and classifying some banana cultivars in Vietnam, INFOMUSA 11, (1), 48-49.

Thys, E., Hardouin, J., 1991. Prediction of sheep body weight in markets in the far north Cameroon. Livest. Rur. Dev. 3 (1) <u>http://www.lrrd.Org/lrrd3/1/hardu in.htm</u>

Tibbo M. Philipsson J., Ayalew W., 2006. Sustainable sheep breeding programmes in the Tropics: a Framework for Ethopia. The Deutscher Tropentag: Prosperity and Poverty in a Globalized World-Challenges in Agricultural Research, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany, October 11-13. <u>http://www.tropentag.de/2006-/abstract/posters/442.pdf</u>

Tisdell, C., 2003. Socioeconomic causes of loss of animal genetic diversity: analysis and assessment. Ecol. Econ. 45, 365-376.

Tomasco, I., Wlassiuk, G., Lessa, E.P., 2002. Evaluation of polymorphism in ten microsatellite loci in Uruguayan sheep flocks. Genet. Mol. Biol. 25, 37-41.

Traoré, A., Tamboura, H.H., Kaboré, A, Royo, L.J., Fernández, I., Álvarez. I., Sangaré, M., Bouchel, D., Poivey, J.P., Francois, D., Toguyeni, A., Sawadogo, L.,

Goyache, F., 2008. Multivariate characterisation of morphological traits in Burkina Faso sheep. Small Ruminant. Res. 80, 62-67.

Turner, H.N., 1977. Some aspects of sheep in the Tropica. FAO Anim. Prod. Health Paper, I, Rome, Italy, pp. 115-121.

Van der Waaij, I., 2001. Breeding for trypanotolerance in African cattle: Doctoral Thesis, Wageningen University, The Netherlands. pp 170.

Venter, H.A.W., Van Zyl, J.G.E., Tami Vasconcellos, O.A.D.R., 1984. Comparative testicular development in young beef bulls. In: Proc. 2nd World Congress, Sheep and Beef Cattle Breeding, Hofmeyr, J.H., Meyer, E.H.H., Edit's. Pretoria, South Africa, April, 16-19, pp. 399-408.

Verbeek, E., Kanis, E, Bett, R.C. and Kosgey, I.S., 2007. Socio-economic factors influencing small ruminant breeding in Kenya. Livest. Res. For Rur. Dev. 19 (6). <u>http://www.cipav.org.co/Irrd/Irrd19/6/verb19077.htm</u>

Welsh, J., McClelland, M., 1990. Fingerprinting genomes using PCR with arbitrary primers. Nucleic. Acid. Res.18, 7213-7218.

Windig, J.J., Meuleman, H., 2007. Selection for scrapie resistance and simultaneous restriction of inbreeding in the rare sheep breed "Mergellander." Prev. Vet. Med 78, 161-171.

Williams, J.G.K., Kubelik, A.R., Livak, K.J., Rafalski, J.A., Tingey, S.V., 1990. DNA polymorphisms amplified by arbitrary primers are useful as genetic markers. Nucleic Acid. Res 18, 6531-6535.

Williams, J.L., 2005. The use of marker assisted selection in animal breeding and biotechnology. Rev.Sci.Tech. Off. Epiz. 24(1), 379-391.

Wollny, C.B.A., Banda, J.W., Mlewah, T.F.T., Phoya, R.K.D., 2002. The lessons of livestock improvement failure: revising breeding strategies for indigenous Malawi sheep? In: Proc. Seventh World Congress on Genetics Applied to livestock production, vol.33, Montpellier, France. Aug. 19-23. pp. 345-348.

Yapi-Gnaoré, C.V., 2000. The open nucleus breeding programme of the Djallonké sheep in Côte D'Ivôire. In: Proc. Workshop: Developing Breeding Strategies for Lower Input Animal Production Environments, Galal, S., Boyazoglu, J., Hammond, K. Edit's., Bell, Italy, Sept. 22-15, pp. 283-292.

Yapi-Gnaoré, C.V., Dagnogo, B., Oya, B.A., 2001. Community-based livestock improvement and conservation: experiences from open nucleus breeding programme in west Africa. In: Proc. Workshop: Community-based management of animal genetic resources: A tool for rural and food security, Mbabane, Swaziland, May 07-11, pp. 89-96.

Zeuner, F.E., 1963. A history of domesticated animals. London: Hutchinson.

Zulu, D.N., 2008. Genetic characterization of Zambian native cattle breeds. M.Sc. Thesis, Virginia Polytechnic and State Institute and State University.

APPENDIX A

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

Poster Presentations

- Kunene, N.W., Bezuidenhout, C.C., Nsahlai, I.V., 2008. Use of random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers for detecting genetic similarity between and within Zulu (Nguni) sheep populations. Book of abstracts, pp 28. The10th World Conference on Animal Production, Cape Town, South Africa; 23-27 November, 2008.
- Kunene, N., Nesamvuni, AE, Fossey, A., 2004. Characterisation of Zulu Sheep. Theme: The Paradigm of Efficiency and Sustainability; Book of Abstracts, pp 200. SASAS- GSSA, Goudini; 28 June- 1 July, 2004.
- Kunene N., Nesamvuni A.E., Fossey A., 2004. Livestock Farming in some communal areas of Northern Kwazulu Natal. The Theme: The Paradigm of Efficiency and Sustainability; Book of Abstracts, pp 203. SASAS- GSSA, Goudini; 28 June- 1 July, 2004.
- Kunene N., Nesamvuni, A.E, Fossey, A., 2002. Phenotypic Characterisation of Zulu Sheep on Station. Book of Abstracts, pp 209. GSSA/SASAS Joint Congress, Christiana Aventura, South Africa; May 13-16, 2002.

Podium Presentations

 Kunene, N., Bezuidenhout, C.C., Nsahlai, I., 2007. Genetic variation among Zulu sheep populations using RAPD markers. Theme: Biotechnology in animal science, Bela Bela, Limpopo; 25 – 27 July, 2007. Kunene, N, Bezuidenhout, C.C., Nesamvuni, E. Nsahlai I., 2007 Research on Zulu sheep. Symposia by South African Society of Animal Science, University of Zululand. Department of Agriculture; 27 June, 2007.

APPENDIX B

PERMISSIONS FOR USE OF THE PUBLICATIONS

1. No Problem but reference appreciated TRP

Miss N.W Kunene wrote:

Dear Prof. Preston

The article below was published in the LRRD journal. It was part of the PHD work that I was doing. I now ask for permission to include it in the thesis document. The reference for the publication will be included as well.

Yours sincerely Nokuthula Kunene

Kunene, N., Fossey, A., 2006. A Survey on Livestock Production in Some Traditional Areas of Northern Kwazulu - Natal . Livestock Research for Rural Development (18) 06. <u>http://www.utafoundation.org/lrrd1808/cont1808.htm</u>

2. Dear Ms Kunene

You are herewith given permission to use the article in your thesis. Regards

Professor JBJ van Ryssen, PhD, Pr. Sc. Nat. (Anim. Sci.) Secretary / Editor-in-Chief South African Society for Animal Science PO Box 13884 Hatfield 0028 South Africa

Tel: (27 12) 420 5017 Fax: (27 12) 420 3290 E-mail: <u>secretary@sasas.co.za</u> <u>editor@sasas.co.za</u> <u>www.sasas.co.za</u> Miss N.W Kunene" <nkunene@pan.uzulu.ac.za> 8/31/2009 11:09 AM >>> Dear Prof. van Ryssen

The article below was published in SAJAS. It was part of the research work that I was doing for a PhD. I am asking for permission to include it in the thesis. The reference for publication will be included as well.

Yours sincerely Nokuthula Kunene

Kunene, N.W., Nesamvuni, E.A., Fossey, A. 2007. Characterisation of Zulu (Nguni) sheep using linear body measurements and some environmental factors affecting these measurements. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 37 (1) 11-20.

3. Thank you for placing your order through Copyright Clearance Center's Rightslink service. Elsevier has partnered with Rightslink to license its content online. Note: Payee for this order is Copyright Clearance Center.

Your order details and publisher terms and conditions (including any credit line requirements) are available by clicking the link below:

http://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?IID=2009100_1255093250221

Order Details Licensee: Nokuthula NW Kunene License Date: Oct 09, 2009 License Number: 2284780914221 Publication: Small Ruminant Research Title: Determination of prediction equations for estimating body weight of Zulu (Nguni) sheep Type Of Use: Thesis / Dissertation Total: 0.00 USD If you have any comments or questions, please contact Rightslink:

Copyright Clearance Center Rightslink Tel (toll free): +1-877-622-5543 Tel: +1-978-646-2777 E-mail: <u>mailto:customercare@copyright.com</u> Web: <u>http://www.copyright.com</u> 4. Thank you for placing your order through Copyright Clearance Center's Rightslink service. Elsevier has partnered with Rightslink to license its content online. Note: Payee for this order is Copyright Clearance Center.

Your order details and publisher terms and conditions (including any credit line requirements) are available by clicking the link below:

http://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?IID=2009100_1255332049554

Order Details Licensee: Nokuthula NW Kunene License Date: Oct 12, 2009 License Number: 2286360817554 Publication: Small Ruminant Research Title: Genetic and phenotypic diversity in Zulu sheep populations: Implications for exploitation and conservation Type Of Use: Thesis / Dissertation Total: 0.00 USD

Copyright Clearance Center Rightslink Tel (toll free): +1-877-622-5543 Tel: +1-978-646-2777 E-mail: <u>mailto:customercare@copyright.com</u> Web: <u>http://www.copyright.com</u>